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IMPORTANT INFORMATION
General
No person has been authorised to give any information or make any representations other than as
contained in this document and, if given or made, such information or representations must not be
relied on as having been authorised by the Company or Stifel or any of their respective afﬁliates,
ofﬁcers, directors, partners, employees or agents. Without prejudice to the Company’s obligations
under applicable laws and the AIM Rules, neither the delivery of this document nor any subscription
or purchase made under this document shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that
there has been no change in the affairs of the Company or the Group since the date of this
document or that the information contained herein is correct as at any time subsequent to its date.
Prospective investors in the Company must not treat the contents of this document or any
subsequent communications from the Company or Stifel or any of their respective afﬁliates, ofﬁcers,
directors, partners, employees or agents as advice relating to legal, taxation, accounting, regulatory,
investment or any other matters.
If you are in any doubt about the contents of this document or the action you should take, you
should immediately seek your own personal ﬁnancial advice from your stockbroker, bank manager,
solicitor, accountant or other independent adviser who is authorised under FSMA if you are in the
United Kingdom, or, if you are outside the United Kingdom, from another appropriately authorised
independent adviser.
The Company does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of any
information reported by the press or other media or any other person, nor the fairness or
appropriateness of any forecasts, views or opinions expressed by the press or other media or any
other person, regarding the Company or the Group. The Company makes no representation as to
the appropriateness, accuracy, completeness or reliability of any such information or publication.
As required by the AIM Rules for Companies, the Company will update the information provided in
this document, by means of a supplement to it, if a signiﬁcant new factor that may affect the
evaluation of the Group by prospective investors occurs prior to Admission or if it is noted that this
document contains any mistake or substantial inaccuracy. This document, and any supplement
thereto, will be made public in accordance with the AIM Rules for Companies.
This document is not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not
be considered as a recommendation, by the Company, the Directors, Stifel or any of their respective
representatives, that any recipient of this document should subscribe for or purchase any Unbound
Shares. Prior to making any decision as to whether to subscribe for or purchase any Unbound
Shares, prospective investors should read the entirety of this document and, in particular, the
section headed “Risk Factors”.
Investors should ensure that they read the whole of this document and not just rely on key
information or information summarised within it. In making an investment decision, prospective
investors must rely upon their own examination (or an examination by the prospective investor’s
FSMA-authorised or other appropriate advisers) of the Company and the terms of this document,
including the risks involved. Any decision to purchase Unbound Shares should be based solely on
this document and the prospective investor’s own (or such prospective investor’s FSMA-authorised
or other appropriate advisers') examination of the Company.
Stifel and its afﬁliates may have engaged in transactions with, and provided various investment
banking, ﬁnancial advisory or other services to, the Company or its afﬁliates, for which they would
have received customary fees. Stifel and its afﬁliates may provide such services to the Company
and any of its afﬁliates in the future.
Forward looking statements
Certain statements in this document are or may constitute forward looking statements, including
statements about current beliefs and expectations of the Directors. In particular, the words
“envisage”, “projects”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “may”, “should”, “plan”, “intend”, “will”,
“would”, “could”, “target”, “believe” and similar expressions (or in each case their negative and other
variations or comparable terminology) can be used to identify forward looking statements. Such
forward looking statements relate to matters that are not historical facts. They appear in a number
of places throughout this document and include statements regarding the Company’s expectations
2

of external conditions and events, current business strategy, plans and the other objectives of
management for future operations and estimates and projections of the Group’s ﬁnancial
performance. Though the Directors believe these expectations to be reasonable at the date of this
document, they may prove to be erroneous. Forward looking statements involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, achievements or
performance of the Group, or the industry in which the Group operates, to be materially different
from any future results, achievements or performance expressed or implied by such forward looking
statements. Prospective investors should read the risk factors set out in Part 2 (Risk Factors) of this
document.
Any forward looking statement in this document speaks only as of the date it is made. Save as
required by law or regulation or the AIM Rules, the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly
release the results of any revisions to any forward looking statements in this document that may
occur due to any change in the Company’s expectations or in order to reﬂect events or
circumstances after the date of this document.
Any forward looking statement in this document based on past or current trends or activities of the
Group should not be taken as a representation or assurance that such trends or activities will
continue in the future. No statement in this document is intended to be a proﬁt forecast or to imply
that the earnings of the Group for the current year or future years will match or exceed the
historical or published earnings of the Group.
Figures
Various ﬁgures and percentages in tables in this document, including ﬁnancial information, have
been rounded and accordingly may not total. As a result of this rounding, the totals of data
presented in this document may vary slightly from actual arithmetical totals of such data.
Non-IFRS measures
Certain ﬁnancial measures in this document do not have a standardised meaning as prescribed by
IFRS and are therefore considered non-IFRS measures. These measures may not be comparable to
similar measures presented by other issuers. The additional information should not be considered in
isolation or as a substitute for measures prepared in accordance with IFRS.
Market, industry and economic data
Unless the source is otherwise identiﬁed, the market, economic and industry data and statistics in
this document constitute the Directors’ estimates, using underlying data from independent third
parties.
The Company obtained market and economic data and certain industry statistics from internal
reports as well as from third party sources such as independent research commissioned by the
Company, third party market research and publicly available information, as described in the
footnotes to such information. The Company conﬁrms that all such information set out in this
document has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and has been able to
ascertain from information published by the third party, no facts have been omitted which would
render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. Where third party information has been
used in this document, the source of such information has been identiﬁed.
The Company does not make any representation or warranty as to the accuracy or completeness of
such information as set out in this document. Such third party information has not been audited or
independently veriﬁed. Stifel has not authorised the contents of, or any part of, this document and
accordingly no liability whatsoever is accepted by Stifel for the accuracy or completeness of any
market or industry data which is included in this document.
No incorporation of website information
The contents of the Company’s website, any website mentioned in this document or any website
directly or indirectly linked to these websites have not been veriﬁed and do not form part of this
document and prospective investors should not rely on such information.
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Interpretation
Certain terms used in this document, including capitalised terms and certain technical and other
items, are deﬁned in the section entitled “Deﬁnitions”.
References to the singular in this document shall include the plural and vice versa where the
context requires. Any references to time in this document are to Greenwich Mean Time (“GMT”)
times, unless otherwise stated.
Unless otherwise indicated, all references in this document to “Pounds Sterling”, “£”, “GBP”, “p” or
“pence” are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.
The Company prepares its ﬁnancial statements in Pounds Sterling. Unless otherwise indicated, the
ﬁnancial information contained in this document has been expressed in Pounds Sterling.
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EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS
Publication of this document

27 January 2022

Admission and commencement of dealings in the Unbound
Shares on AIM
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—————
Please note that the admission and commencement of dealings in the Unbound Shares on AIM in the above timetable is subject to
change in which case the Company will notify the Unbound Shareholders of such change by way of publication of a notice through a
regulatory information service provider to the London Stock Exchange. All references to times in this document are to London times
unless otherwise stated.
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PART 1
INFORMATION ON THE GROUP
1.

Introduction
Unbound Group plc (“Unbound”) will be the parent company for a group selling a range of
brands focused on the over 55 age demographic. Unbound will build on the solid foundation of
the Hotter Business, its current main business, to grow value through its curated multi-brand
retail platform supporting the active lifestyles of the over 55 age demographic with a range of
products and services. Unbound’s expanded offering beyond footwear is expected to feature a
broad range of active lifestyle products and services, with third-party complementary brands
featuring alongside new Unbound brands, as well as Hotter.
The Hotter Business provides footwear with uncompromising focus on comfort and ﬁt,
delivered through the use of differentiated technology, to consumers in the UK and
U.S. predominantly in the over 55 age demographic. Founded in 1959, originally as a slipper
manufacturer, Hotter Shoes (“Hotter”) today offers a wide range of men’s and women’s
footwear with a focus on comfort technology. The Hotter Business now operates as a digitallyled omni-channel proposition through online and wholesale channels, supported by a
strategically selected network of 17 technology centres and seven gardens centre concessions
across the UK.
Having undergone a signiﬁcant transformation which started before the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Hotter brand has pivoted towards digital channels whilst maintaining a right-sized and
proﬁtable store portfolio. The result is a digitally-led business which is agile, ﬂexible and
scalable; yielding strong returns from its leading online business.
Hotter’s mission is to provide footwear that enhances its consumers’ lives by allowing them to
do more of what they enjoy. Whilst operating from a lower revenue base in the ﬁnancial year
ended 29 January 2021, Hotter is now a digital ﬁrst brand with higher quality revenues as a
result of the successful strategic repositioning of the business following its strategic transition
to an e-commerce focused direct to consumer business. Hotter now serves over 29 per cent.
of the UK’s female population over the age of 55 direct to their home. In the ﬁrst six months
of its current ﬁnancial year to January 2022, Hotter’s direct to consumer sales have grown by
39 per cent. on the corresponding period in 2020.
Following the implementation of a technology infrastructure to support its developing ecommerce ambitions, Hotter has established digital partnerships with a number of online
retailers such as Next, John Lewis and The Very Group that serve a wide demographic −
including Hotter’s targeted consumers. Sales through these partnerships have grown by 28 per
cent. in the six months to 31 July 2021 compared with the same period in the prior year.
Hotter continues to demonstrate delivery as an e-commerce focused business and, with further
product improvements being introduced on an ongoing basis, the Directors have conﬁdence
that a standalone Hotter Business has the opportunity to deliver value well in excess of that
assigned to it in recent valuations. The demonstration of sustained growth and proﬁtability in
its new model and the resilience and performance to date give the Directors grounds for
conﬁdence in its development as an increasingly proﬁtable digital business serving its target
demographic of over 55-year-olds in the UK, the US and beyond.
Building on the strong brand, customer trust and loyalty enjoyed by Hotter, Unbound is building
a curated portfolio of partner brands to offer a selected range of third-party products and
services on the Unbound platform that will enhance the enjoyment and wellbeing of customers
in the over 55 age demographic. With the Hotter Business already selling to over 29 per cent.
of the UK female population over the age of 55, the Directors believe that this offers an
opportunity for signiﬁcant sustainable growth beyond that already being delivered by Hotter.
Unbound has identiﬁed initial target brand partners and commercial negotiations are in
progress with multiple parties. The extension of the Hotter I.T. infrastructure to facilitate
partnerships selling other products and services is in progress. The ﬁrst Unbound revenues
from sales of products other than Hotter footwear are expected in Q2 2022, with the mediumterm ambition being to generate more than half of Unbound’s proﬁt from non-Hotter products.
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The digital platform being built by Unbound allows the development of a low-risk, mutually
beneﬁcial arrangement with select partners that will provide customers in the targeted over 55
age demographic not only with relevant and lifestyle enhancing products and services but
ultimately also a community platform.
2.

History and background
Unbound Group plc was named Electra Private Equity PLC (“Electra”) until 21 January 2022.
The Company was incorporated almost 87 years ago as Cables Investment Trust Limited. It
was listed as an Investment Trust on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange in 1975
and renamed Electra Investment Trust PLC, before changing its name to Electra Private
Equity PLC in 2006. Since then, the Company has continued as a private equity focused
investment trust. Following a decision in 2018 to realise its portfolio of investments, the
Company has pursued a portfolio realisation strategy that has resulted in the Hotter Business
becoming the Company’s sole remaining principal investment. As announced on 21 May 2021,
the Company intends to transition from the Main Market to AIM as the parent company of the
Group, comprising of the Hotter Business and Unbound’s curated multi-brand retail platform
through which it plans to expand the products and services offered to its over 55 year old
target demographic beyond footwear. On Admission, the Company will cease to be an
investment trust.
Hotter has a long history as a British heritage brand, originating in 1959 as Beaconsﬁeld
footwear. Later rebranded, Hotter was launched in 1996 through direct marketing with a
catalogue targeting older consumers. Due to high demand and popularity, Hotter increased
investment in its production capabilities, purchasing its ﬁrst DESMA machine in 1998. The
business continued to grow which prompted the opening of the ﬁrst Hotter store in Southport,
Merseyside UK in 2002.
2006 saw a signiﬁcant £8 million investment in a new factory in the UK. The factory was
subsequently subject to a sale and leaseback agreement with the local council. The productive
efﬁciency and product quality of the factory was later improved in 2007 with the implantation of
robotic lines, increasing production capacity to 1.3 million units per annum.
From 2010 to 2016 Hotter was focused on achieving growth through retail expansion in the
UK. During this period its retail footprint increased from 10 to 109 stores.
Electra acquired the Hotter Group in 2014, shortly before Hotter received the Queen’s Award
for International Trade and was named UK Manufacturer of the Year. The initial Hotter strategy
at the time of acquisition by Electra was to seek growth primarily through an extensive store
roll-out programme. From 2017 challenging high street conditions led to a loss of focus on the
brand’s core demographic and the business suffered margin pressure across all channels as a
result of retail discounting.
Transformation
In 2019, Ian Watson was recruited to join the business as Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and set out
a transformation strategy for the company, focused on four key strategic pillars:
*

Alignment and refocus of brand and product – creation of a clear and aligned
product strategy focused on creating a differentiated product portfolio anchored in comfort
and refocusing the brand around a singular promise: “Customised comfort, limitless
possibilities”. This redeﬁned the Company’s specialism as experts in comfort footwear.

*

Drive to best cost – improving Hotter’s cost to serve through automation, supply chain
efﬁciency and retail stock reduction.

*

Optimal route to consumer – driving digitalisation through investment in technology
such as specialist 3D foot scanning equipment, development of the Hotter App, right
sizing of retail portfolio and expanding footprint online through expansion of digital
stockists, for example Next and The Very Group.

*

People, processes and systems − creation of a “lean culture” through internal training
programmes together with investment to upgrade the Company’s I.T. infrastructure to
support business development and customer needs.
9

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic and associated government enforced lockdowns accelerated
the restructuring of the store portfolio through a CVA taking the number of stores from 82 to
17 stores and seven garden centres. Hotter is now a digitally led, direct to consumer brand
with a right sized store portfolio, a product range with a sustainable competitive advantage
anchored in comfort and a ﬂexible supply chain.
3.

Information on Unbound
Unbound will build on the solid foundation of the Hotter Business to grow value through its
curated multi-brand retail platform supporting the active lifestyles of the over 55 age
demographic with a range of products and services. Unbound’s expanded offering beyond
footwear is expected to feature products and services to enable an active lifestyle, with thirdparty complementary brands featuring alongside new Unbound brands, as well as Hotter.
Whilst continuing to develop Hotter’s footwear offering for all consumers in its targeted age
demographic, Unbound intends to leverage the highly attractive customer database and
scalable digital infrastructure of Hotter to support sales on the new Unbound platform of its
own and third-party brands and products with related customer beneﬁts to the same target
over 55 demographic. This development of a curated platform will be through working with
similarly focused partners to provide a range of products and services that support the
wellbeing and active lifestyles of Hotter’s customer community. The expected revenue model is
to generate commission income on third-party sales of these partner products, which will utilise
the Unbound platform.
Following the strategic repositioning of the Hotter Business from predominantly in-store retail to
online in 2021, Hotter now sells its footwear products to over 29 per cent. of the UK over 55year-old female population through its direct to consumer channels. Building on the strong
brand, customer trust and loyalty enjoyed by Hotter, and with current digital revenues
exceeding over 75 per cent. of turnover, Unbound is building a curated portfolio of partner
brands to offer a selected range of products and services that will enhance the enjoyment and
wellbeing of customers in the over 55 age demographic. The Directors believe that this offers
an opportunity for signiﬁcant sustainable growth beyond that already being delivered by Hotter.
The Directors believe that cultural and demographic shifts provide an opportunity for Unbound
to address a customer audience that is materially underserved online with the characteristics
of:
*

rapidly increasing digital literacy – the over 55 age demographic is now generating over
30 per cent. of overall internet participation;

*

long-term structural growth in older demographics, signiﬁcantly in excess of growth in
younger demographics;

*

focus on health, wellbeing, leisure and recreation with a more acute need for comfort
over performance; and

*

high concentration of UK wealth in the targeted demographic results in focus for product
selection being on value rather than price.

The digital platform being built by Unbound allows the development of a low risk, mutually
beneﬁcial arrangement with select partners that will provide customers in the targeted over 55
age demographic, not only with relevant and lifestyle enhancing products and services, but
ultimately also a community platform.
Unbound has identiﬁed initial target brand partners and commercial negotiations are in
progress with multiple parties. The extension of the Hotter I.T. infrastructure to facilitate
partnerships selling other products and services is in progress.
The ﬁrst Unbound revenues from sales of products other than Hotter footwear are expected in
Q2 2022, with medium-term ambition to generate more than half of the Group’s proﬁt from
non-Hotter products.
The core categories of the Group are aimed at providing products with superior ﬁt and
enabling comfort. Within this, Unbound looks to expand from footwear into the apparel and
wellness segments. This includes products such as supplements, specialist footwear
categories and clothing.
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Adjacent categories are currently being explored, with the goal of partnerships to provide and
enable “more of what you love”. Choice of partner brand and product offering are being reﬁned
as a part of the proprietary “Unbound Insight” programme, which is underway. The Unbound
Insight programme is aimed at helping the business identify and build insight into the needs,
attitudes and behaviours of its over 55 year old audience.
When deciding on partnerships opportunities, Unbound aims to collaborate with companies
that:
*

currently provide relevant products to the target over 55 age demographic;

*

have a strong and aspirational brand name, boosting Unbound’s intangible positioning;

*

bring expertise and specialism that can add to Unbound’s own brand offering; and

*

have strong environmental credentials that amplify Unbound’s sustainability story.

The Directors believe that there is the potential to generate signiﬁcant value from the Unbound
platform through this partnership strategy. Unbound has collected data of purchase behaviour
and demographics which comes from the Groups’ distribution channels (retail, catalogue and
digital), ongoing feedback via a four million customer database and ongoing concept testing.
Data on lifestyle, behaviour and consumer sentiment comes from a mix of qualitative and
quantitative research combined with “Unbound Insight”, to obtain deep and sustained insight
into the over 55 age demographic delivered via regular engagement with an “always on”
community of target consumers.
Unbound’s goal is to generate over 50 per cent. of EBIT from non-Hotter products in the next
three to ﬁve years.
4.

Unbound’s vision, mission and core strategic principles
Vision
“To help people move better, feel better and do more of what they love”
Mission
“Develop technologies, products, experiences and partnerships rooted in digital excellence and
unrivalled insight – to give people in their 50s and beyond the comfort and conﬁdence to go
further”
Unbound’s ﬁve core strategic principles
*
Guided by insight – Insight excellence drives all that Unbound does.
Unbound builds its business out of unrivalled insight into the needs, attitudes and
behaviours of their over 55 year old audience. Unbound goes the extra mile to engage
with, listen to and respond to their audience’s changing needs and continuously track,
measure and improve based on its learnings – embedding insight into everything it does.
*

Superiority through specialism – Expertise and focus are how Unbound wins.
Unbound is focused and undistracted. Focused on the over 55 year old consumer.
Experts in comfort that help their consumers do more of what they love. Unbound
leverages its audience and comfort specialism to both strengthen its roots in footwear
and to expand into relevant adjacent catagories. Growing and leveraging its unique
database of engaged consumers is central to Unbound’s business strategy and how it
plans to achieve its goals.

*

Growth through connection – Unbound grows its business by curating, connecting and
engaging.
Unbound has unique access to, and understanding of, the over 55-year-old consumer.
Leveraging its combination of access and understanding, Unbound brings together a
highly curated group of brands with deep relevancy for its consumers. Unbound’s
connected commerce excellence enables our customers to shop when, where and how
they want.
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*

Working smarter – Unbound fuels success by driving productivity.
Unbound continuously assess and improve the ways in which it works – seeking to
maximise its efﬁciency and enhance its outputs. Unbound utilises ‘Lean Six Sigma’
management principles to minimise wastage and maximise customer experience. Lean
Six Sigma represents a methodology for overall organisational culture change. At its core,
it is a process improvement approach for eliminating inefﬁciencies and improving work
processes by identifying the defects’ root causes. Unbound does this everyday in all it
does – believing in the power of marginal gains to drive its business forward.

*

Stepping up – Unbound steps up, for our business, our planet and our community.
Unbound believes in taking responsibilty, at an individual and collectivel level, for the way
in which it operates as a business, for reducing its impact on the planet and for
contributing to the communities it is a part of.

5.

6.

Key strengths of Unbound
Unbound’s key strengths are its:
*

online, multi-brand retail platform based on the foundations of Hotter as a trusted brand,
with cloud-based digital infrastructure and strong customer personalisation through a
substantial customer database and related insight;

*

strong leadership team with specialist skills in digital innovation and business
transformation;

*

attractive ﬁnancial proﬁle focused on cash generation and proﬁtable growth;

*

ongoing and potential new partnerships being put in place to sell other products and
services to the over 55 age demographic, with a focus on active lifestyles, health and
wellbeing, allowing consumers to do more of what they love;

*

ability to leverage cultural and demographic shifts, which provide a robust and supportive
market backdrop for the development of an e-commerce proposition targeting the over 55
age demographic;

*

strong, existing base for future growth as a digital led, omni-channel proposition, already
serving 29 per cent. of the UK’s over 55-year-old female population; and

*

customer database of four million separately identiﬁable contacts and over one million
email addresses, representing a signiﬁcant opportunity for the Group to cross sell
additional products and services. Unbound intends to further increase its penetration
amongst the over 55 age category across both males and females.

Market drivers
Ageing population – leading to growth in the over 55 age demographic that is twice as
fast as the under 55 age group
An ageing population combined with increasing life expectancy will continue to increase
Unbound’s addressable market and the proportion of the population with acute comfort needs.
The over 55 age demographic is the fastest growing demographic of the UK population. Hotter
already has almost 30 per cent. of female over 55-year-old consumers on its database
representing a signiﬁcant opportunity for Unbound to cross-sell additional products and
services. Unbound intends to further increase its penetration amongst the over 55 age
category across both males and females.
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Increasing digital literacy and online penetration – rising participation rates for online
shopping in the over 55 age group, with further room to grow
Older generations have rapidly become more digitally active with the COVID-19 pandemic
likely to have accelerated this trend. Over 30 per cent. of internet users in the UK are over
55 years old, broadly in line with their proportion of the UK demographic. A further growth
opportunity continues to exist with 35 per cent. of over 65-year-olds and 21 per cent. of 55 to
64-year-olds yet to shop online. In addition to higher participation rates, purchase frequency
should increase as they become more comfortable with e-commerce.

Demographic trends − household wealth is overwhelmingly concentrated within older
demographics and this is starting to produce faster increases in discretionary spending
An ageing population combined with increasing life expectancy will continue to increase
Unbound’s addressable market and the proportion of population with acute comfort needs. The
older demographic is the fastest growing demographic of the UK population. The UK’s wealth
is concentrated in the over 55 age demographic with approximately 57 per cent. of household
wealth within this group against a population composition of just 38 per cent. Household
disposable income for the over 55 age demographic has increased threefold when compared
to the under 55 age demographic which has increased twofold.
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Increasing focus on health and wellbeing in the older demographic − health and wellness is
increasingly in focus for the target demographic alongside a wider trend towards
casualisation and comfort
Older generations are becoming more active, with the largest percentage increase in exercise
participation coming from the over 55 age segment. This is expected to be further boosted by
more active older generations who are increasingly likely to seek more comfort-oriented
products.

The over 55 age demographic is materially underserved online
The majority of e-commerce businesses are focused on younger demographics with a product
suite and marketing campaigns that are inappropriate for over 55-year-olds. When combined
with the retrenchment of department stores, this leads to a materially underserved
demographic resulting in an opportunity for Unbound to build a targeted business.
7.

Hotter business overview and strategy
Hotter is a digitally-led, omni-channel footwear brand with an uncompromising focus on comfort
and ﬁt delivered through the use of differentiated technology, to consumers in the UK, US and
Europe predominantly in the over 55 year old demographic.
Hotter has transformed its business over the past three years since the introduction of the new
management team and strategy, with Hotter now serving over 29 per cent. of the UK’s female
population over the age of 55 direct to their homes. This has had a signiﬁcant effect on the
distribution of sales by channel and the proﬁtability of the business with Group undertaking a
strategic repositioning in March 2019.
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Historically, Hotter’s business model was focused on a retail store-led approach. It experienced
a decline across all its channels as a result of a product portfolio that had lost focus with its
core consumers. Prior to the strategic repositioning in H1 2019, the Hotter Business had a
high ﬁxed cost base and whilst proﬁtable at an EBITDA level, was loss making overall with
negative operating cash ﬂow.
Following the strategic repositioning before and during the COVID-19 lockdowns, Hotter has
evolved into a direct to consumer-focused business with growth coming from its rapidly
developing e-commerce channel. All channels are now proﬁtable at the EBITDA level, the US
business is no longer signiﬁcantly loss-making and investment is focused on the UK business.
Fixed costs have been materially reduced resulting in positive operating cash ﬂow and strong
EBITDA cash conversion in H1 2022. Overall EBITDA margin in the six months to July 2021
was just under 13 per cent., with a gross margin of almost 62 per cent.
(a) Footwear market drivers
The UK women’s footwear segment is forecast to grow to £3.9 billion by 2024 from a value of
£3.1 billion in 2020, representing an annual growth rate of 5.9 per cent. This compares to a
pre-pandemic peak of £4.1 billion. The total addressable market of Hotter is far greater when
considering growth plans into the U.S. and other international markets.
Hotter has continued to have a keen focus on two aspects, as per the business’s value
proposition. Shoe ﬁt and comfort are emphasised to distinguish itself from other brands and
peers. 59 per cent. of UK consumers identiﬁed shoe ﬁt as a signiﬁcant purchase driver, while
81 per cent. considered comfort a key purchase driver.
(b) Brand proposition
The Hotter Group’s brand proposition is of key importance and underpins the cultural values of
Hotter, namely:
“We’re here to deliver the ultimate comfort, so people can do more of what they love.”
Hotter targets the over 55 age demographic and currently has strong traction within the female
footwear segment within this consumer group, providing a wide range of casual footwear. An
important facet of the brand proposition is to change the negative connotations associated with
“comfort”, reframing comfort as active, empowering and freeing. This reinforces the goal to
provide high-quality products and as a result, Hotter has emphasised its brand DNA –
“Customised comfort. Limitless possibilities”.
To deliver on the brand proposition, Hotter operates in a customer-ﬁrst approach:
Every foot matters – “great shoes cannot be made without obsessing about feet. Hotter
understands every size, shape and type of foot, so that it can create the perfect shoe for
each of them”.

*

*

Begin and end with comfort – “every design brief starts with the kind of comfort Hotter
aims to deliver. Every piece of consumer research focuses on how Hotter’s shoes feel in
action. All that Hotter does starts and ends with comfort”.

*

Expert Tech & Expert People – “from tech to its people, Hotter does all it can to
constantly expand its skills and deepen its knowledge. If there is anything that enhances
the comfort of a shoe, then Hotter makes sure it knows about it”.

(c) Product overview
Hotter sells on-trend, affordable footwear for its customer base, covering a wide range of
styles and categories with all of the product offerings designed and developed by the in-house
design team. The Company aims to increase the number of product drops to 10 per annum,
an evolution from the previous strategy of two drops per season (Autumn/Winter, Spring/
Summer).
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Hotter’s primary product categories are:
*
*
*
*

Active
Deck
Gore-Tex
Shoes

*
*
*
*

Boots
Formal Shoes
Sandals
Slippers

All of Hotter’s products are aligned to Hotter’s core product pillars:
*

precision ﬁt – 3D ﬁt technology, UK whole and half sizes with four width options (slim to
extra wide);

*

tailored comfort – Cushion+, stability+ and freesole; and

*

timeless style – Clear Hotter designs, iconic and timeless silhouettes, and visible and
meaningful comfort features.

Hotter has developed innovative technology within its products that offers differentiation from
competitors and enables it to charge a premium price:
*

Cushion + – Freesole, Cushion+ designs are crafted from a PU compound to return
some of the energy put in by every stride and invests it into the next. This offers
improved energy returns and an ultra-ﬂexible, super lightweight shoe.

*

Stability + - Hotter’s Stability+ designs beneﬁt from a balance bar and are ﬁtted with an
OrthoLite® insole, making the shoe both more secure and more breathable. Hotter also
includes adjustability points on every shoe, which means they are tailored to ﬁt the shape
of each individual customer’s foot.

The Group has implemented a clearly deﬁned and scalable product development process. A
fast-paced, multi-drop strategy is executed to anticipate consumer needs and changing fashion
trends. The continuous product refreshment results in lower working capital, higher gross
margins and reduces the Groups’ stock risk at the outset of a range launch.

Hotter’s development process follows a structured process:
1.
Discovery Gate – The start of a new launch with the review and challenge of product
development and brand objectives. This includes consumer research, a review of digital
and manufacturing strategy.
2.

Deﬁnition Gate (approx. four weeks) – Product and supplier strategy are reviewed
together with margin expectations and pricing strategy.

3.

Design Gate (approx. ﬁve weeks) – Consumer validation and testing, supplier sign off
and design review against the creative brief.
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4.

Development Gate (approx. 24 weeks) – Creative concepts are turned into products,
ﬁnancials are approved and backed by detailed trading plans factoring in feedback,
current trading and market conditions.

5.

Deployment Gate (approx. 16 weeks) – The planning of trading the range gains
traction with detailed production and quality planning commencing together with product
commercialisation and factory production.

6.

Delivery Gate (approx. three weeks) – The range is delivered ready to be sold in all
channels for full launch with a range available for soft launch.

Using this process, Hotter launches new season collections twice per annum, and within a
new season, the collection would be a mix of new products, and improved design and
continuity of existing products.
(d) Customers and marketing
The Group is looking to further target the 45-55 age range whilst also attracting more men. A
key strategy for Hotter is to increase the email database through both converting the existing
analogue customer base and through new customer acquisition. Hotter has established a
proven marketing strategy, underpinned by the use of technology, to enable customer
conversion, acquisition and retention in a cost-effective manner. A number of technology
solutions are employed to capture consumer data, both on the Hotter website and through its
17 technology centres and seven garden centre concessions through the “Footprint”
experience.
The Hotter App is increasingly used by customers due to its ease of use for a more engaging
experience. Hotter has developed innovative new features, such as an augmented reality show
try-on, to further drive users towards the app. The Group expects greater levels of app
downloads as the marketing strategy unfolds, beneﬁting the Group given a two times
conversion rate on the app when compared to the Hotter website. Overall, digital marketing
provides a cost-effective approach by sending tailored emails, updates to notify customers
about upcoming launches, and promotional activity to generate engagement and increase
customer retention and repeat purchases.
Hotter undertakes a full marketing strategy, including digital and direct marketing, “above the
line” (“ATL”) media and retail point-of-sale. From an ATL perspective, the media objective has
been to stimulate consideration growth, focused on the over 55 female audience.
(e) Store proposition
As part of the wider strategic e-commerce focus, accelerated by the onset of the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group decreased its retail store portfolio from 68 locations to 23 locations
through a CVA which commenced in July 2020 and completed in November 2020. Seventeen
of the remaining stores were repurposed into technology centres, enabling a personalised
digital marketing journey, through targeted product recommendations to the user while also
providing data acquisition opportunity to fuel ecommerce growth. Six of the retail locations are
garden centre concessions, offering discounted priced products for end of seasons or
imperfect items which cannot be sold in full price stores.
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(f) Manufacturing and operations
The head ofﬁce, manufacturing facility and distribution centre are all connected in
Skelmersdale, UK. The majority of the Hotter collection is manufactured through the UK site,
using shoe uppers sourced from India. The UK manufacturing plant creates shoe soles and
midsoles using direct injection processes, with DESMA machinery. The completed uppers are
sent to the UK factory by sea or air freight following a quality inspection, where they are lasted
onto the sole units. The products are then moulded, trimmed then packed to be sent to the
UK distribution centre. The UK manufacturing plant has the capacity to produce up to 63,000
pairs of shoes a week.
Through using foreign suppliers for shoe uppers, approximately 80 per cent. of the product
range is manufactured in the UK. The UK factory employs c.100 people tasked with ﬁnishing
and packing the goods. This manufacturing facility is a key aspect in ensuring dependability of
supply chain as the Group is not reliant on brought in ﬁnished goods, mitigating some supply
chain risks present. A limited number of ranges are purchased as ﬁnished goods and
transported, largely from Vietnam.
The Group management is currently in the process of exploring additional European suppliers
and also have placed a strategic focus on the manufacturing process to increase efﬁciency
and reduce wastages and labour time.
(g) In-house technology
Hotter’s operation is supported by its scalable HCL eCommerce platform (formerly IBM
Websphere Commerce), adapted in-house by its technology team to meet the needs of the
market. The platform is already a “headless e-commerce platform”, decoupling the back-end
and front-end process, ensuring Hotter are agile and ﬂexible in their response to business
change. The “headless” capability allows Hotter to test and experiment on the website at pace.
This links inventory, warehouse and orders to support key aspects of Hotter’s operational
activity, adapted speciﬁcally for Hotter’s processes. The system is managed by Will Rose,
Hotter’s Technology Director, and his team of eCommerce and IT professionals. The platform
is cloud-based and can scale to fulﬁl growing order volumes. The team is responsible for
continuous improvements of the platform which can be done on a modular basis, with discrete
changes and upgrades delivered quickly while minimising delivery risk of these enhancements.
Hotter’s data-driven business model provides the analysis of customer browsing and ordering
behaviour to support its marketing, product and customer service strategies and enables a
greater understanding of the customer. Data regarding individual customer browsing behaviour
is provided to the marketing team, informing Hotter’s go-to-market strategy and improving the
customer experience through more intelligent matching of products with speciﬁc search terms.
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(h) ESG Strategy
The Group is committed to achieving high standards throughout all its undertakings. The way
in which the Group works and operates in all aspects of its business is a key factor in
maintaining its reputation as a responsible business and maintaining the high standards the
Group represents. As such, the Group has established an ESG Committee. The main purpose
of the Committee is to represent the Board in deﬁning the Company’s strategy relating to ESG
matters and in reviewing the practices and initiatives of the Company relating to ESG matters
ensuring that they remain effective and up to date.
Key practices that the Group is currently implementing include:
Environmental
*
The Group has completed a review of all materials used in packaging with a view to
reducing excess waste.
*

Hotter Shoes will be changing its shoe box to a sustainable option for Spring/Summer
2022 rollout. The Group is targeting producers who will recycle returns packaging.

*

The Group is working across its entire material supply chain to introduce sustainable
alternatives, looking to introduce replacements from Spring/Summer 2022 onwards.

*

The majority of the Hotter Shoes footbeds use premium Ortholite foam which contains
5 per cent. recycled rubber and is machine washable designed to be long-lasting.

*

Hotter Shoes have introduced organic cotton canvas into its summer deck shoe ranges

Social
The Group maintains a focus on its fundamental principle of allowing its consumers to do
more of what they love.

*

*

The Group has a long-standing relationship with the charity Marie Curie.

*

The Group has a clear privacy policy in place, demonstrating its commitment to
safeguarding and protecting the data of its customers.

*

All of the Group’s suppliers must sign up to the Group Supplier Manual which includes
the Group’s Global Sourcing Principles which are aligned with the nine-point base code
of the Ethical Trade Initiative.

*

The Group’s Indian factories which supply the majority of Hotter products have mapped
and reported their supply chains to tier 3 level (and have therefore reviewed their supply
chains up to their suppliers of required materials, e.g. shoelaces).

*

As part of the Group’s commitment to best practice, all key staff members are provided
with regular training in supply chain management using the services of SGS, the world
leading testing, inspection and certiﬁcation company.

Governance
Unbound will fully adopt the provisions of the QCA Governance Code from Admission,
apart from as described in paragraph 17 of this Part 1 (Information on the Group).

*

*

In addition to the Audit and Risk Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee, the Group has also established a monthly ESG Committee, chaired by the
CEO, to monitor, control and report on key actions.

*

Hotter Shoes is a member of the Leather Working Group (“LWG”) and all of the Group’s
Indian suppliers are using tanneries which are gold rated and approved by the LWG.

*

The Group has locally-based staff in India under the direction of in-country managers
who visit all key factories on a weekly basis, conducting audits as required to ensure
compliance with the Group’s Global Sourcing Principles.
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(i)
Growth strategy
Hotter has identiﬁed eight key aspects of its short to medium-term growth plan, by focusing
on:
(i)

accelerating its digital growth through mobile commerce, digital platform expansion,
new payment methods and the provision of credit to stretch appeal;

(ii)

shifting its distribution channel further to digital direct by migrating customers online
through personalisation and targeting, while also acquiring customers through digital
marketing and loyalty programmes;

(iii)

continuously improving its products through the use of proprietary technology,
supported by increased order volume with new and retained customers, the
business’s average selling price (ASP) with reduced discounting and higher end
brand perception;

(iv)

implementing a multi-drop strategy, aiming to release 10 drops per annum. The
acceleration of seasonal product launched gives Hotter the ability to capitalise on
new and short-term trends in the space. Strong and tight inventory management
achieved through trial and online exclusives to signiﬁcantly reduce costs;

(v)

further supplementing the product offering through the development of its men’s
category to reﬂect the appropriate addressable market;

(vi)

expanding its range to include an occupational footwear offering, as well as
implementing designs to support further speciﬁc specialist footwear requirements;

(vii) growing the U.S./International presence by leveraging Hotter’s existing and proven
approach to mature and expand into new geographical markets; and
(viii) further expanding the range into the active lifestyle and sustainable product
segments as well as further customised comfort products which do not rely on PU
construction. The Directors believe that there are substantial growth opportunities in
these target markets.
8.

Intellectual property
The Company’s database of over four million consumers has strong growth trends driven by
investment in technology – notably in a “headless e-commerce platform”, 3D foot scanning and
mobile app development, which includes augmented reality features to enable the consumer to
try the product on virtually from home. The unique suite of technologies has been designed to
enable products with the perfect ﬁt and the perfect comfort type to be delivered to the
customer’s door – amplifying the differentiated “customised comfort” brand proposition.

9.

Summary of Historical Financial Information
Unbound Group plc was renamed from Electra Private Equity PLC on 21 January 2022.
Electra was a Main Market listed investment company with a private equity strategy. Following
Electra’s decision to dispose of its investee business, as announced on 21 May 2021, it has
sold or demerged a number of companies. Following the demerger of Hostmore plc on
1 November 2021, Electra’s only remaining trading subsidiary was Beaconsﬁeld Footwear
Limited, trading as Hotter. As part of the move from the Main Market to trading on AIM,
Electra has undergone certain internal reorganisations and will, going forward, account for its
business as a trading group, rather than an investment company.
In order to give investors relevant historic ﬁnancial information on the Group:
*

the historical ﬁnancial information of Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited (“Beaconsﬁeld”),
which historically has contained all of the trading activities and operational assets and
liabilities of the Hotter Group, has been provided in Section B of Part 3 (Accountants’
Report and Historical Financial Information of Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited) of this
document; and

*

the historical ﬁnancial information of Electra has been incorporated into this document by
reference as set out in Part 4 (Information Incorporated by Reference) of this document.
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The following summary of ﬁnancial information relating to the Beaconsﬁeld is being provided to
provide investors with further information on how the Group has performed, including on a
continuing basis, which excludes the revenue and gross proﬁts attributable to those retail
stores which were closed over the historic ﬁnancial period as a result of the strategic
repositioning.
The ﬁnancial information on Beaconsﬁeld’s activities for the 53 weeks ended 2 February 2020,
the 52 weeks ended 31 January 2021 and the 26 weeks ended 2 August 2021 which has
been extracted without material adjustment from either the ﬁnancial information on
Beaconsﬁeld set out in Part 3 (Accountants’ Report and Historical Financial Information of
Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited) of this document or internal management information. Where
applicable, this information is prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards.
The following summary of ﬁnancial information relating to the Beaconsﬁeld’s activities for the
52 weeks ended 31 January 2019 has been extracted without material adjustment from either
the ﬁnancial information of Beaconsﬁeld appended in the Appendix to this document or internal
management information. Where applicable, this information is prepared in accordance with
FRS 102.
Certain additional balance sheet information, which is unaudited, has been included to reﬂect
the principal assets contained within the Group, which are not reﬂected in the historic balance
of Beaconsﬁeld, as they are held in subsidiaries which sit above Beaconsﬁeld in the Group
structure or arise as a result of the corporate reorganisation undertaken as part of Admission.
In order to make a proper assessment of the ﬁnancial performance of Beaconsﬁeld’s business,
prospective investors should read this document as a whole and not rely solely on the key or
summarised information in this section.
Summary statement of comprehensive income
The table below sets out certain key line items from Beaconsﬁeld’s trading performance.
52 weeks
ended
31 January
2019
£’000
Audited
Revenue
Gross proﬁt
Loss from operations
Loss for the period
Adj. EBITDA(1)

53 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000
Audited

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000
Audited

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
Unaudited

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000
Audited

93,037
56,937
(32,853)
(32,531)

85,528
53,460
(6,961)
(8,337)

44,485
23,209
(10,455)
(8,995)

20,026
10,149
(18,483)
(15,101)

25,028
15,417
(1,837)
(1,414)

8,700

10,377

(1,136)

(3,495)

3,154

—————
Notes:
(1) *Proﬁt before tax adjusted for interest, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional expenses (for 2019, the ﬁgure shown is
EBITDAR as under IFRS the amortisation of the right of use assets is added back so adding back rent gives a more
comparable measure).
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Segmental information
The table below sets out certain segmental information on Beaconsﬁeld, including its
continuing operations which exclude the revenues and gross proﬁts attributable to those retail
stores which were closed over the historic ﬁnancial period as a result of the strategic
repositioning. The information in the table below has been extracted without material
adjustment from internal management information.

Segmental revenue
Direct-to-consumer UK (Online)
Direct-to-consumer UK (Ofﬂine)
Direct-to-consumer UK total
Retail (continuing)
Wholesale
Direct-to-consumer ROW
Total revenue (continuing)
Retail (closed)
Total revenue
Segmental gross proﬁt
Direct-to-consumer UK
Retail (continuing)
Wholesale
Direct-to-consumer ROW
Total gross proﬁt (continuing)
Retail (closed)
Total gross proﬁt

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2019
£’000

53 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

17,898
14,769
32,667
13,697
5,670
13,201
65,236
27,801
93,037

20,180
11,349
31,529
13,297
5,626
10,077
60,529
25,000
85,528

22,803
7,085
29,888
3,716
3,796
5,637
43,037
1,448
44,485

10,090
2,751
12,841
1,327
1,579
2,895
18,642
1,384
20,026

13,365
4,462
17,827
2,944
1,866
2,391
25,028
—
25,028

20,051
8,560
2,176
9,324
40,111
16,826
56,937

20,052
8,341
2,136
7,627
38,156
15,304
53,460

15,880
1,924
1,032
3,701
22,537
672
23,209

6,338
700
499
1,965
9,502
647
10,149

11,244
1,830
594
1,749
15,417
—
15,417

Beaconsﬁeld’s revenue decreased by £48.6 million between the year ended 31 January 2019
and the year ended 31 January 2021, representing a 52.2 per cent. decrease over the threeyear period. This decrease was driven primarily by the effect of COVID-19 and related
government enforced closure of retail as well as the CVA that Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited
undertook in July 2020. On a continuing basis (which excludes the impact of stores closed as
a result of the CVA), Beaconsﬁeld’s revenue decreased by £22.1 million over the same time
period. Beaconsﬁeld’s core direct-to-consumer UK (Online) channel (representing revenues
generated from its website sales) grew by £4.9 million, representing a 27.2 per cent. increase
over the three-year period. Beaconsﬁeld has been strategically focused on growing the directto-consumer UK (Online) channel through targeting investment in marketing spend and
monitoring its effectiveness. The direct-to-consumer UK (Ofﬂine) channel (representing
revenues generated from its mail order catalogue) has been impacted by a strategic focus to
move customers online as well as a signiﬁcant reduction in catalogue drops in the year ended
31 January 2021 due to cost saving measures through COVID-19. Wholesale revenue
(representing sales made to businesses such as national and independent retailers and direct
online retailers) was impacted by COVID-19 which resulted in reduced demand from retail
wholesale customers due to restrictions imposed on their premises. During the year to
2 February 2020, management changed its strategy with regards to direct-to-consumer ROW
(representing internationally generated revenues), reducing spend on U.S. customer acquisition
in particularly and focusing on proﬁtable customers. The impact of retail is discussed in more
detail below.
In the six months to 1 August 2021, revenue has increased in all of Beaconsﬁeld’s channels
except for the direct-to-consumer ROW given the reduction in customer acquisition marketing.
Despite the six months to 1 August 2021 being affected by COVID-19, this reﬂects a
normalising of the signiﬁcant impact from the prior year.
In the 12 months to 1 August 2021, revenue has increased to £49.5 million, driven
predominantly by an increase in direct-to-consumer UK revenue to £34.8 million and recovery
in retail to £5.3 million.
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Direct-to-consumer UK (Online) KPI table
The table below sets out certain KPIs which management utilise to manage Beaconsﬁeld’s UK
direct-to-consumer division. The information in the table below has been extracted without
material adjustment from internal management information.

Total online visits (‘000#)
Total order volume (‘000#)
Conversion rate (%)
Average order quantity
Gross average order value

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2019
£’000

53 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

12,254
403
3.3
1.4
64

13,285
456
3.4
1.4
66

14,532
583
4.0
1.4
57

6,729
275
4.1
1.5
54

8,486
311
3.7
1.4
66

The UK direct-to-consumer UK (Online) channel is being driven by increasing online visits,
reaching 14.5 million the 52 weeks to 31 January as well as the conversion rate increasing
from 3.3 per cent. to 4 per cent. between the 52 weeks ended 31 January 2019 and the 52
weeks ended 31 January 2021. Management attribute this increase to more efﬁcient direct
marketing and a better user experience on the website.
The gross average order value decreased during the 52 weeks ended January 2021 from the
prior year as a result of discounting through all channels during the COVID-19 pandemic to
clear excess stock, particularly in the retail network. In the 26 weeks to 1 August 2021, gross
average order value returned to pre pandemic levels.
Analysis of Retail
The table below sets out further information on Beaconsﬁeld’s retail store performance. The
information in the table below has been extracted without material adjustment from internal
management information.

Retail – continuing
Retail – closed
Retail – closed (outlets)
Total retail revenue
Retail – continuing
Retail – closed
Retail – closed (outlets)
Total retail gross proﬁt
Total number of stores

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2019
£’000

53 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

13,697
23,817
3,984
41,498
8,560
15,715
1,111
25,386
78

13,297
21,567
3,433
38,296
8,341
14,278
1,026
23,645
77

3,716
1,200
248
5,164
1,924
639
8
2,596
23

1,327
1,200
184
2,711
700
652
20
1,347
74

2,944
—
—
2,944
1,830
—
—
1,830
23

Retail revenue is split above between Hotter’s continuing stores and closed stores (containing
closed retail premises and outlets). Hotter decreased its portfolio of retail locations from 81
locations (comprising 67 full price retail stores, eight garden centre concessions and six
outlets) at 1 February 2018 to 23 locations (comprising 17 full price retail premises and six
garden centre concessions) by 1 August 2021. The majority of closures were incurred as part
of the CVA. Revenue attributable to closed retail locations was £27.8 million in the year to
31 January 2019 and is now zero.
Assets and liabilities on Admission
On Admission the assets and liabilities of the Group will reﬂect the trading balance sheet of
Beaconsﬁeld (trading as Hotter) and the assets and liabilities of Unbound Group plc.
On Admission the Beaconsﬁeld balance sheet will not be materially different from that reﬂected
in Section B of Part 3 (Accountants’ Report and Historical Financial Information of
Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited) of this document, other than for the novation of the Group’s
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term loan facility and revolving credit facility from Galaxy Bidco Limited to Beaconsﬁeld on
10 December 2021 and the extension of the repayment date under those facilities to
31 December 2024. Beaconsﬁeld’s gross bank debt was reduced to £12.5 million through an
investment of £5 million from the Company. Further details of the Group’s term loan facility and
revolving credit facility is set out in paragraph 14.4 of Part 5 (Additional Information).
Other than its 100 per cent. ownership of the Hotter Group, the assets and liabilities of the
Company on Admission will comprise of:
*

*

Non-core investments retained by the Company
○

2,071,437 ordinary shares in Hostmore plc were retained by the Company following
the demerger of Hostmore plc from the Company on 1 November 2021. It is the
intention of the Board to realise this investment. Hostmore plc is listed on the Main
Market and the carrying value of the Hostmore plc shares on Admission will be the
market value of those shares as at 30 January 2022;

○

A leasehold property investment generating approx. £300,000 per annum income
until 2032. The carrying value of this illiquid investment on Admission will be
£1.5 million; and

○

A small (less than 2 per cent.) equity investment in a private equity owned
U.S. healthcare business. This has been considered a highly illiquid investment and
has a carrying value of nil, however there is the possibility of this realising value in
the future should that business be sold.

Cash
○

*

Employee Share Trust
○

*

Cash balances (net of transaction costs) of approximately £1 million will be retained
on Admission

On Admission the Unbound Group plc Employee Share Ownership Trust will hold
approximately 600,000 ordinary shares in the Company. It is the intention of the
Board that these shares will be used to satisfy future employee incentive
arrangements.

Other assets and liabilities
○

Other net assets and liabilities (including accounting entries) are not expected to be
materially different from those disclosed in the 30 September 2021 second interim
report of Electra Private Equity PLC of a net accounting liability of £900,000. This
balance includes all leasehold liabilities in respect of ofﬁce premises.

In addition to the assets and liabilities referred to above, on Admission the Group’s
consolidated balance sheet is expected to reﬂect approximately £25.5 million of intangible
assets arising on the reorganisation of the Group at Admission based upon the closing share
price of the Company and Hostmore on 24 January 2022.
10. Current trading and prospects
Current Hotter trading has remained strong and extremely pleasing in light of the market wide
supply chain issues and other headwinds facing ecommerce businesses. For the half year
period ended 1 August 2021, the Hotter Business generated EBITDA before exceptional of
£3.2 million from revenue of £25 million. Over the prior 12-month period to October 2021, the
Hotter Business generated revenue of £50.6 million with gross margins and costs consistent
with those envisaged in the medium-term guidance given at the Unbound Group Capital
Markets Day on 15 September 2021.
In the third quarter of 2021 there has been a continuation of the key trends underlying the
Hotter Business, including direct to consumer driven revenue growth, gross margin expansion
and a rapidly accelerating capture of email addresses taking its e-commerce database to over
one million, up from 850,000 in September 2021. App downloads continue to accelerate and
there is a continuing recovery in sales within Hotter’s retail channel.
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The Hotter Business is also seeing a reduction in the supply chain disruption which occurred
at the start of the Autumn/Winter season in August and September 2021, however the Hotter
Business is continuing to plan for ongoing disruption given the widely publicised expectation of
continued disruption in calendar year 2022 as well as near term inﬂationary pressures. The
Hotter Business’s UK manufacturing facility has provided some resilience and the reopening of
supplier factories following COVID-19 lockdowns in India and Vietnam has allowed product
availability to improve in October 2021, with further progress being made in November 2021
albeit impacted again by cyclones in southern India. Product demand has remained high
during this period of disruption and the Hotter Business’s direct to consumer focused model
allows some level of back orders to be accumulated that are being satisﬁed as components
and ﬁnished goods become available.
The impact on costs arising from the supply chain disruption has been primarily in relation to
incoming freight costs to accelerate raw material delivery on the reopening of supplier
factories. Supply chain disruption has resulted in increased levels and costs of air freight.
These costs are reﬂected in the trading results over recent months, but also represents future
opportunities for cost reduction as the supply chain reset continues and supply via sea freight
is restored.
Hotter has continued to deliver strong growth during November and December, albeit trading
in retail softened in the latter half of December due to the impact of the Omicron variant.
Overall revenues were +9 per cent. compared with the previous year and gross margin
continuing to perform positively. This robust performance despite supply chain cost and
availability issues, coupled with the negative impact of Omicron suppressing high street
demand in the latter weeks of December is encouraging. Given the overall uncertainty,
management has taken some cost actions such as rephasing marketing plans, in order to
improve ﬂexibility.
Unbound’s medium term guidance

Unbound
Partnership
Model

Strategy

Framework

*

*

Commission based partnership
model for non-Hotter sales.

*

First revenues from H1 2022.

*

Proﬁt
generated
from
non-Hotter revenues targeted at
25 per cent. of group proﬁt in
three years and 50 per cent. in
ﬁve years.

*

Unbound partnerships will be
EBITDA and cash generative
from the outset but with
reinvestment in growth in short
term.

*

No investment required in
inventory in the short/medium
term.

*

Unbound
will
add
digital
partnerships to build on and
further develop the focused
consumer database already in
place through Hotter.
Developing on the digital
platform already in place for
Hotter, building in a scalable
manner.
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Hotter medium-term guidance
Continued growth within online and ofﬂine channels, with retail stores recovering to pre-COVID19 levels by the end of 2022. Improved gross margin and continued management of costs
driving improving EBITDA margin over the medium term.
UK Direct to Consumer

Online: Mid-teen percentage annual growth expected
Ofﬂine: Mid-single digit percentage annual growth expected

UK Retail

Recovers to FY20 levels by end of FY23 and then stable

US Direct to Consumer

Undergoing strategic review, short term maintained at current
levels

Hotter Digital Partnerships

Double digit percentage annual growth

Wholesale

Maintained at current levels

Gross Margin

Approximately 2 per cent. above pre COVID-19 levels from FY23
as COVID-19 disruption diminishes and positive impact of
differentiated product drives margin.

EBIT Margin

Levels to reach mid-teen per cent. over medium term

Cash Conversion

Operating cashﬂow (pre-exceptional items) in line with EBITDA

Capital Expenditure

Annual capital expenditure spend of c.£2.5 million. No material
one-off spends required in the medium term with plan spend
exceeding current depreciation levels

Working Capital

No structural change with stable conversion of EBITDA to cash

Net Debt / (Cash)

Targeted to be maintained below 2x maintainable EBITDA in short
term, in the medium term a net cash position without future
strategic spend

11. Regulatory Environment
While Hotter is not engaged in a highly regulated industry, its operations are subject to
regulation from authorities concerning, among other things, export and import quotas and other
customs regulations, consumer protection, data protection and privacy, the advertisement,
promotion and sale of products, taxation, product liability and safety, the health, safety and
working conditions of Hotter’s employees, environmental matters, anti-bribery and corruption
and sourcing and supply chain matters, as well as Hotter’s competitive and marketplace
conduct.
Hotter’s activities involving the use of customer data are subject to data protection and privacy
laws, including rules on electronic marketing, online advertising and proﬁling. The scope of
data protection and privacy laws has increased in recent years. For example, the GDPR (after
Brexit applied directly in the UK) signiﬁcantly changed the data protection landscape in the EU
and the UK, strengthening the rights of individuals, imposing stricter controls over the
processing of personal data, by both controllers and processors of personal data, and
imposing stricter sanctions with substantial administrative ﬁnes for breach of the requirements.
GDPR also offers individuals the option to allow privacy organisations to litigate on their behalf,
including collecting potential damages, which may result in an increase in the number of
claims brought. The GDPR introduced a mandatory obligation to notify regulators of a personal
data breach unless low risk and to notify individuals of any high risk compromise to their data.
Reports may result in investigations leading to potentially signiﬁcant sanctions and companies
must maintain notiﬁcation processes and associated response plans.
The products that Hotter sells are subject to UK consumer protection laws, which cover issues
such as pricing, product descriptions and promotional activity. Hotter must comply with the
Consumer Rights Act 2015 which consolidates rules dealing with the fairness and application
of contractual terms to consumers and clariﬁes consumer remedies. It is also subject to the
UK e-commerce and distance selling rules for online sales which require the provision of
prescribed information during the contracting process and give consumers a right to cancel.
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Hotter must comply with legislation controlling claims made in advertising, including the
Consumer Protection from Unfair Trading Regulations 2008. These prohibit unfair commercial
practices during the lifetime of a consumer to trader transaction, including in advertising, and
enable consumer claims for civil redress in respect of certain breaches, including rights to
refunds. Hotter’s advertising will need to comply with the self-regulatory rules in the UK Code
of Non-broadcast Advertising and Direct & Promotional Marketing (“CAP Code”), which is the
rule book for non-broadcast advertisements, sales promotions and direct marketing
communications, and the UK Code of Broadcast Advertising (“BCAP Code”) which is the rule
book for broadcast advertisements.
The CAP Code and the BCAP Code are administered by the Advertising Standards Authority
(“ASA”) who investigates and assesses complaints to decide if the CAP Code or BCAP Code
has been breached. If a ruling is upheld against an advertiser, the ASA can require the
amendment or withdrawal of the non-compliant advertisement while persistent breach of the
CAP Code or BCAP Code could lead to referral to other bodies for the further action, such as
Trading Standards or The Ofﬁce of Communications.
Brexit has affected a number of regulations that govern product safety. Primarily the United
Kingdom has adopted the existing EU regulations and directives into UK law although it has
replaced the EU conformity mark known as CE with its own version UKCA. All products that
currently carry the CE mark will be updated to the UKCA mark in line with the timings deﬁned
by the UK government.
Hotter is subject to various product safety laws. The General Product Safety Regulations 2005
(“GPSR”) provide a broad umbrella of regulation to ensure that consumer products, when
marketed, are safe. The regulations create a series of obligations on producers and
distributors to ensure that this goal is achieved and to reduce the risk to consumers from
unsafe products. The GPSR gives wide powers to Trading Standards departments and other
authorities to ensure that unsafe products do not remain on the market and, if need be, are
recalled. Hotter is also subject to the Consumer Protection Act 1987, which complements the
GPSR and can be used by consumers to recover losses caused by defective products.
12. Directors, Senior Management and Key Employees
The Board will consist of the two Proposed Directors and six Non-Executive Directors, of
whom four are classiﬁed as independent.
Proposed Directors
Ian Watson, aged 49, proposed Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
Ian has served as the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer of the Hotter Business since March 2019. His
previous appointments include serving as the chief executive ofﬁcer of Start-Rite Shoes,
European managing director at Britax Childcare and senior vice-president at Newell Brands.
Daniel Lampard, aged 41, proposed Chief Financial Ofﬁcer
Daniel joined the Hotter Business as Chief Financial Ofﬁcer in August 2021. His previous
appointments include serving as the chief ﬁnancial ofﬁcer of D2C Glanbia Performance
Nutrition, the ﬁnance director at AO World plc and working for the Manchester Airport Group
for 11 years.
Non-Executive Directors
Neil Johnson, aged 72, Chair and Non-Executive Director
Neil was appointed Chair of the Company on 12 May 2016. He is also currently non-executive
chairman of QinetiQ Group plc, Chair of Hostmore plc and deputy chair and senior
independent director of the Business Growth Fund. Neil was formerly chairman of Cybit Plc,
e2v, Synthomer Plc, Motability Operations Group PL, Tenon Group, Hornby, Umeco, Centaur
Media plc. He was also formerly the chief executive ofﬁcer of the RAC from 1994 to 2000.
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Paul Goodson aged 57, Senior Independent Director
Paul was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 26 May 2016. Paul was
executive chairman of Great Bear Distribution, a leading independent third-party logistics
business which provides a range of warehousing, distribution and added value services to blue
chip organisations. He stood down in February 2016 after having successfully sold the
business to Culina to create a £400 million group.
Prior to Great Bear Distribution, he spent 13 years with Barclays Private Equity, latterly serving
as managing director of the UK business. In this role, he had responsibility for the UK’s
investment team and shared responsibility for BPE Europe with the Heads of France and
Germany. Prior to this, he held a number of senior investment and general management roles
both with BPE and 3i after beginning his career with IBM as a sales representative.
He is a non-executive director of DX (Group) plc.
Gavin Manson, aged 55, Non-Executive Director
Gavin was appointed as Chief Financial Ofﬁcer of the Company on 8 August 2016 and as an
Executive Director on 23 March 2017. In 2018, Gavin became the Chief Financial and
Operating Ofﬁcer of the Company. On Admission, he will step back from his role as an
Executive Director and become a Non-Executive Director of the Company. Gavin is also NonExecutive Director of Hostmore plc. Gavin was the ﬁnance director of Thomas Cook Group’s
tour operator and hotels and resorts division between March 2013 and July 2016, before
which he was ﬁnance director at Premier Farnell Plc for ﬁve years. Gavin began his career
with KPMG and is a chartered accountant.
Baroness Kate Rock (nee Pope), aged 53, Independent Non-Executive Director
Baroness Kate Rock was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on
1 November 2021. Baroness Rock is senior independent director of Keller Group plc and a
member of the House of Lords where she sits on the Science and Technology Select
Committee. She brings signiﬁcant experience in the development and application of business
data, technology and skills.
Suzanne (Suki) Thompson (nee Bunker), aged 54, Independent Non-Executive Director
Suki Thompson was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 1 November
2021. Suki is founder/CEO of Let’s Reset, chair of Oystercatchers and a non-executive director
of Gateley (Holdings) Plc. She brings signiﬁcant experience in the development and
implementation of marketing and digital marketing strategies across consumer sectors.
Linda Wilding (previously known as Linda Poil), aged 62, Independent Non-Executive Director
Linda was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 1 December 2016.
Linda has extensive experience in the private equity investment and healthcare sectors. Having
qualiﬁed as a Chartered Accountant with Ernst & Young, she worked in the private equity
division of Mercury Asset Management from 1989 to 2001, rising to the position of managing
director. She has served as a non-executive director (including as chairman) on the boards of
a number of companies. She is currently a non-executive director of UDG Healthcare plc and
BMO Commercial Property Trust Limited. She was a non-executive director and latterly chair of
Corin plc from 2006 to 2012 and was a non-executive director of Touchstone Innovations plc
until 2017.
Senior Management and Key Employees
Victoria Betts, aged 42, Chief Commercial Ofﬁcer
*
Joined Hotter in 2016
*

Over 19 years of experience at key brands, including The Very Group

*

Previously Marketing and Trading Director at Missguided.
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Sarah Davies, aged 47, Chief Product Ofﬁcer
*
Will join the Group on 1 February 2022
*

Previously held the positions of Chief Product Ofﬁcer at Jones Bootmaker, Buying
Director at Arcadia and Head of Buying at M&S.

Paul Harnetty, aged 55, Operations Director
Joined Hotter in September 2020

*
*

34 years’ experience within key manufacturing business, including: Smith, Kline & French,
SmithKline Beecham, Princes Foods, Lyndale Foods and the Authentic Food Company.

Michael McGarr, aged 48, Supply Chain and Sourcing Director
*
Joined Hotter in January 2022
*

Previously held supply chain and sourcing roles at Tesco, F&F and Gap Inc.

Will Rose, aged 42, Technology Director
Joined Hotter in December 2020

*
*

Previously Group Programme Manager at DFS

*

Six years at software house Wunderman Thompson Commerce where he delivered largescale ecommerce re-platforms for the likes of DFS and Yoox Net-a-Porter Group.

13. Employees
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 490 employees of which 208 were employed in
managerial or production roles and 282 were employed in sales and distribution roles. Three
members of staff were employed outside the UK.
14. Insurance
The Group maintains insurance coverage which the Directors believe is appropriate for the
scope of the Group’s business. The Group maintains insurance (subject to legal and policy
limits, restrictions and exclusions) against product liability, business interruption and directors’
and ofﬁcers’ liability insurance.
15. Competition
Hotter competes against a variety of other brands and retailers, including major footwear
specialists, lower price high street departments stores and plus size specialists. Hotter are
positioned as an above average price brand offering a wider variety of casual comfort
specialist footwear than other retailers. The Directors believe that the closest competitors to
Hotter in the specialist, above average price and more wide-ﬁt variants are Vionic and
Cosyfeet. Within the general, wider market the Directors believe their competitors to be M&S
and Clarks.
16. Dividend Policy
In the short and medium term, the Group’s focus will be on achieving proﬁtable growth and
share price appreciation. No dividends are planned until such time as a revised dividend
policy is communicated.
The declaration of any payment by the Company of any future dividends on the Unbound
Shares and the amount of any such dividends will depend on the results of the Group’s
operations, its ﬁnancial condition, cash requirements, future prospects, proﬁts available for
distribution and any other factors considered by the Directors to be relevant at the time.
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17. Corporate Governance
As a company whose shares will be admitted to trading on AIM, Unbound will no longer be
obliged to meet the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, the Board
recognises the importance of sound corporate governance so it intends to comply with the
QCA Code to the extent appropriate and practicable for a company with its history, and taking
into account its nature and size.
Immediately following Admission, the Board will consist of eight Directors, six of whom are
non-executive. Of the non-executive Directors, neither the Chair, Neil Johnson, nor Gavin
Manson are considered independent, given their previous roles with the Company. The
remaining four non-executive Directors (being 50 per cent. of the Board) are all considered
independent, with Paul Goodson acting as the Senior Independent Director. For so long as the
Chair is not considered independent, the Board has agreed that, in the event of an equality of
board votes, the independent Directors will have the authority to appoint one of themselves as
the chair of the relevant meeting for the purposes of exercising any casting vote.
The Board is scheduled to meet on eight occasions each year and will be responsible for,
among other things, strategy, budget, performance, approval of major capital expenditure and
the framework of internal controls.
All AIM companies must provide details on their website of the recognised code that the
company has decided to apply, how it complies with that code and where it departs from this,
an explanation of the reasons for doing so. From Admission, the Group’s website at
https://unboundgroupplc.com/ will set out the extent of any noncompliance with the QCA Code
by the Group.
The members of each of the principal Board Committees are as follows:
Committee

Chair

Other Members

Audit and Risk

Linda Wilding

Paul Goodson
Baroness Kate Rock
Suki Thompson

Remuneration

Paul Goodson

Baroness Kate Rock
Suki Thompson
Linda Wilding

Nomination

Neil Johnson

Paul Goodson
Baroness Kate Rock
Suki Thompson
Linda Wilding

The Board will also establish a Disclosure Committee following Admission, which shall
comprise of all the Directors of the Company.
Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee will be chaired by Linda Wilding who is considered
independent, and its other members are Paul Goodson, Baroness Kate Rock and Suki
Thompson. All members of the Audit and Risk Committee have recent and relevant ﬁnancial
experience.
The Audit and Risk Committee will meet not less than three times a year, at appropriate
intervals in the ﬁnancial reporting and audit cycle and otherwise as required.
The Audit and Risk Committee assists the Board in discharging its responsibilities with regard
to ﬁnancial reporting, external and internal audits, the internal controls environment, including
reviewing and monitoring the integrity of the Group’s annual and interim ﬁnancial statements,
reviewing and monitoring the extent of the non-audit work undertaken by the external auditor,
overseeing the Group’s relationship with its external auditor, reviewing the effectiveness of the
external audit process and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control review
function. The ultimate responsibility for reviewing and approving the annual report and
accounts and the half yearly reports remains with the Board.
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The Audit and Risk Committee also advises the Board on the appointment of the external
auditor and on its remuneration for both audit and non-audit work, as well as discussing the
nature, scope and results of the audit with the external auditor.
The Audit and Risk Committee will take appropriate steps to ensure that the auditors are
independent of the Company and will obtain written conﬁrmation from the auditors that they
comply with guidelines on independence issued by the relevant accountancy and auditing
bodies.
The Audit and Risk Committee will continually assess and monitor the needs for an internal
audit function in the Company.
Appointments to the Audit and Risk Committee will be made by the Board.
The Audit and Risk Committee will give due consideration to laws and regulations, the
provisions of the QCA Corporate Governance Code and the requirements of the AIM Rules for
Companies.
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee will be chaired by Paul Goodson and its other members will be
Baroness Kate Rock, Suki Thompson and Linda Wilding. The Remuneration Committee will
meet at least twice annually.
The Remuneration Committee will assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities in relation
to remuneration, including making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy on
executive remuneration, setting the over-arching principles, parameters and governance
framework of the Group’s remuneration policy and determining the individual remuneration and
beneﬁts package of each of the Directors. The Remuneration Committee will also ensure
compliance with the QCA Corporate Governance Code in relation to remuneration wherever
possible.
Appointments to the Remuneration Committee will be made by the Board. Appointments to the
Remuneration Committee will be made for a period of up to three years, which may be
extended for further two periods of three years each, provided the Director, whose
appointment is being considered, still meets the criteria for membership.
Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is chaired by Neil Johnson and its other members are Paul
Goodson, Kate Rock, Suki Thompson and Linda Wilding. The committee will consider
appointments to the Board and is responsible for nominating candidates to ﬁll Board vacancies
and for making recommendations on Board composition.
The members of the Nomination Committee shall be appointed by the Board. The Committee
shall have at least three members, the majority of whom are independent Non-Executive
directors. The Board shall appoint the chair of the Committee who should be either the chair
of the Company or an independent Non-Executive Director. The chair of the Company shall
not chair the Committee when it is dealing with the matter of succession to the chair and will
not have a casting vote.
Disclosure Committee
The Disclosure Committee will manage the disclosure of insider and price sensitive information
and take reasonable steps to establish and maintain adequate procedures in that respect.
The Committee will comprise all of the Directors of the Company. The quorum necessary for
the transaction of business will be one Executive Director and one independent Non-Executive
director, save for exceptional circumstances, where business may be transacted by any two
Committee members, one of whom will be an independent Non-Executive Director where
possible. Members present at each meeting shall nominate one of their number to act as chair
of the meeting (and where possible, this will be an independent non-executive director).
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18. Share Dealing Code
The Company has adopted a share dealing code for the Board and certain applicable
employees (as deﬁned in the AIM Rules for Companies) of the Group for the purpose of
ensuring compliance by such persons with the provisions of Rule 21 of the AIM Rules for
Companies and UK MAR. The Company will take proper steps to ensure compliance by the
Board and the relevant employees with the terms of such code and the relevant provisions of
UK MAR.
19. Lock-up Agreement
Ian Watson entered into a lock-up arrangement on 9 December 2021 under which he limited
his ability to sell, or otherwise deal with, the Unbound Shares that have been issued to him
pursuant to the Hotter MIP Side Letter for: (a) with respect to 50 per cent. of those Unbound
Shares, a period of 365 days from the date of Admission without the consent of the Company
and Stifel; and (b) with respect to the remaining 50 per cent. of those Unbound Shares, for a
period of 180 days from the date of Admission without the consent of the Company and Stifel
(with such consent not to be unreasonably withheld). This lock-up arrangement applies subject
to a number of limited exceptions which include transfers to connected persons (as deﬁned
under the Act), transfers to personal representatives on the death of the holder and the
acceptance of a general takeover offer made in accordance with the City Code.
20. U.S. Selling Restrictions
The Unbound Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act,
or with any securities regulatory authority of any State or other jurisdiction of the United States
and, subject to certain exceptions, may not be offered or sold within the United States.
21. Admission, Settlement and Dealings
Application has been made to the London Stock Exchange for all of the Unbound Shares to
be admitted to trading on AIM. It is expected that Admission will become effective and that
dealings in the Unbound Shares will commence at 8.00 a.m. on 1 February 2022.
CREST is a paperless settlement procedure enabling securities to be evidenced otherwise
than by a certiﬁcate and transferred otherwise than by a written instrument. The Articles permit
the holding of Unbound Shares under the CREST system. The Unbound Shares are already
admitted to CREST. Accordingly, settlement of transactions in the Unbound Shares may take
place within the CREST system if any Unbound Shareholder so wishes.
CREST is a voluntary system and holders of Unbound Shares who wish to receive and retain
share certiﬁcates will be able to do so.
22. Taxation
General information relating to UK taxation with regard to Admission is set out in paragraph 13
of Part 5 (Additional Information) of this document. If you are in any doubt as to your tax
position, or if you are subject to tax in a jurisdiction other than that of the UK, you should
consult your own ﬁnancial adviser immediately.
23. Further Information
Your attention is drawn to the information contained in Part 2 (Risk Factors) to Part 5
(Additional Information) of this document which provide additional information on the Group. In
particular, prospective investors are advised to carefully consider Part 2 (Risk Factors) of this
document.
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PART 2
RISK FACTORS
An investment in Unbound Shares may be subject to a number of risks. Accordingly,
prospective investors should consider carefully all of the information set out in this
document and the risks attaching to such an investment, including in particular the risks
described below (which are not set out in any order of priority), before making any
investment decision in relation to Unbound Shares.
The information below does not purport to be an exhaustive list of relevant risks, since the
Company’s performance might be affected by other factors, including, in particular, changes
in market and/or economic conditions or in legal, regulatory or tax requirements.
Prospective investors should consider carefully whether an investment in Unbound Shares
is suitable for them in the light of information in this document and their individual
circumstances. An investment in Unbound Shares should only be made by those with the
necessary expertise to fully evaluate that investment. Prospective investors are advised to
consult an independent adviser authorised under FSMA.
If any of the following risks relating to the Group were to materialise, the Group’s business,
ﬁnancial condition and results of future operations could be materially and adversely
affected. In such cases, the market price of the Unbound Shares could decline and an
investor may lose part or all of his, her or its investment.
Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Directors, or which the
Directors currently deem immaterial, may also have an adverse effect upon the Company or
the Group. In addition to the usual risks associated with an investment in a company, the
Directors consider the following risk factors to be signiﬁcant to potential investors:
RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP AND THE MARKETS IN WHICH THE GROUP OPERATES
Customer retention and acquisition
The Group currently operates in a competitive online segment of the fashion market, being primarily
in the UK market. If the Group does not promote and sustain its brand and platforms through
marketing and other tools, it may fail to retain existing customers or acquire the new customers
required to maintain or increase the Group’s revenue. An important element of the Group’s
customer acquisition strategy is providing a high-quality user experience and establishing a
relationship of trust with its customers. If the Group’s customers are dissatisﬁed with the quality of
the products sold by the Group, or the customer service they receive and their overall customer
experience, customers may stop purchasing the Group’s products. The Group’s failure to provide its
customers with a high-quality service and/or products for any reason could substantially harm the
Group’s reputation and brand image, which could undermine new customer acquisition and
customer retention and have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of
operations and ﬁnancial condition.
A credible competitor could focus on the Group’s target market
The Group operates generally in an industry which is exceptionally competitive. However, the
Directors believe that no competitor competes directly with the Group in its target market; selling
affordable, quality women’s footwear to women over 55 years old. The Group’s closest competitors
are horizontal competitors present in the UK, being the main geographical market in which the
Group conducts its business. Such competitors include local, national and global retailers, online
retailers and local independent retailers. The Directors believe that whilst the Group has adopted a
strategy which differentiates it from its closest competitors, the Group’s business, results, operations
and ﬁnancial condition could be materially adversely affected by the actions of its closest
competitors or a new competitor entering the market (including their marketing strategies and
product development) if any such competitors decided to focus signiﬁcant resources on the Group’s
target market. In addition, the UK market is, on a comparative basis, a free, open and fair market.
This being the case, new domestic and foreign clothing retailers continually enter this market
resulting in increasing competition. Such competitors may operate from foreign jurisdictions that
inherently have lower variable and ﬁxed costs in comparison to the Group which may result in a
pricing advantage. This may affect how the Group currently benchmarks its products against its
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closest competitors. Therefore, competition from new entrants may lead to operating on less
favourable margins on certain items of merchandise. The inability of the Group to maintain its
competitiveness may have a material adverse effect upon the Group’s ﬁnancial condition, operations
and business prospects.
Economic conditions and other factors which affect disposable income in the United
Kingdom may impact the Group’s business adversely.
Adverse changes in global, regional or local economic conditions, including recession or slowing
growth, changes or uncertainty in ﬁscal, monetary, or trade policy, higher interest rates, tighter
credit, inﬂation, increases in unemployment and lower consumer conﬁdence and spending
periodically occur. Adverse changes in economic conditions, including as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic and the instability in the geopolitical environment in many parts of the world, can
signiﬁcantly harm demand for the Group’s products and make it more challenging to forecast its
operating results and make business decisions, including regarding prioritisation of investments in
the Group’s business. A slowdown in economic growth could have a wide range of adverse effects
on the Group, including:
*

a decrease in demand for the Group’s products;

*

an inability of the Group’s suppliers to deliver on their supply commitments;

*

an inability to supply the Group’s products to its customers;

*

the insolvency of key suppliers or the Group’s partners;

*

delays in reporting or payments from the Group’s customers or partners;

*

failures by counterparties; and/or

*

adverse effects on inventories.

Existing free trade laws and regulations provide certain beneﬁcial duties and tariffs for qualifying
imports and exports. Changes in laws or policies governing the terms of foreign trade, and in
particular increased trade restrictions, tariffs, or taxes on imports from countries where the Group
imports products or components, either directly or through the Group’s suppliers, could have an
adverse effect on the Group’s competitive position and ﬁnancial results.
Reliance on key management personnel
The Group’s business, development and prospects are dependent on the experience, performance
and continued service of its senior management team, including the Executive Directors. The loss of
the service of one or more of such key management personnel may have an adverse effect on the
Group. The Directors believe that the experience, technical know-how and commercial relationships
of the Group’s key management personnel help provide the Group with strategic focus and a
competitive advantage.
The Group’s ability to develop its business and achieve future growth and proﬁtability will depend in
large part on the efforts of these individuals and the Group’s ability, when required, to attract new
key management personnel of a similar calibre. The loss of the services of any key management
personnel, for any reason, or failure to attract and retain necessary additional personnel, could
adversely impact on the business, development, ﬁnancial condition, results of operations and
prospects of the Group. The Directors believe that the Group operates a progressive and
competitive remuneration policy which will play an important part in retaining and attracting key
management personnel.
Litigation risk
Whilst the Group has taken, and to continues to take, such precautions as it regards appropriate to
avoid or minimise the likelihood of any legal proceedings or claims, or any resulting ﬁnancial loss to
the Group, the Directors cannot preclude the possibility of litigation being brought against the Group.
There can be no assurance that claimants in any litigation proceedings will not be able to devote
substantially greater ﬁnancial resources to any litigation proceedings or that the Group will prevail in
any such litigation. Any litigation, whether or not determined in the Group’s favour or settled by the
Group, may be costly and may divert the efforts and attention of the Group’s management and
other personnel from normal business operations.
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Operational costs
Any change in the costs of operating the Group could impact on the Group’s proﬁtability. Such cost
increases could arise from increments in supplier costs (including, amongst other things, an
increase in the cost of raw materials, freight costs, general inﬂation and ﬂuctuations in exchange
rates) or increased costs to be incurred due to regulatory change. Although such costs are
accounted for, where these can be estimated, in future budgets for the Group, not all cost increases
are capable of being estimated adequately in advance. However, it is expected competitors would
be subject to similar commercial or regulatory cost increases.
The terms of the Facilities Agreement may limit the Group’s commercial and ﬁnancial ﬂexibility
The commercial and ﬁnancial ﬂexibility of the Group will be regulated by certain undertakings under
the terms of the Facilities Agreement. These undertakings include customary restrictions relating to
mergers and acquisitions, the granting of security over or disposal of assets, the incurrence of
ﬁnancial indebtedness, the granting of guarantees and indemnities, the extension of loans or credit
by members of the Group and derivative transactions. Although such undertakings have been
negotiated to allow the Group ﬂexibility to largely conduct its business in the ordinary course, any
inability to pursue commercial opportunities as a result of such undertakings may have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations, ﬁnancial condition, cash ﬂows and/or
prospects.
The reputation and integrity of the Hotter Shoes brand and the Group’s reputation are critical to
its business
The Group’s performance is closely linked to its image and reputation. This depends on many
factors, including the quality of its products, product design, the image and presentation of its app
and website, its communication activities, including social media, advertising, public relations and
marketing, and its general corporate and market proﬁle, which can be adversely affected for reasons
within and outside the Group’s control.
The Group’s brand value also depends on its ability to maintain a positive consumer perception of
its corporate integrity and culture. Negative claims, publicity or breach of advertising standards or
other related regulations involving the Group, its agents or its products, or the production methods
of any of its suppliers (for example, claims about factory working conditions), could seriously
damage the Group’s reputation and brand image, regardless of whether such claims or publicity are
accurate.
A substantial failure to maintain favourable brand recognition could have a material adverse effect
on the Group’s business, ﬁnancial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Changes in consumer preferences
The footwear market in which the Group competes is subject to changes in fashion trends and
consumer preferences and future sales may suffer if the online fashion industry does not continue to
grow or if consumer preferences, particularly in the Group’s targeted over 55 age demographic, shift
away from the Group’s products.
The Directors believe that the Group’s recent success is attributable, in part, to its shift to online,
direct-to-consumer sales, which represent a cost-effective way to both drive customer engagement
and sales, and to respond to changing preferences.
Consumer preferences, perceptions and spending habits may shift due to a variety of factors that
are difﬁcult to predict and over which the Group has no control. In addition, the Group’s success
depends, in large part, on its ability to anticipate and react to changing trends in its core over 55
age demographic in a timely manner. Any sustained failure to identify and respond to such trends
could materially adversely affect the Group’s business, results of operations and ﬁnancial condition
and may result in the write-down of excess inventory.
Performance of technology platforms
The success of the Group is largely dependent on its technical capabilities and it relies to a
signiﬁcant degree on the efﬁcient and uninterrupted operation of its website and app, and the
systems of its third-party suppliers, such as external hosting providers, including the internet.
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Customer access to the Group’s platforms and the ease with which a customer is able to navigate
through the platforms are factors which affect the attractiveness of the Group’s products.
Due to its dependency upon technology, the Group is exposed to a signiﬁcant risk in the event that
such technology or the Group’s systems experience any form of damage, interruption or failure. Any
material malfunctioning of the Group’s technology and systems, or those of key third-party suppliers,
even for a short period of time, could result in a lack of conﬁdence in the Group’s platforms, with a
consequential material adverse effect on the Group’s business, revenue, ﬁnancial condition,
proﬁtability, prospects and results of operations. The Group’s systems are vulnerable to damage or
interruption from events, including, but not limited to, natural disasters, telecommunication failures,
power loss, software failures, computer hacking activities, acts of sabotage and acts of war or
terrorism.
The Group may not be able to effectively manage its growth
To succeed in executing its business plan and expand its business, the Group will need to manage
its growth effectively as it makes long-term investments in research and development, IT,
technologies, support services and other capabilities including to support the Unbound partnership
model. The Group is likely to recognise the costs associated with these investments earlier than the
anticipated beneﬁts or the Company may need to reallocate internal resources to promote one
business over the other. Additionally, the return on any investments may be lower, or may develop
more slowly than expected. If the Group’s revenue does not increase to offset these additional
expenses, it may not achieve or maintain proﬁtability in future periods, or the Group’s business,
ﬁnancial condition, results of operations and prospects, including the ability to grow its business,
could be otherwise adversely affected.
If the Group is unable to manage its growth effectively, it may not be able to take advantage of
market opportunities or develop new products, and the Group may fail to satisfy customer product
or support requirements, maintain the quality of its products, execute its business plan or respond
to competitive pressures, any of which could materially adversely affect the Group’s brand and
reputation, and therefore its business, ﬁnancial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Although the Directors do not currently have plans to seek further material ﬁnancing, the Group
may, in the longer term, seek to raise ﬁnancing to fund future acquisitions, strategic growth
opportunities, and other investment in its business. Any funds raised through debt ﬁnancing would
result in increased interest expenses and could require the Group to agree to covenants that would
restrict its operations and its ability to incur additional debt or engage in other capital-raising
activities. The Company may also raise funds through the issue of additional equity, which could
result in existing shareholders being diluted. If the Directors cannot effectively manage the Group’s
expanding operations and costs, the Group may not be able to grow as quickly or as proﬁtably as
expected or at all, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, ﬁnancial
condition, results of operations and prospects.
Sourcing of products and supplies
As an ecommerce business, the Group is susceptible to disruptions to its supply chain which may
prolong the customary lead times for products reaching its customers. The Group sources its
products and supplies from a range of non-UK third-party suppliers, including suppliers to Hotter
based in India and Vietnam. The Group’s business depends on its ability to source high quality
products on commercially reasonable terms. Although the Group has long-term working relationships
with many of its third-party suppliers, they may cease selling products to the Group on terms
acceptable to them, fail to deliver sufﬁcient quantities of products in a timely manner, encounter
ﬁnancial difﬁculties, terminate their relationship with the Group and/or enter into agreements with the
Group’s competitors or experience raw material or labour shortages or increases in raw material or
labour costs.
The Group’s supply of products could also be materially adversely affected by a number of other
factors, including, amongst other things, potential economic and political instability in countries
where its suppliers are located, increases in shipping, air freight or other transportation costs,
manufacturing and transportation delays and interruptions, whether as a result of natural disasters,
climate change, industrial action in the supply chain or other factors, supplier compliance with
applicable laws, including labour and environmental laws. Any disruption to the availability or supply
of products to the Group or any deterioration to the terms on which products are supplied to the
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Group could materially adversely affect its business, ﬁnancial condition, results of operations and
prospects.
Cyber security
The Group relies on systems and websites that allow for the secure storage and transmission of
proprietary or conﬁdential information regarding its consumers, customers, suppliers, employees and
others, including credit card information and personal information.
There is a risk of whole or partial failure of this technology to protect transaction data or other
sensitive and conﬁdential information from being breached or compromised. In addition, ecommerce
websites are often attacked through compromised credentials, including those obtained through
phishing and credential stufﬁng. The Group’s security measures may not detect or prevent all
attempts to breach the Group’s systems, denial-of-service attacks, ransomware attacks, viruses,
malicious software, break-ins, phishing attacks, social engineering, security breaches or other
attacks and similar disruptions that may jeopardise the security of information stored in or
transmitted by the Group’s websites, networks and systems or that it or such third parties otherwise
maintain.
If any of these breaches of security should occur, the reputation of the Group could be damaged,
customers could develop the perception that the Group’s platforms are not secure, its business may
suffer, it could be required to expend signiﬁcant capital and other resources to alleviate problems
caused by such breaches, and it could be exposed to a risk of loss, litigation or regulatory action
and possible liability.
Data Protection
The Group holds personal data relating to its customers, employees and other stakeholders and is
subject to data protection and privacy regulations, including (i) the GDPR as incorporated into
domestic law pursuant to the Data Protection, Privacy and Electronic Communications (Amendments
etc) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019; and (ii) the Privacy and Electronic Communications (EC Directive)
Regulations 2003 (“PECR”). The GDPR, which came into force on 25 May 2018, contains stringent
operational requirements for the Group’s use of personal data, including expanded disclosures to
the Group’s customers in respect of how the Group may use their personal data, increased controls
on proﬁling customers and increased rights for customers to access, control and delete their
personal data. In addition, there are mandatory data breach notiﬁcation requirements and
signiﬁcantly increased penalties of the greater of £17.5 million or 4 per cent. of global turnover for
the preceding ﬁnancial year. PECR also imposes speciﬁc requirements and limitations applicable to
the use of cookies and similar technologies, and to direct electronic marketing activities.
The Group has policies and procedures in place in relation to data protection and to direct
marketing, but there can be no guarantees that even strict compliance with such policies and
procedures will completely eliminate all risk in this regard. Any perceived or actual failure by the
Group, including by its third-party service providers, to protect conﬁdential data or any material noncompliance with privacy or data protection or other consumer protection laws or regulations may
harm the Group’s reputation and credibility, adversely affect revenue, reduce its ability to attract and
retain customers and consumers, result in litigation or other actions being brought against the Group
and the imposition of signiﬁcant ﬁnes and, as a result, could have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s business, ﬁnancial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Laws, other obligations and customer expectations relating to privacy and data security may
limit the Group’s ability to use personal data, including in relation to direct marketing activities,
require us to expend signiﬁcant resources and harm its business, operating results, and
ﬁnancial condition
New or existing laws, rules of self-regulatory bodies that the Group may ﬁnd necessary or desirable
to join, industry standards, regulatory guidance, contractual obligations, and/or changes in its
customers’ expectations and demands regarding privacy and data security, may limit the Group’s
ability to collect, use, disclose, share, and leverage customer data and to derive economic value
from it, including in relation to its direct marketing activities. These restrictions may require the
Group to expend signiﬁcant resources and/or harm its business, operating results and ﬁnancial
condition.
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The COVID-19 pandemic and the measures that have been taken in response to it have adversely
affected, and could continue to adversely affect, the Group’s business.
The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in national and local governments around the world
implementing stringent measures to help control the spread of the virus, including travel bans and
restrictions, business closures and social distancing measures, such as quarantines and shelter-inplace orders, which have been subject to change, sometimes at short notice, since the start of the
pandemic.
These measures caused the Group to change its business practices in 2020 and 2021, including
those related to where its employees work, the distance between employees in its facilities,
limitations on in-person meetings between employees and with customers, suppliers, service
providers and stakeholders, as well as restrictions on business travel. These changes resulted in
manufacturing and operating inefﬁciencies, delays and additional costs in the Group’s product
development, sales, marketing and customer service efforts.
In addition, certain of the Group’s third-party suppliers have had to temporarily suspend operations
for short periods of time as a result of measures implemented by local governments in response to
the COVID-19 pandemic, while others have experienced challenges ramping up and re-establishing
production capacity following the relaxation of applicable government restrictions. These actions
have, in certain cases, adversely affected the Group’s production and delivery schedules and could
do so again in the future. The Group expects these supply chain challenges to continue through at
least the ﬁrst half of 2022 and potentially into the second half of 2022. If these shortages persist
beyond 2022, the Group may not be able to manufacture enough of its products to fully meet
demand and/or the Group may be required to further increase the prices for its products to
compensate for increased component prices.
Although transmission rates have shown signs of slowing at various points during the pandemic,
and the continued roll-out of vaccines and other therapeutic treatments are expected to lessen the
severity of the pandemic, there can be no assurance that this will be the case. The impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic continues to evolve, and its duration and ultimate disruption to the Group’s
business and its customers, the demand for its products, its and its partners’ ability to manufacture
products, its supply chain, its sales and distribution channels and its ability to execute its strategic
plans cannot be predicted. In addition, similar disruptions may result from a future pandemic,
epidemic or other outbreak of infectious disease, the effects of which are highly uncertain and
cannot be predicted, including, but not limited to, the duration and spread of a pandemic, its
severity, the effectiveness of vaccines and other actions to contain a virus or treat its impact, and
how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume, among
other things.
Even after the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided, the Group may continue to be adversely affected
by its global economic impact, including any increase in inﬂation that results. In addition, any related
disruption in credit markets could adversely affect the Group’s customers and its suppliers or, in the
longer term, impede its ability to invest in research and development and sales and marketing
initiatives, any of which could have a negative impact on the Group’s business. To the extent the
Group’s activities continue to be disrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic, its business, ﬁnancial
condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially adversely affected.
Relationships with the Group’s suppliers may break down and/or the Group may not be able to
contract with its suppliers on favourable terms and/or such supplier terms may be uncertain
The Group enjoys good relationships with a wide range of suppliers and is not overly reliant on any
one supplier and could source its products from elsewhere. Notwithstanding this, there is still
potential for the Group to be exposed to adverse operational and ﬁnancial constraints should there
be a deterioration with a number of its key suppliers. Termination costs and/or other costs
associated with renegotiating supplier contracts (e.g. legal costs) may have a material adverse effect
upon the Group’s ﬁnancial condition, operations and business prospects. Additionally, the Group
may be pressured into accepting terms and conditions less favourable than would otherwise be the
case if a deterioration with the Group’s existing suppliers had not occurred. A claim against or by
the Group under such contracts could have a material adverse effect upon the Group’s ﬁnancial
condition, operations and business prospects. In addition, the terms on which the Group has
contracted with some of its suppliers have been relatively informal and at times, unclear. Some of
these supplier contracts and/or relationships are unclear/uncertain either because through its course
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of dealings, the Group has simply been conducting business on the supplier’s standard terms and
conditions or where there was a written contract, the terms of that contract have now expired, and it
is not always clear on what basis the relationship is on-going or whether the relationship has, in
fact, been terminated. To the extent that the terms of these contracts are unclear they may not be
enforceable in all respects in accordance with the Group’s understanding of such terms. To mitigate
any risk of dispute with counterparties, the Group intends to seek to agree more detailed and
precise contractual terms as part of its renewal negotiations in the ordinary course, but there can
be no assurance that such negotiations will be successful.
The Group’s strategy to change its distribution model to one that is more reliant on the direct
distribution of its products may not be successful
As part of its strategy, the Group has begun to move from a retail store-based distribution model,
through which its products are sold via retail outlets, to a digitally led, omnichannel distribution
model which is primarily direct-to-consumer. If the Group’s strategy for addressing its customer
needs, or the products the Group develops do not meet those needs, or the changes the Group is
making in how it is organised and how the Group manufactures and delivers its products through its
distribution channels is ineffective, its business, ﬁnancial condition, results of operations and
prospects could be materially adversely affected.
Furthermore, the Group intends to further pursue its partnership model. Through these digital
partnerships, Hotter products will be sold on partner sites, allowing Hotter and third-party products
to be sold to a wider market, including international markets outside of the UK and USA. If the
products sold through these digital partnerships fall short of the quality standards currently upheld
by the Group, there may be an adverse effect on the reputation of the Hotter brand as well as on
any other Group products. Any partners that are not favourably received by consumers could also
damage the Group’s reputation and the Unbound and Hotter brands, which could in turn negatively
affect its results of operations. It would also be more difﬁcult to maintain and enhance the Group’s
brands with customers who purchase through its partners, particularly in regions where the Group
has less direct contact with end customers.
If the Group does not successfully protect, maintain and enhance its brand, its ability to attract new
customers and maintain its existing customer relationships could be adversely affected, which could
affect its business, ﬁnancial condition, results of operations and prospects.
The Group’s partnership proposition may not achieve the expected results and could have a
material adverse effect on its business, ﬁnancial condition, results of operations or prospects
There can be no guarantee that the Group will be able to maintain a cost-effective relationship with
its partners or that the partnerships will generate satisfactory returns. Furthermore, if the Group
chooses to develop any new businesses or enter into joint ventures and other strategic
partnerships, there can be no guarantee that any such endeavour will succeed. If the Group
launches but fails to generate satisfactory returns from any such initiative, it could have incurred
additional operating costs without generating sufﬁcient income, or have a material adverse effect on
the Group’s business, ﬁnancial condition, results of operations or prospects.
Third-party intermediaries ceasing to allow the Group to sell its products through them or vice
versa could materially adversely impact the Group’s business, ﬁnancial condition, results of
operations or prospects
As the Group plans to increase, through the Unbound partnership model, the number of third-party
intermediaries selling their products through the Unbound platform and the number of third-party
intermediaries selling the Company’s products, there is a risk that any such third-party
intermediaries could cease to allow the Group to sell their products through the Unbound platform
or the Company’s products through them, without cause and with little or no notice. Even if the
Group is able to replace such lost sales, it would take time before it is able to do so and that
would divert management from other activities. Any such risks could materially adversely impact the
Group’s business, ﬁnancial condition, results of operations or prospects.
Product liability and product recall may adversely affect the Group’s results of operations
The Group requires its manufactures and suppliers to satisfy certain standards regarding the quality
and speciﬁcation of its products. However, it is possible that one or more of its external suppliers’
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products may at some point cause or have the risk of causing injury or damage in a way that
exposes the Group to liability and/or requires it to undertake a product recall. In the event of a
product recall being required in circumstances where the ﬁnancial consequences are not satisﬁed
by one of the Group’s manufacturers or suppliers, it may have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s ﬁnancial performance as well as its reputation and brand. Even if an event causing a
product recall proved to be unfounded or if a product liability claim against the Group were
unsuccessful or not fully pursued, the negative publicity surrounding any assertion that the product
the Group sells caused injury or damage, or any product recall or allegation that the product it sells
are defective, could materially adversely affect its reputation with existing and potential new
customers and its corporate and brand image.
Damage to the Group’s manufacturing facility or disruption to its distribution networks
The Group manufactures and distributes its products from its factory and distribution centre in
Skelmersdale, Lancashire. The Group is dependent on the distribution of Hotter footwear and other
products to and from this distribution centre. A ﬁre or other damage, which affects the Group’s
ability to access the Skelmersdale site for any reason, or any other issue preventing the normal
running of the Group’s manufacturing facility and/or distribution centre or the operations of its
logistics partners could signiﬁcantly hinder the Group and may prevent or delay the manufacture
and/or distribution of the Group’s products to customers.
Dependent on the severity of the issue concerned and regardless of the proceeds of any insurance
policy which may be available, a material interruption to the Group’s ability to manufacture, receive
and distribute products to its customers could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, revenue, ﬁnancial condition, proﬁtability, results, prospects and/or future operations and
reputation.
RISKS RELATING TO THE UNBOUND SHARES
Consequences of a move to AIM
There can be no assurance that an active or liquid trading market for the Unbound Shares on AIM
will develop or, if developed, that it will be maintained following Admission. AIM is a market
designed primarily for emerging and smaller companies, to which a higher investment risk tends to
be attached than for larger companies and it may not provide the liquidity normally associated with
securities listed on the Ofﬁcial List and traded on the Main Market.
The Unbound Shares may, therefore, be more difﬁcult to sell compared to the shares of companies
listed on the Ofﬁcial List and traded on the Main Market and their market prices may be subject to
greater ﬂuctuations than might otherwise be the case.
Following Admission, the Company will be subject to the regulatory regime of the AIM Rules for
Companies. While for the most part the obligations of a company whose shares are traded on AIM
are similar to those of companies whose shares are listed on the Ofﬁcial List and traded on the
Main Market, it has to be noted that the protections afforded to investors in AIM companies are less
rigorous than those afforded to investors in companies whose shares are listed on the Ofﬁcial List,
including, but not limited to, the facts that (i) prior shareholder approval is only required for a
restricted number of transactions as opposed to the situation under the Listing Rules, (ii) certain
securities laws will no longer apply to the Company following Admission, such as the Listing
Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules (save that DTR Chapter 5 in respect of
signiﬁcant shareholder notiﬁcations will continue to apply to the Company), and (iii) there is no
speciﬁed requirement for a minimum number of shares in an AIM company to be held in public
hands, whereas a company listed on the Ofﬁcial List has to maintain a minimum of 10 per cent. of
its issued ordinary share capital in public hands.
Taxation
Any change in the Group’s tax status or in taxation legislation could affect the Group’s ability to
provide returns to Unbound Shareholders or alter post tax returns to Unbound Shareholders.
Statements in this document concerning the taxation of holders of Unbound Shares are based on
current UK tax law and practice, which is subject to change. The taxation of an investment in the
Group depends on the individual circumstances of investors.
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Volatility of Unbound Share price
The subsequent market price of the Unbound Shares may be subject to wide ﬂuctuations in
response to many factors, including those referred to in this Part 2 (Risk Factors), as well as stock
market ﬂuctuations and general economic conditions or changes in political sentiment that may
substantially affect the market price of the Unbound Shares irrespective of the Group’s actual
ﬁnancial, trading or operational performance. These factors could include the performance of the
Group, large purchases or sales of the Unbound Shares, legislative changes and market, economic,
political or regulatory conditions or shareholders needing to sell Unbound Shares because having
AIM securities no longer ﬁt the shareholders’ objective or fund mandates.
Liquidity of Unbound Shares
Admission to trading on AIM should not be taken as implying that a liquid market for the Unbound
Shares will either develop or be sustained following Admission. The liquidity of a securities market
is often a function of the volume of the underlying Unbound Shares that are publicly held by
unrelated parties. If a liquid trading market for Unbound Shares does not develop, the price of
Unbound Shares may become more volatile and it may be more difﬁcult to complete a buy or sell
order for Unbound Shares.
Additional capital and dilution
If the Group fails to generate sufﬁcient revenue, then it may need to raise additional capital in the
future, whether from equity or debt sources, to fund expansion and development. If the Group is
unable to obtain this ﬁnancing on terms acceptable to it, then it may be forced to curtail its planned
strategic development. If additional funds are raised through the issue of new equity or equity-linked
securities of the Group other than on the basis of a pro rata offer to existing Unbound
Shareholders, the percentage ownership of such Unbound Shareholders may be substantially
diluted. There is no guarantee that market conditions prevailing at the relevant time will allow for
such a fundraising or that new investors will be prepared to subscribe for Unbound Shares at a
price which reﬂects the market value of the Unbound Shares.
Dividends
Future dividends will depend upon, among other things, the Group’s dividend policy, earnings,
ﬁnancial position, cash requirements and availability of distributable proﬁts, as well as the provisions
of relevant laws and/or generally accepted accounting principles from time to time. There can
therefore be no assurance that the Company will pay dividends or if it does pay dividends,
regarding the amount of such dividends.
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PART 3
ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT AND HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
BEACONSFIELD FOOTWEAR LIMITED
Section A: Accountant’s Report on the Historical Financial Information on Beaconsﬁeld Footwear
Limited

RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP
25 Farringdon Street
London
EC4A 4AB
United Kingdom
T +44 (0)20 3201 8000
rsmuk.com
The Directors
Unbound Group plc
17 Old Park Lane
London
W1K 1QT
27 January 2022
Dear Sirs,
Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited (“Beaconsﬁeld”)
We report on the historical ﬁnancial information of Beaconsﬁeld set out in Section B of Part 3 of the
admission document dated 27 January 2022 (the “Admission Document”) of Unbound Group plc
(the “Company”).
Opinion
In our opinion, the historical ﬁnancial information gives, for the purposes of the Admission
Document, a true and fair view of the state of affairs of Beaconsﬁeld as at 2 February 2020,
31 January 2021 and 1 August 2021 and of its results, cash ﬂows and changes in equity for the
53 weeks ended 2 February 2020, the 52 weeks ended 31 January 2021 and the 26 weeks ended
1 August 2021, in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards.
We have not audited the historical ﬁnancial information for the 26 weeks ended 2 August 2020 and
accordingly do not express an opinion thereon.
Responsibilities
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for preparing the historical ﬁnancial
information in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards.
It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the historical ﬁnancial information and to report our
opinion to you.
Save for any responsibility arising under Item 18.3.1 of Annex 1 of the UK version of Commission
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 (the “Prospectus Delegated Regulation”) as applied by part
(a) of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies to any person as and to the extent there
provided, to the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility and will
not accept any liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such other person as a
result of, arising out of, or in connection with this report or our statement, required by and given
solely for the purposes of complying with Item 18.3.1 of Annex 1 of the Prospectus Delegated
Regulation as applied by part (a) of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies, or consenting
to its inclusion in the Admission Document.
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Basis of preparation
This historical ﬁnancial information has been prepared for inclusion in the Admission Document on
the basis of the accounting policies set out at note 2 to the historical ﬁnancial information. This
report is required by Item 18.3.1 of Annex 1 of the Prospectus Delegated Regulation as applied by
part (a) of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies and is given for the purpose of
complying with that item and for no other purpose.
Basis of opinion
We conducted our work in accordance with Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the
Financial Reporting Council in the United Kingdom. We are independent in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard as applied to Investment Circular Reporting
Engagements, and we have fulﬁlled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements.
Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
historical ﬁnancial information. It also included an assessment of signiﬁcant estimates and
judgments made by those responsible for the preparation of the historical ﬁnancial information and
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the entity’s circumstances, consistently applied
and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufﬁcient evidence to give reasonable assurance
that the historical ﬁnancial information is free from material misstatement whether caused by fraud
or other irregularity or error.
Our work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and practices
generally accepted in any jurisdictions other than the United Kingdom and accordingly should not
be relied upon as if it had been carried out in accordance with those other standards and practices.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have not identiﬁed a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that, individually or
collectively, may cast signiﬁcant doubt on the ability of Beaconsﬁeld to continue as a going concern
for a period of at least twelve months from the date of the Admission Document. We conclude that
the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the historical
ﬁnancial information is appropriate.
Declaration
For the purposes of part (a) of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies we are responsible
for this report as part of the Admission Document and declare that, to the best of our knowledge,
the information contained in this report is in accordance with the facts and that the report makes no
omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Admission Document in
compliance with Item 1.2 of Annex 1 and Item 1.2 of Annex 11 of the Prospectus Delegated
Regulation as applied by part (a) of Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Companies.
Yours faithfully

RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP
Regulated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
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Section B: Historical Financial Information of Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited
Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited
Statement of comprehensive income
For the 53 weeks ended 2 February 2020, 52 weeks ended 31 January 2021, 26 weeks ended
2 August 2020 and 26 weeks ended 1 August 2021

Note
Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross proﬁt
Other income
Administrative expenses
Exceptional expenses
Distribution expenses

4

5
7

53 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

85,528
(32,068)

44,485
(21,276)

20,026
(9,877)

25,028
(9,611)

53,460
—
(48,055)
(9,165)
(3,201)

23,209
5,770
(34,019)
(3,103)
(2,312)

10,149
2,764
(19,752)
(10,666)
(978)

15,417
804
(13,796)
(3,160)
(1,102)

Loss from operations
Finance expense

10
11

(6,961)
(1,719)

(10,455)
(1,132)

(18,483)
(766)

(1,837)
(284)

Loss before taxation
Taxation

12

(8,680)
343

(11,587)
2,592

(19,249)
4,148

(2,121)
707

(8,337)

(8,995)

(15,101)

(1,414)

Loss for the period
Other comprehensive
income
Total other comprehensive
income
Total comprehensive
loss for the period
attributable to equity
holders of the Company

—

(8,337)
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—

(8,995)

—

(15,101)

—

(1,414)

Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited
Statement of ﬁnancial position

Note

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

13
14
15
16

11,169
3,569
205
8,590

5,972
2,494
101
4,321

4,582
1,943
46
3,425

23,533

12,888

9,996

4,415
3,068
22,971
1,445

3,215
4,133
8,352
3,456

2,749
3,968
7,640
4,163

Total non-current assets

31,899

19,156

18,520

Total assets

55,432

32,044

28,516

10,849
5,302
17,778

10,870
1,310
19,778

9,366
1,312
19,778

33,929

31,958

30,456

18,941
2,083

7,628
974

7,015
975

Total non-current liabilities

21,024

8,602

7,990

Total liabilities

54,953

40,560

38,446

479

(8,516)

(9,930)

42
437

42
(8,558)

42
(9,972)

479

(8,516)

(9,930)

Assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Current tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Right-of-use assets
Deferred tax assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Borrowings

17
18
21
19

20
21
22

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Provisions

21
23

NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)
Issued capital and reserves attributable
to equity holders of the Company
Share capital
Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)

24

TOTAL EQUITY
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Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited
Statement of changes in equity
Share
capital
£’000

Retained
earnings
£’000

Total
equity
£’000

Balance at 28 January 2019
Comprehensive Income
Loss for the year

42

8,773

8,815

—

(8,337)

(8,337)

Balance at 2 February 2020

42

436

478

Balance at 3 February 2020
Comprehensive Income
Loss for the year

42

436

478

—

(8,995)

(8,995)

Balance at 31 January 2021

42

(8,559)

(8,517)

Balance at 1 February 2021
Comprehensive Income
Loss for the period

42

(8,559)

(8,517)

—

(1,414)

(1,414)

Balance at 1 August 2021

42

(9,973)

(9,931)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
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Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited
Statement of cash ﬂows
52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

Note

Cash ﬂows from operating activities
Loss before taxation
Adjustments:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of right-of-use assets
Loss/(proﬁt) on disposal of property, plant and
equipment and motor vehicle right of use assets
Loss on disposal of intangible assets
Impairment of right-of-use assets
Loss on derecognition of right-of-use assets
Gain on extinguishment of lease liabilities
Movement in lease liability dilapidations and
other provisions
Impairment of intercompany loan receivable
Finance expense

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

(8,680)

(11,587)

(19,249)

17
18
21

1,735
991
5,488

1,586
766
3,864

946
576
2,799

558
549
724

17
18
7

147
6,053
511
19
(25)

(7)
—
—
9,852
(11,052)

—
—
9,460
694
(730)

(11)
—
—
—
(2)

12

(114)
1,483
1,719

(1,109)
2,176
1,132

—
562
766

13

9,327
1,356

(4,379)
5,197

(4,176)
4,962

2,506
1,389

14
20

(49)
(1,634)

1,075
20

(544)
1,522

552
(1,504)

Cash generated by operations
Corporation tax refunded

9,000
—

1,912
685

1,764
685

2,943
55

Net generated by operating activities

9,000

2,597

2,449

2,998

(1,776)
(4,330)

(820)
(1,831)

(653)
(1,238)

Decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other
receivables
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables

Cash ﬂows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

21
23

17
18

—

Net cash used in investing activities

441

—

(2,121)

1
2,524
284

(92)
(384)
19

(6,106)

(2,210)

(1,891)

(457)

(4,812)
(1,707)
2,018
—
(12)

(3,348)
(1,116)
—
(176)
(16)

(2,599)
(751)
—
(531)
(15)

(629)
(276)
—
(2,524)
(8)

Net cash used in ﬁnancing activities

(4,513)

(4,656)

(3,896)

(3,437)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
period

(1,619)

(4,269)

(3,338)

(896)

16

10,209

8,590

8,590

4,321

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

16

8,590

4,321

5,252

3,425

Cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing activities
Principal paid on lease liabilities
Interest paid on lease liabilities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Other interest paid

21
21

12
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Notes to the Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited historical ﬁnancial information
1
General Information
Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited (“Beaconsﬁeld”) is a private company limited by shares with
company number 00641365. Beaconsﬁeld was incorporated and is domiciled in the UK and its
registered ofﬁce is 2 Peel Road, Skelmersdale, Lancashire, WN8 9PT. The principal activity of
Beaconsﬁeld is the manufacture and sale of footwear.
2
Accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation
The historical ﬁnancial information provided for Beaconsﬁeld is in respect of the 53 weeks
ended 2 February 2020, 52 weeks ended 31 January 2021, 26 weeks ended 2 August 2020
(unaudited) and 26 weeks ended 1 August 2021 and is prepared for the purposes of the
admission of the Company, the ultimate controlling party of Beaconsﬁeld, to AIM, a market
operated by the London Stock Exchange.
This historical ﬁnancial information, which does not constitute statutory accounts within the
meaning of the Act, has been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International
Accounting Standards. This historical ﬁnancial information is the responsibility of the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”).
The historical ﬁnancial information is prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical
cost convention, except for certain ﬁnancial assets and liabilities, which are revalued and
measured at fair value through proﬁt or loss. The historical ﬁnancial information is presented in
pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (£’000), except when
otherwise indicated.
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the historical ﬁnancial
information are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods
presented, unless otherwise stated.
In the 53 weeks ended 2 February 2020, the Directors of Beaconsﬁeld undertook a Company
CVA as a direct result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the consequent downturn in sales
which primarily affected the retail business. Further details on the CVA can be found in note 7.
2.2 First time adoption of IFRS
For all periods up to and including the 52 weeks ended 31 January 2021, Beaconsﬁeld
prepared its statutory ﬁnancial statements in accordance with FRS 102. The statutory ﬁnancial
statements for the 52 weeks ended 2 January 2020 under FRS 102 are included in the
Appendix of this document and a reconciliation of these FRS 102 ﬁnancial statements to IFRS
is included in note 32. The impact of adoption of IFRS is disclosed below.
IFRS 9 Financial instruments
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ replaced IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’. It makes major changes to the previous guidance on the classiﬁcation and
measurement of ﬁnancial assets and introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ model for the
impairment of ﬁnancial assets. Given there have been no changes in the classiﬁcation or
measurement of ﬁnancial assets and liabilities a detailed table has not been provided.
(i)

Recognition, classiﬁcation, and measurement of ﬁnancial instruments
Beaconsﬁeld has assessed which business models apply to the ﬁnancial instruments at the
date of initial application and has designated the ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities into
the appropriate IFRS 9 measurement categories based on the facts and circumstances at that
date.
As at 28 January 2019, there were no signiﬁcant classiﬁcation and measurement adjustments.
Beaconsﬁeld’s ﬁnancial assets comprise of trade and other receivables and cash items. These
ﬁnancial assets are to be classiﬁed and measured at amortised cost.
Beaconsﬁeld’s principal ﬁnancial liabilities include trade and other payables. These ﬁnancial
liabilities continue to be classiﬁed and measured at amortised cost.
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(ii)

Impairment of ﬁnancial assets
The impact of the new accounting methodology for determining the impairment provision for
trade receivables resulted in no material change in the provision for impairment of trade
receivables. Under the new policy a loss allowance for expected credit losses is recognised
based upon the lifetime expected credit losses in cases where the credit risk on trade and
other receivables has increased signiﬁcant since initial recognition. In cases where the credit
risk has not increased signiﬁcantly, Beaconsﬁeld measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to the 12-month expected credit loss. This assessment is performed on a collective
basis considering forward-looking information. Trade receivables longer than one year overdue
and speciﬁc risk trade receivables with no reasonable expectation of recovery are impaired
and hence provided for in full unless reliable supporting information to determine otherwise is
available. Beaconsﬁeld does not present its impairment losses separately in the statement of
comprehensive income, but in the notes thereto.
No recognition, measurement, or classiﬁcation changes have been recorded on adoption of
IFRS 9.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 became effective on 1 January 2018 and superseded the revenue recognition
included in IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts, and the related interpretations.
Under IFRS 15, revenue is now recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to a customer in an amount that reﬂects the consideration to which Beaconsﬁeld
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. The underlying principle is a
ﬁve-step approach to determine performance obligations, the consideration and the allocation
thereof, and timing of revenue recognition.
IFRS 15 also includes guidance on the presentation of assets and liabilities arising from
contracts with customers, which depends on the relationship between the company’s
performance and the customers’ payment.
Beaconsﬁeld operates through retail point of sale transactions and website orders. Revenue is
recognised when Beaconsﬁeld dispatches a product to the customer for wholesale and
website orders and at the point of purchase for retail store sales.
No recognition, measurement, or classiﬁcation changes have been recorded on adoption of
IFRS 15.
IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ replaced IAS 17 ‘Leases’ and sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and has been applied from 28 January
2019 using the modiﬁed retrospective approach. Under IFRS 16 the main difference for
Beaconsﬁeld is that certain leases that the company holds as a lessee are recognised on the
balance sheet, as both a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a largely offsetting lease liability.
Low value and short-term leases were excluded from these calculations under the practical
expedients allowed in the standard. The ROU asset is depreciated in accordance with IAS 16
‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and the liability is increased for the accumulation of interest
and reduced by cash lease payments. There is no impact on cashﬂow.
On the income statement Beaconsﬁeld recognises a depreciation charge and an interest
charge instead of a straight-line operating cost. This changes the timing of cost recognition on
the lease, resulting in extra cost in early years of the lease, and reduced cost towards the end
of the lease.
The adoption of IFRS 16 has resulted in the recognition of a ROU asset with a carrying value
of £28,217,000 together with a corresponding ﬁnancial liability of £28,205,000 on the opening
balance sheet at 28 January 2019; a ROU asset with a carrying value of £22,971,000 together
with a corresponding ﬁnancial liability of £24,243,000 at 2 February 2020 and; a ROU asset
with a carrying value of £8,352,000 together with a corresponding ﬁnancial liability of
£8,938,000 at 31 January 2021; and a ROU asset with a carrying value of £7,640,000
together with a corresponding ﬁnancial liability of £8,327,000 at 1 August 2021.
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There was a debit of £724,000 in the period ended 1 August 2021 (31 January
2021: £3,864,000; 2 February 2020: £5,999,000) to depreciation costs and a £277,000 debit in
period ended 1 August 2021 (31 January 2021: £1,115,000; 2 February 2020: £1,707,000) to
ﬁnance costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Judgements made by the Directors in the application of these accounting policies that have a
signiﬁcant effect on this historical ﬁnancial information together with estimates with a signiﬁcant
risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 3.
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Positions
IFRIC 23 clariﬁes how to recognise and measure current and deferred income tax assets and
liabilities when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The standard is effective for
ﬁnancial years commencing on or after 1 January 2019. IFRIC 23 will not have any impact as
there is no uncertainty over income tax treatments for Beaconsﬁeld.
2.3 Going concern
Beaconsﬁeld is the main trading company of the Galaxy Topco Group and was a guarantor of
the banking facility provided to Galaxy Bidco Limited. Subsequent to the period end
Beaconsﬁeld has become the primary borrower under the facility agreement through the loans
being novated to it on 10 December 2021. As part of the amendment to the facility the loan
outstanding was reduced by £5 million following an equity injection into Beaconsﬁeld by
Unbound Group plc, the controlling entity of the group resulting in Beaconsﬁeld taking on a
third party loan of £12.1 million.
The Directors have taken a number of actions to assess Beaconsﬁeld’s ability to continue as
going concern in light of COVID-19 and there being covenants on the Beaconsﬁeld loans to
be complied with, such as reviewing Beaconsﬁeld’s cash ﬂow forecast using severe, yet
plausible downturn scenarios, stress testing Beaconsﬁeld’s cash ﬂow forecasts, reviewing
Beaconsﬁeld’s revenue projections and assessing the adequacy of available committed
facilities and the covenants thereon.
After reviewing Beaconsﬁeld’s forecasts and risk assessments and making other enquiries, the
Directors formed the judgement at the time of approving the Beaconsﬁeld historical ﬁnancial
information that there was a reasonable expectation that Beaconsﬁeld has adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for a period of at least twelve months from the date of
approval of the historical ﬁnancial information. For these reasons, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing Beaconsﬁeld’s historical ﬁnancial information.
2.4 New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted
The amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures and IFRS 1 Firsttime Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards are not considered to be relevant
to Beaconsﬁeld’s operations. The following standards, amendments and interpretations are not
yet effective and have not been early adopted by Beaconsﬁeld:
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
IFRIC 22 clariﬁes which exchange rate to use in transactions that involve advance
consideration paid or received in a foreign currency. There is not considered to be an impact
of this standard.
2.5 Revenue recognition
IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” is a principle-based model of recognising
revenue from contracts with customers. It has a ﬁve-step model that requires revenue to be
recognised with control over goods and services are transferred to the customer.
Beaconsﬁeld operates through retail point of sale transactions and website orders. Revenue is
recognised when Beaconsﬁeld dispatches a product to the customer for website orders and at
the point of purchase for retail point of sale transactions. The transaction price is the price
displayed on the website at the time Beaconsﬁeld receives the customers’ order for website
orders or the price on the EPOS system for retail point of sale transactions. The transaction
price is allocated to the one performance obligation which is the delivery of the product.
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Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the customer purchases the product
and takes delivery, or in the case of certain merchant transactions, payable on set credit
terms.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts,
rebates and sales taxes or duty. Production based taxes are not included in revenue, they are
paid on production and recorded within cost of sales.
It is Beaconsﬁeld’s policy to sell its products to the end customer with a right of return within
30 days. Therefore, a returns liability (included in accruals) and a right to the returned goods
(included in inventory) are recognised for the products expected to be returned.
Amounts received in advance are recorded as contract liabilities and revenue is recognised as
the performance obligations are met.
2.6 Government grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received, and Beaconsﬁeld will comply with all attached conditions.
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in proﬁt or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.
In the 52 weeks ended 31 January 2021, and the 26 weeks ended 1 August 2021,
Beaconsﬁeld utilised the Government’s Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (‘CJRS’), which
allows for businesses to submit claims for repayment of furlough or ﬂexible furlough employee
wages as a result of COVID-19. The grant income received has been accounted for in
accordance with IAS 20 ‘Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government
Assistance’ and shown as other income in the income statement and personnel costs have
been shown gross of grant income.
2.7 Employee beneﬁts: Pension obligations
Beaconsﬁeld operates a deﬁned contribution plan for its employees. A deﬁned contribution
plan is a pension plan under which Beaconsﬁeld pays ﬁxed contributions into a separate entity.
Once the contributions have been paid Beaconsﬁeld has no further payment obligations.
The contributions are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
when they fall due. Amounts not paid are shown in accruals as a liability in the Statement of
Financial Position. The assets of the plan are held separately from Beaconsﬁeld in
independently administered funds.
2.8 Net ﬁnance costs
Finance expense
Finance expense comprises of other borrowing costs which are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred and reported in ﬁnance costs and IFRS 16 lease interest.
Finance income
Beaconsﬁeld has no ﬁnance income.
2.9 Current and deferred taxation
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income, except that a charge attributable to an item of income or
expense recognised as other comprehensive income or to an item recognised directly in
equity is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date in the UK where Beaconsﬁeld operates
and generate taxable income.

51

Deferred tax balances are recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated
but not reversed by the balance sheet date, except:
—

The recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to the extent that it is probable that they
will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable
proﬁts;

—

Any deferred tax balances are reversed if and when all conditions for retaining
associated tax allowances have been met; and

—

Where timing differences relate to interests in subsidiaries, associates, branches and joint
ventures and Beaconsﬁeld can control their reversal and such reversal is not considered
probable in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax balances are not recognised in respect of permanent differences except in
respect of business combinations, when deferred tax is recognised on the differences between
the fair values of assets acquired and the future tax deductions available for them and the
differences between the fair values of liabilities acquired and the amount that will be assessed
for tax. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date.
2.10 Property plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual value over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. Depreciation is provided on the following
basis:
—

Plant and machinery – 10 per cent. to 33.3 per cent. straight-line

—

Fixtures, ﬁttings & equipment – 10 per cent. to 33.3 per cent. straight-line

—

Motor vehicles – 25 per cent. straight-line

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted
prospectively if appropriate, or if there is an indication of a signiﬁcant change since the last
reporting date.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying
amount and are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
2.11 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, where net realisable value
is an estimate of the selling price less cost to complete and sell. Cost includes all costs
incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition, as follows:
—

Raw materials, consumables and good for resale – purchase cost on a ﬁrst-in, ﬁrst-out
basis.

—

Work in progress and ﬁnished goods – cost of direct materials and labour plus
attributable overheads based on a normal level of activity.

At each reporting date an assessment is made for any impairment in the values of inventories
held. Any impairment in the value of inventories is recognised at the reporting date.
2.12 Leased assets
At inception of a contract, Beaconsﬁeld assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identiﬁed asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
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To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identiﬁed asset,
Beaconsﬁeld assesses whether: an identiﬁed physically distinct asset can be identiﬁed; and
Beaconsﬁeld has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic beneﬁts from the asset
throughout the period of use and has the ability to direct the use of the asset over the lease
term being able to restrict the usage of third parties as applicable.
All leases are accounted for by recognising a right-of-use asset and a lease liability except for:
—

Leases of low value assets; and

—

Leases with a duration of 12 months or less.

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the contractual payments due to the
lessor over the lease term, with the discount rate determined by reference to the rate inherent
in the lease unless (as is typically the case) this is not readily determinable, in which case
Beaconsﬁeld’s incremental borrowing rate on commencement of the lease is used. The
discount rate used has averaged out at 6.5 per cent.
ROU assets are initially measured at the amount of the lease liability, reduced for any lease
incentives received, and increased for:
—

lease payments made at or before commencement of the lease;

—

initial direct costs incurred; and

—

the amount of any provision recognised where Beaconsﬁeld is contractually required to
dismantle, remove or restore the leased asset.

Subsequent to initial measurement lease liabilities increase as a result of interest charged at a
constant rate on the balance outstanding and are reduced for lease payments made. ROU
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the lease or over the
remaining economic life of the asset if, rarely, this is judged to be shorter than the lease term.
When Beaconsﬁeld revises its estimate of the term of any lease (because, for example, it reassesses the probability of a lessee extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts
the carrying amount of the lease liability to reﬂect the payments to make over the revised
term, which are discounted at the same discount rate that applied on lease commencement.
An equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value of the ROU asset, with the revised
carrying amount being amortised over the remaining (revised) lease term.
2.13 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term highly liquid
deposits which are subject to an insigniﬁcant risk of changes in value.
2.14 Financial assets
Beaconsﬁeld classiﬁes its ﬁnancial assets at amortised cost. Financial assets do not comprise
prepayments. Management determines the classiﬁcation of its ﬁnancial assets at initial
recognition.
Financial Assets recognised at amortised cost
Beaconsﬁeld’s ﬁnancial assets held at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables
and cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of ﬁnancial position.
These assets are non-derivative ﬁnancial assets with ﬁxed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They arise principally through the provision of goods and
services to customers (e.g. trade receivables), but also incorporate other types of ﬁnancial
assets where the objective is to hold their assets in order to collect contractual cash ﬂows and
the contractual cash ﬂows are solely payments of the principal and interest.
They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to
their acquisition or issue and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method, less provision for impairment.
Impairment provisions for trade receivables are recognised based on the simpliﬁed approach
within IFRS 9 using the lifetime expected credit losses. During this process the probability of
the non-payment of the trade receivables is assessed. This probability is then multiplied by the
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amount of the expected loss arising from default to determine the lifetime expected credit loss
for the trade receivables. For trade receivables, which are reported net; such provisions are
recorded in a separate provision account with the loss being recognised within administrative
expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. On conﬁrmation that the
trade receivable will not be collectable, the gross carrying value of the asset is written off
against the associated provision.
Impairment provisions for other receivables are recognised based on the general impairment
model within IFRS 9. In doing so, Beaconsﬁeld follows the 3-stage approach to expected
credit losses. Step 1 is to estimate the probability that the debtor will default over the next
12 months. Step 2 considers if the credit risk has increased signiﬁcantly since initial
recognition of the debtor. Finally, Step 3 considers if the debtor is credit impaired, following the
criteria under IFRS 9.
Financial assets recognised at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Financial instruments such as forwards, swaps and forward exchange contracts are classiﬁed
as derivative ﬁnancial assets and liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss. Derivative
ﬁnancial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value at the date the derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to fair value at each ﬁnancial period
end date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in fair value gains/(losses) through proﬁt or
loss immediately. Beaconsﬁeld does not apply hedge accounting.
A derivative with
with a negative
agreement exists
asst and liability
asset or liability.

a positive fair value is recognised as a ﬁnancial asset, whereas a derivative
fair value is recognised as a ﬁnancial liability, unless a bilateral netting
between Beaconsﬁeld and the counterparty, in which case derivative ﬁnancial
positions with the counterparty are aggregated to produce a single netted

The fair value of the derivative contracts is based on their observable prices in the exchange
marketplace requiring no signiﬁcant adjustment.
2.15 Financial liabilities
Beaconsﬁeld measures its ﬁnancial liabilities at amortised cost. All ﬁnancial liabilities are
recognised in the statement of ﬁnancial position when Beaconsﬁeld becomes a party to the
contractual provision of the instrument.
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Beaconsﬁeld’s ﬁnancial liabilities held at amortised cost comprise trade payables and other
short-dated monetary liabilities, and bank and other borrowings in the consolidated statement
of ﬁnancial position.
Trade payables and other short-dated monetary liabilities are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Bank and other borrowings are initially recognised at fair value net of any transaction costs
directly attributable to the issue of the instrument. Such interest-bearing liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, which
ensures that any interest expense over the period to repayment is at a constant rate on the
balance of the liability carried in the consolidated statement of ﬁnancial position.
For the purposes of each ﬁnancial liability, interest expense includes initial transaction costs
and any premium payable on redemption, as well as any interest or coupon payable while the
liability is outstanding.
Unless otherwise indicated, the carrying values of Beaconsﬁeld’s ﬁnancial liabilities measured
at amortised cost represents a reasonable approximation of their fair values.
2.16 Exceptional items
Beaconsﬁeld classiﬁes certain one-off charges or credits that have a material impact on
Beaconsﬁeld’s ﬁnancial results as exceptional items. These are disclosed separately to provide
further understanding of the ﬁnancial performance.

54

2.17 Impairment of assets
Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are assessed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication that the assets are impaired. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are carried at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identiﬁable cash ﬂows (cash-generating units or CGUs).
Where there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the carrying value of the asset
(or CGUs to which the asset has been allocated) is tested for impairment. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s (or CGU’s) fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. Non-ﬁnancial assets that have been previously impaired are reviewed at
each reporting date to assess whether there is any indication that the impairment losses
recognised in prior periods may no longer exist or may have decreased. Goodwill is reviewed
for impairment on an annual basis, with any impairment to goodwill not reversed at a later
period.
2.18 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when Beaconsﬁeld has a legal or constructive present obligation as
a result of a past event, it is probable that Beaconsﬁeld will be required to settle that
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the reporting end date, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is
material, the amount expected to be required to settle the obligation is recognised at present
value. When a provision is measured at present value, the unwinding of the discount is
recognised as a ﬁnance cost in proﬁt or loss in the period in which it arises.
3

Signiﬁcant accounting estimates and judgements
Beaconsﬁeld makes certain estimates and judgements regarding the future. Estimates and
judgements are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. In the future, actual experience may differ from these estimates and
judgements. The estimates and judgements that have a signiﬁcant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next ﬁnancial year are
discussed below.
Judgements
The following are the areas requiring the use of judgement that may signiﬁcantly impact the
historical ﬁnancial information.
Useful economic lives of tangible ﬁxed assets
The annual depreciation charge for tangible ﬁxed assets is sensitive to changes in the
estimated useful economic lives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives
and residual values are re-assessed annually. They are amended, when necessary, to reﬂect
current estimates, based on technological advancement, future investments, economic
utilisation, and the physical condition of the assets. See the subsequent notes to the accounts
for the carrying amount of the tangible ﬁxed assets and note 2.10 for the useful economic
lives for each class of asset.
Estimates and assumptions
The following are areas requiring signiﬁcant estimates and assumptions that may signiﬁcantly
impact the historical ﬁnancial information.
Inventories provision
The levels of inventories, net of provisions, are set out in the notes to the accounts. For each
line of inventory, a provision is made against the cost of the inventory where the net realisable
value is expected to be less than cost. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price of
inventories, where that selling price is a judgement based mainly upon recent selling patterns
and the ageing and condition for each inventory line.
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Lease Liabilities
Beaconsﬁeld makes judgements to estimate the incremental borrowing rate used to measure
lease liabilities based on expected third party ﬁnancing costs when the interest rate implicit in
the lease cannot be readily determined. Management performs assessments on each
individual lease and ensures the implicit interest rate are reviewed against latest expected
borrowing terms for the entity, lease length, specialisation and risk of each asset, class and
type of asset, where and when the asset will be used, and the currency of each lease.
Additional details are noted in note 21.
Recoverability of debtors
Key judgments are made by management in estimating the level of provisioning required for
bad debts. In arriving at its conclusion, the Directors consider debtor ageing and knowledge of
individual debtors.
Taxation
Beaconsﬁeld establishes provisions based on reasonable estimates, for possible
consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates.
The amount of such provisions is based on various factors, such as experience with previous
tax audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the
responsible tax authority. Management estimation is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon likely timing and level of future
taxable proﬁts together with an assessment of the effect of future tax planning strategies.
Further details are contained in note 11.
Provisions
Beaconsﬁeld establishes provisions relating to dilapidations on the exit of its retail stores. This
requires Beaconsﬁeld to determine an estimated value of the likely cost of dilapidations for the
entirety of its retail estate. As Beaconsﬁeld had adopted IFRS 16 using the modiﬁed
retrospective approach, provisions were not discounted for the effect of the time value of
money for leases in existence at the transition date of 28 January 2019, however, provisions
for leases entered into since the transition date have been discounted using the incremental
borrowing rate at the inception date of the lease.
4

Revenue from contracts with customers
All of Beaconsﬁeld’s revenue was generated from one principal activity, that of the sale of
footwear and accessories and was recognised at a point in time (rather than over time). No
one customer makes up 10 per cent. or more of revenue in any period.
Beaconsﬁeld operates within two geographical markets, the United Kingdom and Rest of the
World. An analysis of revenue by geographical market is given below:

United Kingdom
Rest of the World

52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

74,322
11,206

38,450
6,035

18,447
1,579

23,163
1,865

85,528

44,485

20,026

25,028
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Beaconsﬁeld operates within two channels, being direct to consumer and wholesale:

Direct to consumer
Wholesale

5

52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

79,934
5,594

40,695
3,790

16,911
3,115

22,327
2,701

85,528

44,485

20,026

25,028

52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

—
—

2,500
3,270

—
2,764

38
766

—

5,770

2,764

804

Other income

Proceeds of insurance claim
Government grants received

Other income includes:
i.

proceeds of insurance claim – As a result of the COVID restrictions Beaconsﬁeld was
able to make a claim under its business interruption insurance and received an initial
payment of £2.5 million; and

ii.

government grants received as part of the CJRS and other support schemes
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Segment Information
Factors that management used to identify Beaconsﬁeld’s reportable segments
The Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) has been identiﬁed as the Directors. The
CODM reviews Beaconsﬁeld’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. The CODM has determined that there is one single operating segment, the
manufacture and sale of footwear with the sales of the products being through four channels
as follows:
52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

Direct to consumer UK
Retail UK
Wholesale served from the UK
Direct to consumer – Rest of
World

31,529
38,296
5,626

29,888
5,164
3,796

12,841
2,711
1,579

17,827
2,944
1,866

10,077

5,637

2,895

2.391

Revenue

85,528

44,485

20,026

25,028

The directors review the trading proﬁt and gross proﬁt generated by each segment and the
gross proﬁt reported by each segment is set out below:
52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

Direct to consumer UK
Retail UK
Wholesale served from the UK
Direct to consumer – Rest of
World

20,052
23,645
2,136

15,880
2,596
1,032

6,338
1,347
499

11,244
1,830
594

7,627

3,701

1,965

1,749

Channel gross proﬁt

53,460

23,209

10,149

15,417
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Exceptional expenses
52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

1,483

2,176

562

2,524

Impairment of amounts owed by
group undertakings (note i)
Loss/(proﬁt) on disposal of
property, plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of intangible
assets (note ii)
Impairment of right-of-use assets
(note iii)
Loss on derecognition of right-ofuse assets (note iii)
Gain on extinguishment of lease
liabilities (note iii)
Gain on rent invoices not paid
(note iii)
CVA related costs (note iii)
Other restructuring costs
(note iv)
COVID-19 related costs (note v)
Reﬁnancing costs (note vi)
Other one-off costs

(7)

—

(11)

6,053

—

—

—

511

—

9,460

—

19

9,852

694

—

(25)

(11,053)

(730)

(2)

—
—

(1,574)
3,103

—
537

—
(45)

276
95
184
51

116
—
28
—

469
80
155
(10)

3,103

10,667

147

771
—
221
(15)
9,165

3,160

Exceptional items include the following:
i.

Impairment of amounts owed by group undertakings – sums due from intermediate
holding companies have been provided against when the recoverability of those loans is
considered in doubt.

ii.

The loss on disposal of the intangible asset relates to a write off of development costs
associated with the implementation of an ERP system which was ultimately discovered to
be unsuitable for the business going forward.

iii.

Included within exceptional expenses are costs related to the CVA which the directors of
Beaconsﬁeld undertook as a direct result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the consequent
downturn in sales which primarily affected the retail business, which Beaconsﬁeld sought
to reach agreement with landlords for the early exit from 51 retail leases. The CVA
passed with a vote of 99.5 per cent. in favour on 29 July 2020 and the period during
which this outcome could be challenged ended on 25 August 2020. Landlords received a
dividend of 27.8 pence in the pound. Other suppliers received payment in full. The
Impairment of the right of use assets associated with the leases that were to be handed
back to the landlords was recognised when the directors formed the intention to enter a
CVA to exit the leases during the 26 weeks ended 2 August 2020. The liabilities
associated with the leases including obligations to pay past due rent were removed when
the CVA challenge period expired on 25 August 2020 i.e. in the 26 weeks ended
1 August 2021.

iv.

Other restructuring costs include severance costs associated with headcount reductions
as well as the costs associated with strategic reviews associated with the refocussing of
the business on its core direct-to-consumer channel
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v.

The COVID-19 related costs relate to license costs associated with an ERP system that
is yet to be deployed as a result of delays due to the COVID-19 pandemic resulting in
home working.

vi.

Reﬁnancing costs have occurred during the period as a result of the need to renegotiate
banking facilities that whilst held primarily by a holding company were effectively for the
beneﬁt of Beaconsﬁeld as the trading company in the group.

Employee beneﬁt expenses
Employee beneﬁt expenses (including Directors) comprise:

Wages and salaries
Social security contributions and
similar taxes
Pension costs

52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

17,798

12,210

7,022

5,199

1,231
644

948
532

513
303

403
232

19,673

13,690

7,838

5,834

Average number of people (including Directors) employed by activity

Production and management
Sales and distribution

52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

302
836

235
492

255
687

211
261

1,138

727

942

472
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Director emoluments
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing, and controlling the activities of Beaconsﬁeld. The Directors consider key
management personnel to be the directors of Beaconsﬁeld.
Director emoluments comprise:
52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000
Remuneration for qualifying
services
Social security contributions and
similar taxes
Pension costs

996

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

650

119

83

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

403

283

49

39

50
20

38
20

1,164

772

473

341

Directors participating in deﬁned contribution pension as at 1 August 2021 was 2 (31 January
2021: 2; 2 February 2020: 4).
10

Expenses by nature
Operating loss is stated after charging/(crediting):

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of right of use of
assets
Depreciation of right-of-use
assets
Exchange losses/(gains)
Deﬁned contribution pension
plan
Bad debt write off/(write back)
Inventory recognised as an
expense
Short-term lease expenses
Statutory auditor remuneration
(audit)
Statutory auditor remuneration
(other services)

52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

1,735
991

1,586
766

946
576

558
549

511

—

9,460

—

5,488
151

3,864
256

2,799
201

724
(2)

644
133

532
(25)

303
(100)

232
(50)

32,068
17

21,038
—

9,877
—

9,611
—

86

89

—

—

22

37

—

—
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Finance expense
52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

Other interest on ﬁnancial
liabilities
Interest on lease liabilities

12
1,707

17
1,115

15
751

7
277

Total ﬁnance expense

1,719

1,132

766

284

52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

—

—

—

—

Taxation

Analysis of charge in year
Current tax on proﬁts for the year
Adjustments in respect of
previous years
Total current tax
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of
temporary differences
Effect of tax rate change on
opening balance
Adjustments in respect of prior
periods

—
—

(582)
(582)

(582)
(582)

—
—

(1,646)

(3,203)

239

—

(169)

(169)

737

(194)

(194)

(1,080)

(946)
—

Total deferred tax

(343)

(2,010)

(3,566)

(707)

Tax credit per statement of
comprehensive income

(343)

(2,592)

(4,148)

(707)

The corporation tax adjustments in respect of prior years in the 52 weeks ended 31 January
2021 and the 26 weeks ended 2 August 2020 relate to R&D tax credits received.
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The tax credits for the periods presented differ from the standard rate of corporate tax in the
UK. The differences are explained below:
52 weeks
ended
2 February
2020
£’000
Proﬁt on ordinary activities
before tax
Tax using Beaconsﬁeld’s
domestic tax rates
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax
purposes
Adjustments in respect of prior
periods
Transfer pricing arrangements
Group tax relief
Fixed asset temporary
differences
Change in rate of corporation tax
Total taxation credits

52 weeks
ended
31 January
2021
£’000

26 weeks
ended
2 August
2020
£’000
(unaudited)

26 weeks
ended
1 August
2021
£’000

(8,680)

(11,587)

(17,722)

(2,121)

(1,649)

(2,202)

(3,368)

(403)

—

287

242

737
261
(90)

(776)
158
64

(775)
79
64

59
92
(46)

8
103

91
(169)

21
(169)

44
(946)

(2,592)

(4,148)

(707)

(343)

493

The main rate of UK corporation tax was 19 per cent. for the 53 weeks ended 2 February
2020, 52 weeks ended 31 January 2021, 26 weeks ended 2 August 2020 and 26 weeks
ended 1 August 2021.
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Inventories

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

1,330
131
9,708

1,158
—
4,814

1,041
9
3,532

11,169

5,972

4,582

The difference between the purchase price or production cost of stock and their replacement
cost is not material.
Inventories are stated after a provision for impairment of £57,000 as at 1 August 2021
(31 January 2021: £216,000, 2 February 2020: £151,000). Inventory provisions are based on
estimates and assumptions of management and further detail on these estimates is detailed in
Note 3.
The provision for inventory obsolescence is recognised in administrative expenses in the
Statement of Proﬁt and Loss.
Inventories recognised as an expense included in cost of sales are £9,611,000 for the period
ended 1 August 2021 (31 January 2021: £21,038,000, 2 February 2020: £32,068,000).
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Trade and other receivables
As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

1,398
7
2,164

1,393
436
665

415
241
1,287

3,569

2,494

1,943

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Prepayments

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold in the ordinary course of
business. They are generally due for settlement within 30 days and therefore are all classiﬁed
as current. The majority of trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing. Where the
effect is material, trade and other receivables are discounted using discount rates which reﬂect
the relevant costs of ﬁnancing. The carrying amount of trade and other receivables
approximates fair value.
Analysis of trade receivables based on age of invoices:

2 February 2020
31 January 2021
1 August 2021

5 30
£’000

31 – 60
£’000

61 -90
£’000

416
796
241

—
270
35

92
198
84

4 90 Total Gross
£’000
£’000
919
205
62

ECL
£’000

1,427
1,469
422

(29)
(76)
(7)

Total Net
£’000
1,398
1,393
415

Beaconsﬁeld applies the IFRS 9 simpliﬁed approach to measuring expected credit losses
(ECL) which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The ECL
balance has been determined based on historical data available to management in addition to
forward looking information utilising management knowledge. Based on the analyses performed
there is no material impact on the transition to ECL from previous methods of estimating the
provision for doubtful accounts.
15

Current tax assets

Corporation tax receivable

16

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

205

101

46

205

101

46

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

8,590

4,321

3,425

8,590

4,321

3,425

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank available on demand
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Property, plant and equipment

Plant and
Machinery
£’000

Fixtures,
ﬁttings and
equipment
£’000

Total
£’000

Cost
At 28 January 2019
Additions
Disposals

9,643
823
(935)

18,177
953
(283)

27,820
1,776
(1,218)

At 2 February 2020

9,531

18,847

28,378

Depreciation
At 28 January 2019
Charge for the period
Disposals

7,916
588
(863)

15,384
1,147
(209)

23,300
1,735
(1,072)

At 2 February 2020

7,641

16,322

23,963

Net book amount
At 2 February 2020

1,890

2,525

4,415

Cost
At 3 February 2020
Additions
Disposals

9,531
74
(716)

18,847
746
(13,412)

28,378
820
(14,128)

At 31 January 2021

8,889

6,181

15,070

Depreciation
At 3 February 2020
Charge for the period
Disposals

7,641
602
(711)

16,322
984
(12,983)

23,963
1,586
(13,694)

At 31 January 2021

7,532

4,323

11,855

Net book amount
At 31 January 2021

1,357

1,858

3,215

Cost
At 1 February 2021
Additions

8,889
51

6,181
41

15,070
92

At 1 August 2021

8,940

6,222

15,162

Depreciation
At 1 February 2021
Charge for the period

7,532
261

4,323
297

11,855
558

At 1 August 2021

7,793

4,620

12,413

Net book amount
At 1 August 2021

1,147

1,602

2,749

Depreciation is charged to cost of sales and administrative expenses in the statement of
comprehensive income. Depreciation charged to cost of sales in the period ended 1 August
2021 was £252,000 (31 January 2021: £569,000, 2 February 2020: £546,000).
.
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Intangible assets
Technology
assets
£’000

Total
£’000

Cost
At 28 January 2019
Additions
Disposals

10,728
4,330
(7,101)

10,728
4,330
(7,101)

At 2 February 2020

7,957

7,957

4,946
991
(1,048)

4,946
991
(1,048)

At 2 February 2020

4,889

4,889

Net book amount
At 2 February 2020

3,068

3,068

Cost
At 3 February 2020
Additions
Disposals

7,957
1,831
(3,354)

7,957
1,831
(3,354)

At 31 January 2021

6,434

6,434

4,889
766
(3,354)

4,889
766
(3,354)

At 31 January 2021

2,301

2,301

Net book amount
At 31 January 2021

4,133

4,133

Cost
At 1 February 2021
Additions
Disposals

6,434
384
—

6,434
384
—

At 1 August 2021

6,818

6,818

Amortisation
At 1 February 2021
Charge for the period
Disposals

2,301
549
—

2,301
549
—

At 1 August 2021

2,850

2,850

Net book amount
At 1 August 2021

3,968

3,968

Amortisation
At 28 January 2019
Charge for the period
Disposals

Amortisation
At 3 February 2020
Charge for the period
Disposals

Amortisation is charged to administrative expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.
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Deferred tax assets
As at
02 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
01 August
2021
£’000

Opening balance
Credited to the income statement

1,103
343

1,446
2,010

3,456
707

Closing balance

1,446

3,456

4,163

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

5,785
493
3,635
936

4,609
702
4,828
731

3,461
1,118
3,099
1,688

10,849

10,870

9,336

Trade and other payables

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade payables
Other payables
Accruals
Other taxation and social security

The directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other payables approximates to
their fair value.
The average credit period taken from creditors is 30.9 days at 2 February 2020, 35.5 days at
31 January 2021 and 30.2 days at 1 August 2021.
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Leases
Nature of leasing activities
Beaconsﬁeld leases a number of assets in the jurisdictions from which it operates in with all
lease payments, in-substance, ﬁxed over the lease term, where there are leasehold properties
which hold a variable element to lease payments made these are not ﬁxed and not capitalised
as part of the right of use asset. All expected future cash out ﬂows are reﬂected within the
measurement of the lease liabilities at each period end.
As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

Head ofﬁce
Retail stores
Motor vehicles

1
70
7

1
17
6

1
17
6

Total number of active leases

78

24

24
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Extension, termination, and break options
Beaconsﬁeld sometimes negotiates extension, termination, or break clauses in its leases. In
determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option.
Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if
the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).
On a case-by-case basis, Beaconsﬁeld will consider whether the absence of a break clause
would expose Beaconsﬁeld to excessive risk. Typically, factors considered in deciding to
negotiate a break clause include:
—

The length of the lease term;

—

The economic stability of the environment in which the property is located; and

—

Whether the location represents a new area of operations for Beaconsﬁeld.

As at 2 February 2020, 31 January 2021 and 1 August 2021 the carrying amounts of lease
liabilities are not reduced by the amount of payments that would be avoided from exercising
break clauses because all lease calculations are based on the break clause being exercised
at the earliest opportunity, as expected by Beaconsﬁeld. Beaconsﬁeld has chosen to apply the
practical expedient in C3 of IFRS 16 to not reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at the date of initial application.
Incremental borrowing rate
Beaconsﬁeld has adopted a range from 5.79 per cent. to 6.63 per cent. as its incremental
borrowing rate, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
Sensitivity analysis has been performed on the incremental borrowing rate and identiﬁed using
a borrowing rate of 5 per cent. will cause an increase in lease liabilities at 01 August 2021 of
£381,249 (31 January 2021; £431,460; 02 February 2020: £1,071,213) and an increase in
ROU assets at 01 August 2021 of £483,246 (31 January 2021; £522,901; 02 February
2020: £1,209,607) and using a borrowing rate of 7.5 per cent. will cause a decrease in lease
liabilities at 01 August 2021 of £286,000 (31 January 2021; £314,636; 02 February
2020: £560,086) and a decrease in ROU assets at 01 August 2021 of £344,742 (31 January
2021; £363,568; 02 February 2020: £629,317).
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Right-of-use assets
Leasehold
property
£’000

Motor
vehicles
£’000

Total
£’000

Cost
At 28 January 2019
Additions
Disposals

27,946
1,013
(231)

271
—
(39)

28,217
1,013
(270)

At 2 February 2020

28,728

232

28,960

Depreciation
At 28 January 2019
Impairment
Charge for the period
Disposals

—
511
5,434
(115)

125
—
54
(20)

125
511
5,488
(135)

At 2 February 2020

5,830

159

5,989

Net book amount
At 2 February 2020

22,898

73

22,971

Cost
At 3 February 2020
Additions
Disposals

28,728
260
(18,733)

232
—
(42)

28,960
260
(18,775)

At 31 January 2021

10,255

190

10,445

Depreciation
At 3 February 2020
Charge for the period
Disposals

5,830
3,811
(7,718)

159
53
(42)

5,989
3,864
(7,760)

At 31 January 2021

1,923

170

2,093

Net book amount
At 31 January 2021

8,332

20

8,352

Cost
At 1 February 2021
Additions
Disposals

10,255
438
(568)

190
—
(71)

10,445
438
(639)

At 1 August 2021

10,125

119

10,244

Depreciation
At 1 February 2021
Charge for the period
Disposals

1,923
716
(150)

170
8
(63)

2,093
724
(213)

At 1 August 2021

2,489

115

2,604

Net book amount
At 1 August 2021

7,636

4

7,640

Depreciation is charged to administrative expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.
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Lease liabilities
Leasehold
property
£’000

Motor
vehicles
£’000

Total
£’000

At 28 January 2019
Additions
Remeasurement
Disposals
Interest expense
Lease payments (including interest)

28,115
991
(116)
—
1,701
(6,478)

90
—
—
(25)
6
(41)

28,205
991
(116)
(25)
1,707
(6,519)

At 2 February 2020

24,213

30

24,243

24,213
260
(1,164)
(11,053)
1,108
(4,431)

30
—
—
—
7
(33)

24,243
260
(1,164)
(11,053)
1,115
(4,464)

At 31 January 2021

8,933

4

8,937

At 1 February 2021
Remeasurement
Disposals
Interest expense
Lease payments (including interest)

8,933
20
—
275
(901)

4
—
(2)
2
(4)

8,937
20
(2)
277
(905)

At 1 August 2021

8,327

—

8,327

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

Non-current liabilities

18,941

7,628

7,015

Lease liabilities

18,941

7,628

7,015

Current liabilities

5,302

1,310

1,312

Lease liabilities

5,302

1,310

1,312

24,243

8,938

8,327

At 3 February 2020
Additions
Remeasurement
Disposals
Interest expense
Lease payments (including interest)

Total lease liabilities
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Reconciliation of minimum lease payments and present value
As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

Within 1 year
Later than 1 year and less than 5 years
After 5 years

6,766
17,027
5,444

1,841
6,006
3,358

1,820
5,621
2,895

Total including interest cash ﬂows

29,237

11,205

10,336

Less: interest cash ﬂows

(4,994)

(2,267)

(2,009)

Total principal cash ﬂows

24,243

8,938

8,327

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

17

—

—

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

17,778

19,778

19,778

17,778

19,778

19,778

Short term or low value lease expense

Total short term lease costs

22

Borrowings

Current
Related party loan payable

Whilst the directors have received conﬁrmation from the directors of the relevant group
company the intercompany loan payable will not be called for repayment within 1 year, there
are no formal repayment terms and as such, it has been classiﬁed as due within one year.
In all periods covered by the historical ﬁnancial information, the intercompany loan receivable
has been written down to £Nil, which represents a write down of the asset to its recoverable
amount. See note 30 for further details.
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The movement on the balance written down for each period is detailed below:
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As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

Write down brought forward
Intercompany loan receivable written down in the
period

31,270

32,753

34,929

1,483

2,176

2,524

Write down carried forward

32,753

34,929

37,453

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

2,083

556

557

—

418

418

2,083

974

975

Provisions

Amounts falling due after one year:
Lease liability dilapidations
Other provisions
Total provisions

Leasehold
Property
£’000

Lease liability dilapidations
At 28 January 2019
Additions
Utilised during the year
Interest expense

2,175
22
(114)
—

At 2 February 2020

2,083

At 3 February 2020
Disposals
Interest expense

2,083
(1,528)
1

At 31 January 2021

556

At 1 February 2021
Interest expense

556
1

At 1 August 2021

557

As part of Beaconsﬁeld’s property leasing arrangements there is an obligation to repair
damages which incur during the life of the lease, such as wear and tear. These costs have
been charged in line with IFRS 16 and shown separately to the lease obligation liability. The
provision is expected to be utilised between 2023 and 2034 as the leases terminate. Due to
the signiﬁcant number of leased properties and the difﬁculties in predicting expenditure that will
be required on return of a property to the landlord many years into the future, the dilapidations
provision is considered a source of estimation. The provision has been calculated using
historical experience of actual expenditure incurred on dilapidations and estimated lease
termination dates.
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Share capital
As at
2 February
2020

As at
31 January
2021

As at
1 August
2021

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Opening number of £1 ordinary shares

42,000

42,000

42,000

Closing number of £1 ordinary shares

42,000

42,000

42,000

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Opening share capital

42

42

42

Closing share capital

42

42

42

Voting rights
Shareholders are entitled to one voting right per share.
Dividends
Shareholders are entitled to dividends out of the proﬁts of Beaconsﬁeld available for
distribution.
25

Reserves
Retained earnings
Retained earnings comprises cumulative proﬁts and losses, net of distribution to owners.
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Commitments and contingences
Beaconsﬁeld has no capital or ﬁnancial commitments at the end of any of the historical
ﬁnancial information periods.
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Financial instruments
Financial assets
Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade receivables, other receivables and
cash. It does not include current tax receivable and prepayments.

Trade receivables
Other receivables
Cash at bank and on hand
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As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

1,398
7
8,590

1,393
436
4,321

415
241
3,425

9,995

6,150

4,081

Beaconsﬁeld have no ﬁnancial and non-ﬁnancial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
through the proﬁt and loss.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise trade payables, other payables,
accruals, lease liabilities and borrowings. It does not include other taxation and social security.

Trade payables
Other payables
Accruals
Lease liabilities
Borrowings

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

5,785
493
3,635
24,243
17,778

4,609
702
4,828
8,938
19,778

3,461
1,118
3,069
8,327
19,778

51,934

38,900

35,753

Financial risk management
Beaconsﬁeld is exposed through its operation to the following ﬁnancial risks: credit risk,
interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and liquidity risk. Risk management is carried out by
the directors of Beaconsﬁeld. Beaconsﬁeld uses ﬁnancial instruments to provide ﬂexibility
regarding its working capital requirements and to enable it to manage speciﬁc ﬁnancial risks to
which it is exposed.
Beaconsﬁeld ﬁnances its operations through a mixture of debt ﬁnance, cash and liquid
resources and various items such as trade debtors and trade payables which arise directly
from Beaconsﬁeld’s operations.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of ﬁnancial loss to Beaconsﬁeld if a customer or counterparty to a
ﬁnancial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. In order to minimise the risk,
Beaconsﬁeld endeavours only to deal with companies which are demonstrably creditworthy
and this, together with the aggregate ﬁnancial exposure, is continuously monitored.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of its ﬁnancial receivables, trade
and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents as disclosed in the notes to the
historical ﬁnancial information.
Beaconsﬁeld seeks to obtain charging orders over the property of trade receivables, where
appropriate. The receivables’ age analysis is also evaluated on a regular basis for potential
doubtful debts, considering historic, current and forward-looking information. Further disclosures
regarding trade and other receivables are provided in note 14.
Interest rate risk
Beaconsﬁeld’s only current borrowings are from group undertakings which are interest free and
repayable on demand, therefore interest rate risk exposure for Beaconsﬁeld is minimal.
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises when Beaconsﬁeld enter into transactions in a currency other
than their functional currency. Beaconsﬁeld’s policy is, where possible, to settle liabilities
denominated in a currency other than its functional currency with cash already denominated in
that currency.
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Liquidity risk
Beaconsﬁeld seeks to maintain sufﬁcient cash balances. Management reviews cash ﬂow
forecasts on a regular basis to determine whether Beaconsﬁeld has sufﬁcient cash reserves to
meet future working capital requirements and to take advantage of business opportunities.
A maturity analysis of Beaconsﬁeld’s trade and other payables is shown below:

Less than one year
Due after one year

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

10,849
—

10,653
—

9,220
—

10,849

10,653

9,220

Capital Disclosures
The capital structure of the business consists of cash and cash equivalents, debt and equity.
Equity comprises share capital and retained losses and is equal to the amount shown as
‘Equity’ in the balance sheet. Debt comprises various items which are set out in further detail
above and in the notes to the accounts.
Beaconsﬁeld’s current objectives when maintaining capital are to:
—

Safeguard Beaconsﬁeld’s ability as a going concern so that it can continue to pursue its
growth plans.

—

Provide a reasonable expectation of future returns to shareholders.

—

Maintain adequate ﬁnancial ﬂexibility to preserve its ability to meet ﬁnancial obligations,
both current and long term.

Beaconsﬁeld sets the amount of capital it requires in proportion to risk. Beaconsﬁeld manages
its capital structure and adjusts it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
Beaconsﬁeld may issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
During the periods presented in the historical ﬁnancial information, Beaconsﬁeld’s business
strategy was transformed from a retail-led strategy to a digitally led direct to consumer model.
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Reconciliation of liabilities arising from ﬁnancing activities
As at
28 January
2019
£’000

Cash ﬂows
£’000

Non-cash
changes
£’000

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

Intercompany loan payable
Lease liabilities

14,277
28,205

2,018
(6,519)

1,483
2,557

17,778
24,243

Total liabilities from ﬁnancing
activities

42,482

(4,501)

4,040

42,021
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As at
3 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

Intercompany loan payable
Lease liabilities

17,778
24,243

(176)
(4,464)

2,176
(10,841)

19,778
8,938

Total liabilities from ﬁnancing
activities

42,021

(4,640)

(8,665)

28,716

As at
1 February
2021
£’000
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Cash ﬂows
£’000

Non-cash
changes
£’000

Cash ﬂows
£’000

Non-cash
changes
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

Intercompany loan payable
Lease liabilities

19,778
8,938

(2,524)
(907)

2,524
296

19,778
8,327

Total liabilities from ﬁnancing
activities

28,716

(3,431)

2,820

28,105

Subsequent events
Since the period end Unbound Group plc has announced its intention to move its listing from
the main market investment trust segment to AIM where it will become the holding company
for the Group of which Beaconsﬁeld will form the major element of the group’s initial trading
activities. It is anticipated that this transition will take place in February 2022.
Since the balance sheet date and prior to the transaction noted above being completed,
Galaxy Bidco Limited has agreed a reﬁnancing with its lenders as a result of which
Beaconsﬁeld has become the direct borrower of the bank loans rather than being a guarantor
of its parent’s bank loans. The banking facility originally entered into in January 2014 and
subsequently amended in was amended and extended on 10 December 2021 the main terms
of which were as follows:
*

The principal outstanding was reduced from £17.1 million to £12.1 million following the
injection of equity of £5 million into the Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited via the issuance of
5 million shares of £1 nominal value funded by Unbound Group plc which was used to
pay down the bank loans;

*

The loan was novated from Galaxy Bidco to Beaconsﬁeld

*

The loan is due for repayment as follows:
○

£1 million each six months commencing 31 July 2022;

○

With the remaining balance being repayable in full on 31 July 2024
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Related party transactions
During the 52 weeks ended 31 January 2021, Beaconsﬁeld paid Unbound Group plc £150,000
(2 February 2020: £150,000) for monitoring and advisory services. During the 26 weeks ended
1 August 2021 Beaconsﬁeld paid the Unbound Group plc £75,000 (2 August 2020: £75,000)
for monitoring and advisory services. Beaconsﬁeld was paid £19,000 by Unbound Group plc in
the year ended 2 February 2020 for Hotter Shoes gift cards.
The balances owed to related parties at each period end were as follows:

Unbound Group plc
Galaxy Topco Limited
Galaxy Midco Limited
Hotter Holdings Limited

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

26
100
11,000
6,678

116
100
13,000
6,678

251
100
13,000
6,678

The balance owed to Galaxy Midco increased by £2 million in the year ended 31 January
2021 following the injection of further capital into the Galaxy Group by the Unbound Group plc
which ultimately was lent to Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited as part of the CVA process.
Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited was owed the following amounts by related parties

Galaxy Bidco Limited
Hotter Group Holdings Limited
Beaconsﬁeld Group Holdings Limited
Hotter Limited
Total
Provision

As at
2 February
2020
£’000

As at
31 January
2021
£’000

As at
1 August
2021
£’000

22,777
2,625
6,387
964

24,953
2,625
6,387
964

27,477
2,625
6,387
964

32,753
(32,753)

34,929
(34,929)

37,453
(37,453)

—

Carrying value

—

—

The balance owed by Galaxy Bidco increased during the period as Beaconsﬁeld Footwear
Limited supported the ﬁnancing for the group by funding the interest and amortisation of the
third party loan that was routed through Galaxy Bidco Limited for the beneﬁt of the trade
carried out by Beaconsﬁeld.
Compensation paid to key management personnel in each period is disclosed in note 9.
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Ultimate controlling party
The ultimate controlling party of Beaconsﬁeld is Unbound Group plc.
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Reconciliation from FRS 102 ﬁnancial statements to IFRS
The FRS 102 ﬁnancial statements for the 52 weeks ended 2 February 2020 can be found in
the Appendix of this document, the below is a reconciliation from these FRS 102 ﬁnancial
statements to IFRS.
Balance sheet as at 2 February 2020
FRS 102
£’000

IFRS 16
£’000

Assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Current tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents

11,023
3,569
205
8,590

—
—
—
—

Total current assets

23,387

—

IFRS 15 Deferred tax
£’000
£’000

IFRS
£’000

146
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

11,169
3,569
205
8,590

146

—

23,533

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Right-of-use assets
Deferred tax assets

4,488
3,068
—
1,244

(73)
—
22,971
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
201

4,415
3,068
22,971
1,445

Total non-current assets

8,800

22,898

—

201

31,899

Total assets

32,187

22,898

146

201

55,432

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Borrowings

11,647
23
17,778

(944)
5,279
—

146
—
—

—
—
—

10,849
5,302
17,778

Total current liabilities

29,448

4,335

146

—

33,929

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Other lease liability provisions

7
2,091

18,934
(8)

—
—

—
—

18,941
2,083

Total non-current liabilities

2,098

18,926

—

—

21,024

31,546

23,261

146

—

54,953

Total liabilities
NET ASSETS

641

(363)

—

201

479

Issued capital and reserves
Share capital
Retained earnings

42
599

—
(363)

—
—

—
201

42
437

TOTAL EQUITY

641

(363)

—

201

479
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Income statement for the 52 weeks ended 2 February 2020
FRS 102
£’000

IFRS 16
£’000

IFRS
£’000

—
—

—
—

85,528
(32,068)

—
1,152
(511)
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

53,460
(48,054)
(9,165)
(3,201)

(7,602)
(18)

641
(1,701)

—
—

—
—

(6,961)
(1,719)

Proﬁt before tax
Taxation

(7,620)
142

(1,060)
—

—
—

—
201

(8,680)
343

Proﬁt for the period

(7,478)

(1,060)

—

—

(8,337)

—

—

—

201

Revenue
Cost of sales

85,528
(32,068)

Gross proﬁt
Administrative expenses
Exceptional expenses
Distribution expenses

53,460
(49,207)
(8,654)
(3,201)

Proﬁt from operations
Finance expense

Other comprehensive income
Total other comprehensive income
Total other comprehensive income

—
(7,478)

—
—

IFRS 15 Deferred tax
£’000
£’000

—
(1,060)

—
(8,337)

The IFRS 16 adjustments arise from the inclusion of right of use assets and lease liabilities on
the balance sheet as required by IFRS 16. This impacts the proﬁt and loss account by
replacing the rent charge in administrative expenses with an amortisation charge in
administration expenses and a ﬁnance charge for the unwinding of the discount on the lease
liabilities.
The IFRS 15 adjustments arise from the requirement to show inventory sold with a right to
return in inventory
The deferred tax adjustment shows the deferred tax impact of the above adjustments.
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PART 4
FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
The table below sets out the information incorporated by reference into this document
*

the audited consolidated ﬁnancial statements of the Company for the ﬁnancial period ended
30 September 2018, which are set out in pages 23 to 72 (inclusive) of Electra Private
Equity PLC’s Annual Report and Financial Statements dated 30 September 2018;

*

the audited consolidated ﬁnancial statements of the Company for the ﬁnancial period ended
30 September 2019, which are set out in pages 16 to 48 (inclusive) of Electra Private
Equity PLC’s Annual Report and Financial Statements dated 30 September 2019;

*

the audited consolidated ﬁnancial statements of the Company for the ﬁnancial period ended
30 September 2020, which are set out in pages 25 to 60 (inclusive) of Electra Private
Equity PLC’s Annual Report and Financial Statements dated 30 September 2020; and

*

the unaudited consolidated ﬁnancial statements of 30 September 2021 of the Company for
the 12 month period ended 30 September 2021, which are set out in pages 11 to 22
(inclusive) of Electra Private Equity PLC’s unaudited second interim report to 30 September
2021.

A copy of each of the documents listed above is available for inspection on the Unbound website at
https://unboundgroupplc.com/. Information that is itself incorporated by reference in the above
documents is not incorporated by reference into this document. It should be noted that, except as
set forth above, no other portion of the above documents are incorporated by reference into this
document and those portions which are not speciﬁcally incorporated by reference in this document
are either not relevant for Unbound Shareholders or the relevant information is included elsewhere
in this document.
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PART 5
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
1.

Responsibility statement
The Company (whose registered ofﬁce appears on page 7) and the Directors (whose names
and functions appear on page 7 of this document) accept responsibility, both individually and
collectively for the information contained in this document. To the best of the knowledge and
belief of the Company and of the Directors, each of whom has taken all reasonable care to
ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this document is in accordance
with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

2.
2.1

The Company and the Group
The Company was incorporated in England and Wales on 15 July 1935 with registered
number 00303062 under the Companies Act 1929 as a private company limited by shares
with the name Cables Investment Trust Limited.

2.2

The Company changed its name from Cables Investment Trust Limited to Electra Investment
Trust Limited on 8 July 1975, from Electra Investment Trust PLC to Electra Private
Equity PLC on 10 February 2006 and from Electra Private Equity PLC to Unbound Group plc
on 21 January 2022. The Company is governed by, and its securities were created under,
the Act.

2.3

The Company was re-registered from an old public company to a public limited company on
6 November 1981.

2.4

The Company is domiciled in the United Kingdom. Its registered ofﬁce is located at
17 Old Park Lane, London, United Kingdom, W1K 1QT. The telephone number of the
Company’s registered ofﬁce is +44 (0)20 3874 8300 and its Legal Entity Identiﬁer is
213800MPTI1NH8POK154.

2.5

The Company’s auditors for the period covered by the last audited ﬁnancial statements are
Deloitte LLP of 1 New Street Square, London EC4A 3HQ, who are members of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales. At the Annual General Meeting in which the
accounts for the period ending 30 January 2021 are received, it is expected that RSM UK
Audit LLP, who are the current auditors of Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited, will be appointed
as the auditors of the Company.

2.6

On Admission, the Company will have no administrative, management and supervisory
bodies other than the Board, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit and Risk Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Disclosure Committee, all of which have no members
other than Directors.

2.7

The Company’s website address, at which the information required by Rule 26 of the AIM
Rules for Companies can be found, is https://unboundgroupplc.com/.

2.8

The Company’s principal activity is that of a holding company. It is the ultimate parent
company of the Group and has the subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings set out below,
all of which are directly or indirectly wholly owned by the Company and have their registered
ofﬁce at either 2 Peel Road, Skelmersdale, Lancashire, WN8 9PT or 17 Old Park Lane,
London, W1K 1QT.
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Country of
incorporation

Name
Hotter MIPCO Limited(1)
Galaxy Topco Limited(1)
Galaxy Midco Limited(1)
Galaxy Bidco Limited
Hotter Group Holdings Limited(1)
Hotter Holdings Limited(1)
Unbound Holdco Limited
Beaconsﬁeld Group Holdings
Limited(1)
Hotter Limited
Unbound Holdings Limited
Unbound Limited
Comfort Concept Limited*
Mondays (Topco) Limited(2)
Tuesdays (Midco) Limited(2)
Electra Private Equity Limited

Principal activity

Percentage
of ownership
interest
(direct and
indirect)

England
England
England
England
England
England
England

and
and
and
and
and
and
and

Wales
Wales
Wales
Wales
Wales
Wales
Wales

Holding
Holding
Holding
Holding
Holding
Holding
Holding

company
company
company
company
company
company
company

100
100
100
100
100
100
100

England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England

and
and
and
and
and
and
and
and

Wales
Wales
Wales
Wales
Wales
Wales
Wales
Wales

Holding company
Trading company
Holding company
Trading company
Dormant company
Holding company
Holding company
Investment holding
company

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

—————

Notes:
(1) Denotes companies that will be dormant from Admission and will be wound up during the course of 2022.
(2) Holding companies that were formerly part of the Fridays group and will be wound up during the course of 2022.

3.
3.1

Share capital of the Company
As at 30 September 2021, the issued share capital of the Company was £9,743,332.25
divided into 38,973,329 ordinary shares of £0.25 each.

3.2

Since 30 September 2021, the Company has, as announced on 9 December 2021, issued a
total of 3,284,799 ordinary shares of £0.25 each in the Company to Hotter Management in
satisfaction of amounts due to them under the terms of the Hotter MIP, which has resulted in
Hotter Management holding 7.77 per cent. of the enlarged share capital of the Company.

3.3

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company’s issued share capital is £10,564,532.00
dividend into 42,258,128 ordinary shares of £0.25 each, which is expected to remain the
same at Admission.

3.4

As the Latest Practicable Date, the Company held no shares in treasury. No ordinary shares
in the Company have been issued other than as fully paid or credited as fully paid.

3.5

In keeping with the Act, there is no limit on the number of shares which the Company may
issue and this will remain the same pursuant to the Articles from Admission.

3.6

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no shares in the capital of the Company are under option
or have been agreed, conditionally or unconditionally, to be put under option.

3.7

As at the Latest Practicable Date:
(a)

there are no outstanding convertible securities, exchangeable securities or securities
with warrants issued by the Company;

(b)

the Company does not have any shares not representing capital;

(c)

there are no ordinary shares in the Company that are held by or on behalf of the
Company or by any of its Subsidiaries; and

(d)

there are no acquisition rights and/or obligations over authorised but unissued share
capital of the Company or undertakings to increase the share capital of the Company.
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4.
4.1

Information about the Unbound Shares
The Unbound Shares are ordinary shares of £0.25 each in the capital of the Company. The
ISIN for the Unbound Shares is GB0003085445.

4.2

The legislation under which the Unbound Shares have been created is the Act and
regulations made under the Act. The Unbound Shares are denominated in pounds sterling.

4.3

The Unbound Shares are in registered form. They are capable of being held in certiﬁcated
form or in uncertiﬁcated form and traded on CREST. The records in respect of Unbound
Shares held in uncertiﬁcated form will be maintained by Euroclear.

4.4

Each Unbound Share is entitled on a pari passu basis with all other issued Unbound Shares
to share in any surplus in the event of liquidation of the Company.

4.5

The Unbound Shares have no redemption or conversion rights.

4.6

The Unbound Shares are freely transferable provided that such shares are fully paid, the
Company has no lien over such shares, the instrument of transfer is duly stamped, is in
favour of not more than four joint transferees and is in respect of only one class of shares.

4.7

The Unbound Shares are currently listed on the Ofﬁcial List and admitted to trading on the
Main Market, but will be delisted from the Ofﬁcial List and cease to trade on the Main Market
upon Admission. Application has been made for the Unbound Shares to be admitted to
trading on AIM. No application has been or is being made for the admission of the Unbound
Shares to listing or trading on any other stock exchange or securities market.

4.8

None of the Unbound Shares have been marketed or are being made available to the public
in whole or in part in conjunction with the application for Admission.

4.9

Further details of the rights attaching to the Unbound Shares in relation to attendance and
voting at general meetings, dividends rights and transferability of shares are set out in
paragraph 7 of this Part 5 (Additional Information).

5.
5.1

Mandatory bids, squeeze-out and sell-out rules relating to the Unbound Shares
The City Code applies to the Company. Under the City Code, if an acquisition of Unbound
Shares were to increase the aggregate holding of the acquirer and its concert parties to
shares carrying 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights in the Company, the acquirer and,
depending on the circumstances, its concert parties, would be required (except with the
consent of the Panel) to make a cash offer for all of the remaining Unbound Shares at a
price not less than the highest price paid for the Unbound Shares by the acquirer or its
concert parties during the previous 12 months.

5.2

This requirement would also be triggered by any acquisition of Unbound Shares by a person
holding (together with its concert parties) shares carrying between 30 and 50 per cent. of the
voting rights in the Company if the effect of such acquisition were to increase that person’s
percentage of the total voting rights of the Company.

5.3

Under the Act, if an offeror were to acquire 90 per cent. or more of the Unbound Shares
within the period speciﬁed by the Act, it could then compulsorily acquire the remaining
Unbound Shares. It would do so by sending a notice to the relevant Unbound Shareholders
telling them that it will compulsorily acquire their shares and then, six weeks later, it would
execute a transfer of the outstanding shares in its favour and pay the consideration to the
Company, which would hold such consideration on trust for such Unbound Shareholders.

5.4

The consideration offered to Unbound Shareholders whose Unbound Shares are compulsorily
acquired under the Act must, in general, be the same as the consideration that was available
under the relevant takeover offer, unless such Unbound Shareholders can show that the offer
value is unfair.

5.5

The Act also gives minority Unbound Shareholders a right to be bought out in certain
circumstances by an offeror who has made a takeover offer. If a takeover offer relates to all
the Unbound Shares and at any time before the end of the period within which the offer
could be accepted the offeror holds or has agreed to acquire not less than 90 per cent. of
the Unbound Shares, any holder of Unbound Shares to which such offer relates who has not
accepted the offer can by written communication to the offeror require it to acquire those
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Unbound Shares. The offeror would be required to give any Unbound Shareholder notice of
his right to be bought out within one month of that right arising. If a Unbound Shareholder
exercises its right to be bought out, the offeror is bound to acquire the relevant Unbound
Shares on the terms of the offer or on such other terms as may be agreed.
5.6

There have been no public takeover bids by third parties for all or any part of the Company’s
equity share capital during the last ﬁnancial year of the Company or the period up to and
including the Latest Practicable Date.

6.
6.1

Notiﬁcation of major holdings of Unbound Shares
As at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as is known to the Company, the following persons
held, directly or indirectly, a notiﬁable interest in the Company’s voting rights:
As at the Latest Practicable Date

Name
Witan Investment Trust plc
Fidelity International
Ian Watson
Aviva PLC
Crown Sigma UCITS

Number of
Unbound
Shares held

Percentage of
Unbound
Shares held

5,552,139
4,638,164
2,096,833
1,686,286
1,506,000

13.14
10.98
4.96
3.99
3.56

6.2

Where a person holds voting rights in the Company as shareholder or through direct or
indirect holdings of ﬁnancial instruments, then the person has an obligation to make a
notiﬁcation to the FCA and the Company of the percentage of voting rights held where that
percentage reaches, exceeds or falls below three per cent, or any whole percentage ﬁgure
above three per cent.

6.3

The requirement to notify also applies where a person is an indirect shareholder and can
acquire, dispose of or exercise voting rights in certain cases.

6.4

The Company is not aware of any arrangements, the operation of which may at a subsequent
date result in a change of control of the Company. In addition, there are no provisions of the
Articles which would have an effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of
the Company.

6.5

The persons in paragraph 6.1 above do not have voting rights in respect of the share capital
of the Company (issued or to be issued) which differ from any other Unbound Shareholder.

6.6

To the best of the knowledge of the Company, there are no persons who directly or indirectly
control the Company, where control means owning 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights
attaching to the share capital of the Company

6.7

Save as disclosed in paragraph 6.1 and paragraph 8.1 of this Part 5 (Additional Information),
the Company is not aware of any person who, directly or indirectly, has an interest (within the
meaning of Part VI of the Act) in the Unbound Shares or voting rights attaching to those
Unbound Shares which amounts or would, immediately following Admission, amount to 3 per
cent. or more of the Unbound Shares.

7.

Articles of Association
The Articles, which were adopted by a special resolution of the Company on 30 December
2021 to take effect on Admission, contain certain provisions, the material provisions of which
are set out below. This is a description of signiﬁcant rights and does not purport to be
complete or exhaustive.

7.1

Objects
Section 31 of the Act provides that the objects of a company are unrestricted unless any
restrictions are set out in its articles of association. There are no such restrictions in the
Articles and the objects of the Company are therefore unrestricted.
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7.2

Rights attaching to the Company’s shares
Voting rights
Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any shares:
(a)

on a show of hands:
(i)

every member who is present in person has one vote;

(ii)

every proxy present who has been duly appointed by one or more members
entitled to vote on the resolution has one vote, except if the proxy has been duly
appointed by more than one member entitled to vote on the resolution and is
instructed by one or more of those members to vote for the resolution and by one
or more others to vote against it, or is instructed by one or more of those
members to vote in one way and is given discretion as to how to vote by one or
more others (and wishes to use that discretion to vote in the other way) he has
one vote for and one vote against the resolution; and

(iii)

every corporate representative present who has been duly authorised by a
corporation has the same voting rights as the corporation would be entitled to,

(b)

on a poll every member present in person or by duly appointed proxy or corporate
representative has one vote for every share of which he is the holder or in respect or
which his appointment as proxy or corporate representative has been made; and

(c)

a member, proxy or corporate representative entitled to more than one vote need not, if
he votes, use all his votes or cast all the votes he uses the same way.

Joint holders
In the case of joint holders the vote of the senior who tenders a vote shall be accepted to
the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders and seniority shall be determined by the
order in which the names of the holders stand in the Register.
Dividends
The Company may by ordinary resolution declare dividends in accordance with the respective
rights of the members, but no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the
directors.
7.3

Variation of rights
If, at any time, the capital of the Company is divided into different classes of shares, the
rights attached to any class may be varied, either while the Company is a going concern or
during or in contemplation of a winding up:
(a)

in such manner (if any) as may be provided by those rights; or

(b)

in the absence of any such provision, with the consent in writing of the holders of threequarters in nominal value of the issued shares of that class (excluding any shares of
that class held as treasury shares), or with the sanction of a special resolution passed
at a separate meeting of the holders of the shares of that class,

but not otherwise. To every such separate meeting the provisions of the Articles relating to
general meetings shall apply, except that the necessary quorum shall be (i) at any such
meeting other than an adjourned meeting, two persons together holding or representing by
proxy at least one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of the class in question
(excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares); and (ii) at an adjourned
meeting, two persons holding shares of the class in question (other than treasury shares) or
his proxy.
7.4

Transfer of shares
Transfer of shares in certiﬁcated form
The instrument of transfer of a share in certiﬁcated form may be in any usual form or in any
other form which the directors approve and shall be executed by or on behalf of the
transferor and, where the share is not fully paid, by or on behalf of the transferee.
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Transfer of shares in uncertiﬁcated form
Where any class of shares is, for the time being, a participating security, title to shares of
that class which are recorded on an Operator register of members as being held in
uncertiﬁcated form, may be transferred by means of the relevant system concerned. The
transfer may not be in favour of more than four transferees.
7.5

7.6

Disclosure of interests in shares
If a member or any other person appearing to be interested in shares held by that member,
has been given a notice under section 793 of the Act and has failed in relation to any shares
(the “default shares”) to give the Company the information thereby required within 14 days
from the date of giving the notice or 28 days where the default shares represent at least
0.25 per cent of their class, the following sanctions shall apply, unless the directors otherwise
determine:
(a)

the member shall not be entitled in respect of the default shares to be present or to
vote (either in person or by representative or proxy) at any general meeting or at any
separate meeting of the holders of any class of shares or on any poll; and

(b)

where the default shares represent at least 0.25 per cent of their class (calculated
exclusive of treasury shares):
(i)

any dividend payable in respect of the shares shall be withheld by the Company,
which shall not have any obligation to pay interest on it, and the member shall not
be entitled to elect, pursuant to the Articles, to receive shares instead of that
dividend; and

(ii)

no transfer, other than an excepted transfer, of any shares held by the member in
certiﬁcated form shall be registered unless:
(1)

the member is not himself in default as regards supplying the information
required; and

(2)

the member proves to the satisfaction of the directors that no person in
default as regards supplying such information is interested in any of the
shares the subject of the transfer.

General meetings
Notice of annual general meetings and other general meetings
An annual general meeting and all other general meetings of the Company shall be called by
at least such minimum period of notice as is prescribed or permitted under the Act. The
notice shall specify the place (including any satellite meeting place or places), the date and
the time of the meeting and the general nature of business being transacted and, in the case
of an annual general meeting, shall specify the meeting as such. The notice shall set out the
text of all resolutions to be considered by the meeting and shall state in each case whether
it is proposed as an ordinary resolution or as a special resolution. It shall also specify
whether arrangements have been put in place to enable participation in the general meeting
by means of electronic facility or facilities, or by means of a satellite meeting place or places.
Quorum
No business shall be transacted at any meeting unless a quorum is present. Two persons
entitled to vote upon the business to be transacted, each being a member or a proxy for a
member or a duly authorised representative of a corporation which is a member (including for
this purpose two persons who are proxies or corporate representatives of the same member),
shall be a quorum.

7.7

Directors’ appointments, interests, retirements and removals
Number of directors
Unless otherwise determined by the Company by ordinary resolution the number of directors
(disregarding alternate directors) shall not be less than three nor more than ﬁfteen.
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Appointments
Directors may be appointed by ordinary resolution.
Retirements
At each annual general meeting, each director who was appointed since the last annual
general meeting, was in ofﬁce at the time of the previous annual general meeting, or is a
non-executive director and has held ofﬁce for a continuous period of nine years or more at
the time of the meeting, must retire from ofﬁce.
Removal
In addition to any power of removal under the Act, the Company may, by special resolution,
remove a director before the expiration of his period of ofﬁce and, subject to the Articles,
may, by ordinary resolution, appoint another person who is willing to act as a director, and is
permitted by law to do so, to be a director instead of him. A person so appointed shall be
treated, for the purposes of determining the time at which he or any other director is to retire,
as if he had become a director on the day on which the director in whose place he is
appointed, was last appointed or reappointed a director.
7.8

Alternate director
Any director (other than an alternate director) may appoint any other director, or any other
person approved by resolution of the directors and willing to act and permitted by law to do
so, to be an alternate director and may remove an alternate director appointed by him from
his appointment as alternate director.

7.9

Board meetings
Calling and notice of board meetings
Notice of a board meeting may be given to a director personally, or by telephone, or sent in
hard copy form to him at a postal address in the United Kingdom notiﬁed by him to the
Company for this purpose, or sent in electronic form to such electronic address (if any) as
may for the time being be notiﬁed by him to the Company for that purpose. It shall not be
necessary to give notice of a board meeting to a director who is for the time being absent
from the United Kingdom unless he has requested that notices of board meetings shall
during his absence be given in hard copy form or in electronic form to him at a postal
address or electronic address notiﬁed by him to the Company for that purpose. Such notices,
however, need not be given any earlier than notices given to directors not so absent. A
director may waive notice of any board meeting and any such waiver may be retrospective.
Proceedings
Questions arising at a board meeting shall be decided by a majority of votes. In case of an
equality of votes, the chair of the meeting shall (unless the chair is not entitled to vote on the
resolution in question) have a second or casting vote. A director who is also an alternate
director shall be entitled in the absence of such director’s appointor to a separate vote on
behalf of such appointor in addition to such director’s own vote, and an alternate director who
is appointed by two or more directors shall be entitled to a separate vote on behalf of each
appointor in such appointor’s absence.
Quorum
The quorum may be ﬁxed by the directors, but it must not be less than two individual
directors. A board meeting at which a quorum is present may exercise all the powers and
discretions exercisable by the Board.
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7.10

Interests of directors
Subject to the provisions of the Articles, a director shall not vote at a meeting of the directors
on any resolution concerning a matter in which hehas, directly or indirectly, a material interest
(other than an interest in shares, debentures or other securities of, or otherwise in or through,
the Company), (and he shall not count in the quorum at any meeting in relation to any
resolution on which he is debarred from voting) unless his interest arises only because the
case falls within one or more of the following sub-paragraphs:
(a)

the resolution relates to the giving to him of a guarantee, security, or indemnity in
respect of money lent to, or an obligation incurred by him for the beneﬁt of, the
Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings;

(b)

the resolution relates to the giving to a third party of a guarantee, security, or indemnity
in respect of a debt obligation of the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings for
which the director has assumed responsibility in whole or part and whether alone or
jointly with others under a guarantee or indemnity or by the giving of security;

(c)

the resolution relates to the giving to him of any other indemnity which is on
substantially the same terms as indemnities given or to be given to all of the other
directors and/or to the funding by the Company of his expenditure on defending
proceedings or the doing by the Company of anything to enable him to avoid incurring
such expenditure where all other directors have been given or are to be given
substantially the same arrangements;

(d)

any proposal concerning any insurance which the Company is empowered to purchase
and/or maintain for or for the beneﬁt of any directors of the Company or for persons
who include Directors of the Company provided that for the purposes of this
paragraph insurance shall mean only insurance against liability incurred by a Director in
respect of any act or omission by him as referred to in article 112 or any other
insurance which the company is empowered to purchase and/or maintain for or for the
beneﬁt of any groups of persons consisting of or including directors of the Company;

(e)

any proposal concerning the adoption, modiﬁcation or operation of a superannuation
fund or retirement beneﬁts scheme or employees’ share scheme under which he may
beneﬁt and which has been approved by or is subject to and conditional upon approval
by the Board of Inland Revenue for taxation purposes; and/or

(f)

the resolution relates to a transaction or arrangement with any other company in which
he is interested, directly or indirectly (whether as director or shareholder or otherwise),
provided that he together with persons connected with him within the meaning of
sections 252-256 of the Act is not the holder of or beneﬁcially interested in 1 per cent.
or more of any class of the equity share capital of that company and not entitled to
exercise 1 per cent. or more of the voting rights available to members of the relevant
company and any such interest being deemed for the purpose of this article, material
interest in all circumstances (and for the purpose of calculating the said percentage
there shall be disregarded (i) any shares held by the director as a bare or custodian
trustee and in which he has no beneﬁcial interest; (ii) any shares comprised in any
authorised unit trust scheme in which the director is interested only as a unit holder;
and (iii) any shares of that class held as treasury shares).

Where proposals are under consideration concerning the appointment (including the ﬁxing or
varying of terms of appointment) of two or more directors to ofﬁces or employments with the
Company or any body corporate in which the Company is interested, the proposals may be
divided and considered in relation to each director separately and (provided he is not for any
reason precluded from voting) each of the directors concerned shall be entitled to vote and
be counted in the quorum in respect of each resolution except that concerning his own
appointment.
7.11

Directors’ fees and expenses
Fees
Until otherwise determined by the Company by ordinary resolution, there shall be paid to the
directors who do not hold executive ofﬁce (other than alternate directors) such fees for their
services in the ofﬁce of director as the directors may determine and, subject to
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paragraph (2) of this article, not exceeding in the aggregate an annual sum as the Company
may by ordinary resolution decide, divided between the directors as they may determine, or,
failing such determination, equally, except that any director holding ofﬁce for part only of the
period in respect of which such remuneration is payable shall be entitled only to rank in such
division for a proportion of remuneration related to the period during which he has held
ofﬁce. The fees shall be deemed to accrue from day to day and shall be distinct from and
additional to any remuneration or other beneﬁts which may be paid or provided to any
director pursuant to any other provision of the Articles.
Any director who holds any other ofﬁce in the Company or who serves on any committee of
the directors, or who performs, or undertakes to perform, services which the directors
consider go beyond the ordinary duties of a director may be paid such additional
remuneration (whether by way of ﬁxed sum, bonus, commission, participation in proﬁts or
otherwise) as the directors may determine, which shall be charged as part of the Company’s
ordinary working expenses.
Expenses
The directors may also be paid all reasonable expenses properly incurred by them in
connection with their attendance at meetings of the directors or of committees of the
directors or general meetings or separate meetings of the holders of any class of shares or
of debentures of the Company and any reasonable expenses properly incurred by them
otherwise in connection with the exercise of their powers and the discharge of their
responsibilities in relation to the Company.
7.12

7.13

Indemnity of ofﬁcers
Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Company may:
(a)

indemnify to any extent any person who is or was a director, or a director of any
associated company, directly or indirectly (including by funding any expenditure incurred
or to be incurred by him) against any loss or liability, whether in connection with any
proven or alleged negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust by him or
otherwise, in relation to the Company or any associated company; and/or

(b)

indemnify to any extent any person who is or was a director of an associated company
that is a trustee of an occupational pension scheme, directly or indirectly (including by
funding any expenditure incurred or to be incurred by him) against any liability incurred
by him in connection with the company’s activities as trustee of an occupational pension
scheme; and/or

(c)

purchase and maintain insurance for any person who is or was a director, or a director
of any associated company, against any loss or liability or any expenditure he may
incur, whether in connection with any proven or alleged negligence, default, breach of
duty or breach of trust by him or otherwise, in relation to the Company or any
associated company.

Borrowing powers
Subject to the Act and the Articles, the directors may exercise all the Company’s powers to:
(a)

borrow money on such terms as the directors may decide;

(b)

mortgage or charge all or any of the Company’s undertaking, property and assets
(present and future) and uncalled capital;

(c)

issue debentures and other securities; and

(d)

give security, either outright or as collateral security, for any debt, liability or obligation of
the Company or of any third party.

Any debentures or other securities can be issued on such terms that they are assignable,
free from any equities between the Company and the person to whom the debentures or
other securities are issued.
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8.
8.1

Directors’ and other
The interests of the
section 252 of the
immediately following

interests
Directors, or of persons connected with them (within the meaning of
Act), as at the Latest Practicable Date, and as expected to be
Admission are as follows:
Immediately following Admission

Director

Number of Unbound
Shares

Percentage of issued
share capital

19,939
279,057
488,586
2,096,833
30,000

0.07
0.66
1.16
4.96
0.07

Paul Goodson
Neil Johnson
Gavin Manson
Ian Watson
Linda Wilding
8.2

The Directors referred to in paragraph 8.1 above do not have voting rights in respect of the
share capital of the Company (issued or to be issued) which differ from any other Unbound
Shareholder.

8.3

Save as disclosed in paragraph 8.1 above:

9.
9.1

(a)

no Director has any interest in the share capital of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries nor does any member of his or her family (within the meaning set out in
the AIM Rules for Companies) have any such interest, whether beneﬁcial or nonbeneﬁcial; and

(b)

no Director has any interest in any transactions which are or were unusual in their
nature or conditions or which are or were signiﬁcant to the business of the Group and
which were effected by any member of the Group in the current or immediately
preceding ﬁnancial year or which were effected during an earlier ﬁnancial year and
which remain in any respect outstanding or unperformed.

Additional information on the Directors
In addition to directorships of the Company, the Directors currently hold or have held the
following directorships or are currently or have been partners in the following partnerships
within the ﬁve years prior to the date of this document:
Current directorships/
partnerships

Previous directorships/
partnerships

Paul Goodson

Electra Private Equity Limited
DX (Group) plc
Swale Academies Trus
Shipwrights Lee (Management
Company) Limited
Minerva Invest

Coda Investments (Timperley)
Limited (dissolved by members’
voluntary liquidation on
2 September 2020)

Neil Johnson

Hostmore plc (Chairman)
Electra Private Equity Limited
Hotter MIPCO Limited
QinetiQ Group plc (Chairman)
BGF Group PLC

Business Growth Fund Limited
(resigned 23 May 2017)
C1 (International Consulting)
Limited (resigned 03 May 2021)
Centaur Media plc (resigned
30 June 2019)
E2V Technologies PLC (resigned
28 March 2017)
Electra General Partner Number
One Limited (dissolved
14 August 2020)
Electra Group Limited (dissolved
29 September 2020)

Director
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Director

Current directorships/
partnerships

Previous directorships/
partnerships
Galaxy Bidco Limited (resigned
20 June 2019)
Galaxy Midco Limited (resigned
20 June 2019)
Galaxy Topco Limited (resigned
25 June 2019)
Motability Operations
Group PLC (resigned 01 April
2019)
Synthomer PLC (resigned
16 December 2020)

Daniel Lampard

Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited
Comfort Concept Limited
Hotter Limited
Beaconsﬁeld Group Holdings
Limited
Hotter Holdings Limited
Hotter Group Holdings Limited
Galaxy Bidco Limited
Galaxy Midco Limited
Galaxy Topco Limited
Alderley Playing Fields Limited
(THE)
Ryleys School Limited

Glanbia Performance Nutrition
(resigned August 2021)
ao.com (resigned
November 2019)
MAG (Airports Group) (resigned
December 2017)
Cherry Tree Trust (resigned
15 October 2021)

Gavin Manson

Electra Private
Equity Limited
Hotter MIPCO Limited
Unbound Holdco Limited
Hostmore plc
Hostmore Group Limited
Tuesdays (Midco) Limited
Mondays (Topco) Limited
Larbeg Limited

Adjustoform Products Limited
(resigned 05 May 2021)
AE Arthur Limited (dissolved
02 April 2019)
Davra Limited (resigned 14 April
2021)
Electra EBT Limited (dissolved
16 November 2019)
EFPEP Syndications Limited
(dissolved 16 November 19)
EIT Hill Limited (dissolved
16 November 2019)
Electra General Partner Number
One Limited (dissolved
14 August 2020)
Electra Group Limited (dissolved
29 September 2020)
Electra Partners Advisers (Asia)
Limited (dissolved 16 November
2019)
Electra Securities Limited
(dissolved 26 October 2019)
EPEP Syndications Limited
(dissolved 03 December 2019)
Fashion Futures Limited
(dissolved 18 December 2018)
Galaxy Bidco Limited (resigned
26 August 2021)
Galaxy Midco Limited (resigned
26 August 2021)
Galaxy Topco Limited (resigned
26 August 2021)
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Director

Current directorships/
partnerships

Previous directorships/
partnerships
Wednesdays (Bidco) Limited
(resigned 18 November 2021)
Thursdays (UK) Limited
(resigned 18 November 2021)
Thursdays (Holdings) Limited
(resigned 18 November 2021)
New Kingsway Nominees
Limited (resigned 16 November
2019)
Kingsway Nominees Limited
(resigned 16 November 2019)
Hotter Group Holdings Limited
(resigned 26 August 2021)
Hotter Holdings Limited
(resigned 26 August 2021)
Beaconsﬁeld Group
Holdings Ltd (resigned
26 August 2021)
Hotter Limited (resigned
26 August 2021)
Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Ltd
(resigned 26 August 2021)
Comfort Concept Ltd (resigned
26 August 2021)
Sentinel Performance
Solutions Ltd (resigned 14 April
2021)
Sentinel Performance Solutions
Group Ltd (resigned 14 April
2021)
Pandamarsh ltd (resigned
14 April 2021)
Salamander (Engineering) ltd
(resigned 14 April 2021)
Zebramash ltd (resigned 14 April
2021)
Horizon Holdco Ltd (resigned
19 October 2018)

Baroness Kate Rock

Suki Thompson

Keller Group plc
Wrackleford Farms Ltd
The Prince’s Countryside Fund
Centre for Data Ethics and
Innovation (Government public
appointment)
Gateley (Holdings) Plc
Gateley EBT Limited
Let’s Reset Group Limited
Addidi Angels LLP
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Real World Technologies Ltd
(resigned 13 January 2020)
Imagination Technologies plc
(resigned 2 November 2017)
First Group Enterprises Ltd
(resigned 31 January 2017)
Macmillan Cancer Support
(ﬁnished term in 2019 as nonpaid board trustee and
fundraising & marketing
committee member)

Current directorships/
partnerships

Previous directorships/
partnerships

Ian Watson

Unbound Holdco Limited
Hotter MIPCO Limited
Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited
Comfort Concept Limited
Hotter Limited
Beaconsﬁeld Group Holdings
Limited
Hotter Holdings Limited
Hotter Group Holdings Limited
Galaxy Bidco Limited
Galaxy Midco Limited
Galaxy Topco Limited

James Southall Limited
(resigned 2019)
Global Chair Components
(resigned February 2020)
Rockingham House Limited
(resigned 1 April 2019)
Glochair Holdings Ltd (resigned
10 March 2020)
Start-Rite Classics Limited
(resigned 24 January 2019)
Start-Rite Shoes Limited
(resigned 24 January 2019)
Start-Rite Retail Limited
(resigned 24 January 2019)
Domani Retail Ltd (resigned
24 January 2019)

Linda Wilding

Skagen Conscience Capital
Family Ofﬁce
Skagen Impact Ltd
BMO Commercial Property
Trust plc REIT
Wesleyan Assurance Society
Financial Services
Tangley Trust Charity
Guildford Education Partnership
Governors for Schools
Chantry Quarry Management
Company Limited

UDG Healthcare plc (resigned
2021)
Touchstone Innovations plc
(Resigned 2017)
Hg Capital Partners Private
Equity GP (resigned 2017)
Guildford Educational
Partnerships Multi Academy
Trust (resigned as trustee in
2021)
SCCL3 Limited (resigned
8 March 2018)
SCCL4 RO Limited
(28 September 2017)
Skagen RO Limited (dissolved
by members’ voluntary
liquidation on 8 October 2019)

Director

9.2

Paul Goodson was a director of Coda Investments (Timperley) Limited when it was dissolved
by a solvent members’ voluntary liquidation on 2 September 2020. Coda Investments
(Timperley) Limited was a special purpose vehicle (SPV) incorporated for a property
development project and was liquidated upon the project completing.

9.3

Ian Watson was a director of Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited when it entered into a CVA with
its creditors in August 2020, as a result of challenges faced by Hotter during the early stages
of the COVID-19 pandemic.

9.4

Linda Wilding was a director of Skagen RO Limited when it was dissolved by a solvent
members’ voluntary liquidation on 8 October 2019. Skagen RO Limited was a family ofﬁce
subsidiary that was dissolved as a part of an internal group reorganisation.

9.5

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has:
(a)

any unspent convictions in relations to indictable offences;

(b)

has been made bankrupt or has made an individual voluntary arrangement with
creditors or suffered the appointment of a receiver over any of his assets;

(c)

been a director of a company at the time of, or within 12 months preceding the date of,
that company being the subject of a receivership, compulsory liquidation, creditors’
voluntary liquidation, administration, company voluntary arrangement or any composition
or arrangement with its creditors generally or any class of its creditors;
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(d)

been a partner of a partnership at the time of, or within 12 months preceding the date
of, that partnership being placed into compulsory liquidation or administration or being
entered into a partnership voluntary arrangement nor in that time have the assets of any
such partnership or such Director been the subject of a receivership; and

(e)

been subject to any public criticism by any statutory or regulatory authority (including a
recognised professional body) nor has been disqualiﬁed by a court from acting as
director of a company or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any
company;

9.6

Save as set out in paragraph 10 below and save in their capacities as persons legally and/or
beneﬁcially interested in Unbound Shares, none of the Directors has any potential conﬂicts of
interest between his or her duties to the Company and his or her private interests or other
duties.

9.7

There are no outstanding loans granted by any member of the Group to any of the Directors
nor has any guarantee been provided by any member of the Group for their beneﬁt.

9.8

Each of the Directors has a statutory duty under the Act to avoid conﬂicts of interests with
the Company and to disclose the nature and extent of any such interest to the Board. Under
the Articles of Association and, as permitted by the Act, the Board may authorise any matter
which would otherwise involve a Director breaching this duty to avoid conﬂicts of interest and
may attach to any such authorisation such conditions and/or restrictions as the Board deems
appropriate (including in respect of the receipt of information or restrictions on participation at
certain Board meetings), in accordance with the Articles of Association.

10.
10.1

Directors’ service agreements, letters of appointment and remuneration
The Executive Directors, Ian Watson and Daniel Lampard, have entered into the following
service agreements with the Company, conditional upon Admission:
(a)

Ian Watson (proposed Chief Executive Ofﬁcer) entered into a service agreement
(conditional on Admission) with the Company on 13 January 2022. Ian will receive an
annual base salary of £325,000 and this will be reviewed by the Board annually. Ian will
also be entitled to receive an annual bonus of up to 100 per cent. of base salary
subject to achieving certain performance objectives set annually in advance by the
Board and satisfying other conditions as may be decided by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time. Any bonus payments will not be treated as a part of
pensionable salary. The service agreement can be terminated immediately by the
Company serving notice and undertaking to pay Ian in lieu of notice within 14 days of
such termination. The service agreement can be terminated without notice or payment
in lieu of notice in certain prescribed circumstances. The speciﬁc grounds for summary
dismissal include for example misconduct, persistent breaches of the service
agreement, bankruptcy, a criminal charge or conviction (other than minor motor
offences), acts dishonestly relating to the Company and disqualiﬁcation as a director.
Other than entitlement to notice and accrued but untaken holiday pay on termination,
the service agreement does not provide for any payment to be given to Ian Watson
upon termination of his appointment; and

(b)

Daniel Lampard (proposed Chief Finance Ofﬁcer) entered into a service agreement
(conditional on Admission) with the Company on 13 January 2022. Daniel will receive
an annual base salary of £225,000 and this will be reviewed by the Board annually.
Daniel will also be entitled to receive an annual bonus of up to 100 per cent. of base
salary subject to achieving certain performance objectives set annually in advance by
the Board and satisfying other conditions as may be decided by the Remuneration
Committee from time to time. Any bonus payments will not be treated as a part of
pensionable salary. The service agreement can be terminated immediately by the
Company serving notice and undertaking to pay Daniel in lieu of notice within 14 days
of such termination. The service agreement can be terminated without notice or
payment in lieu of notice in certain prescribed circumstances. The speciﬁc grounds for
summary dismissal include for example misconduct, persistent breaches of the service
agreement, bankruptcy, a criminal charge or conviction (other than minor motor
offences), acts dishonestly relating to the Company and disqualiﬁcation as a director.
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Other than entitlement to notice and accrued but untaken holiday pay on termination,
the service agreement does not provide for any payment to be given to Daniel Lampard
upon termination of his appointment.
10.2

The following letters of appointment have been entered into between the Non-Executive
Directors and the Company:
(a)

conditional and commencing from Admission, a letter of amendment dated 24 January
2022, amending Neil Johnson’s letter of appointment as executive Chairman of the
Company dated 18 April 2016 (as further amended from time to time), pursuant to
which Neil Johnson is to be appointed as the non-executive Chairman of the Company
with effect from Admission, the appointment being terminable by either party on one
month’s written notice, at an annual fee (exclusive of VAT) of £120,000;

(b)

conditional and commencing from Admission, a letter of amendment dated 24 January
2022, amending Paul Goodson’s letter of appointment as a Non-Executive Director
dated 2 June 2016 pursuant to which Paul Goodson is to be appointed as a NonExecutive Director, the Senior Independent Director and the Chair of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company, the appointment being terminable by either party on one
month’s written notice, at an annual fee (exclusive of VAT) of £50,000;

(c)

conditional and commencing from Admission, a letter of resignation dated 24 January
2022 pursuant to which Gavin Manson will resign as Chief Financial and Operating
Ofﬁcer and Executive Director of the Company and a letter of appointment dated
24 January 2022 pursuant to which Gavin Manson is to be appointed as a NonExecutive Director of the Company with effect from Admission, the appointment being
terminable by either party on one months’ written notice, at an annual fee (exclusive of
VAT) of £40,000;

(d)

a letter of appointment dated 24 October 2021 pursuant to which Baroness Kate Rock
was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company effective from 1 November
2021, the appointment being terminable by either party on one month’s written notice, at
an annual fee (exclusive of VAT) of £40,000;

(e)

a letter of appointment dated 22 October 2021 pursuant to which Suki Thompson was
appointed as a non-executive director of the Company effective from 1 November 2021,
the appointment being terminable by either party on one month’s written notice, at an
annual fee (exclusive of VAT) of £40,000; and

(f)

conditional and commencing from Admission, a letter of amendment dated 24 January
2022, amending Linda Wilding’s letter of appointment dated 18 November, pursuant to
which Linda Wilding is to be appointed as a Non-Executive Director and the Chair of
the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company, the appointment being terminable by
either party on one month’s written notice, at an annual fee (exclusive of VAT) of
£45,000.

10.3

Save as disclosed in paragraphs 10.1 and 10.2 of this Part 5 (Additional Information), there
are no service contracts or letters of appointment, existing or proposed, between any Director
and any Group Company which provides for beneﬁts on termination of employment.

10.4

The aggregate remuneration paid (including beneﬁts in kind) to the Directors by the Company
in respect of the year ended 30 September 2020 was approximately £845,000. It is estimated
that the aggregate remuneration and beneﬁts in kind payable to the Directors by the
Company in respect of the current ﬁnancial period for the 16 months ending 30 January
2022 (under the arrangements in force at the date of this document) will be approximately
£8.04 million (which includes the Unbound Shares issued to Neil Johnson and Gavin Manson
under the Company’s Share of Value Plan which is replaced by the Unbound LTIP from
Admission).

10.5

From Admission, it is expected that the aggregate ﬁxed remuneration to be paid to the
Directors will be £885,000, with the fees payable to the Non-Executive Directors having being
reduced from £410,000 to £335,000 per annum, which is estimated to be the amount
payable to the Non-Executive Directors for the ﬁnancial year ending 30 January 2023.
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10.6

Each Director will stand for re-election at the next Annual General Meeting to be held in May
2022.

10.7

Since the Company’s last completed ﬁnancial year, which ended on 30 September 2020,
Stephen Welker and David Lis resigned from their positions as directors of the Company.

11.
11.1

Employees
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 490 employees of which 208 were employed in
managerial or production roles and 282 were employed in sales and distribution roles. Three
members of staff were employed outside the UK.

12.
12.1

Summary of Unbound LTIP
General
The Unbound LTIP will be adopted conditionally on Admission. The Unbound LTIP provides
for the grant of awards over Unbound Shares (“Awards”).
Awards under the Unbound LTIP may take the form of, or any combination of: (a) an option
to acquire Unbound Shares at no or nominal cost (“Option”); (b) a contingent right to receive
Unbound Shares (“Conditional Award”); or (c) a right to receive a cash payment calculated
by reference to the market value of a notional share (“Phantom Award”), at the discretion of
the Remuneration Committee.
Initially it is intended that Awards will be made in the form of Options.

12.2

Eligibility
All employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (including Executive Directors) will be
eligible to participate in the Unbound LTIP at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee.

12.3

Grant of Awards
Awards may be granted on any date which falls within the period of 42 days starting
on: (a) Admission; (b) the dealing day following the announcement of the Company’s results
for any period; (c) any day on which the Remuneration Committee resolves that
circumstances exist which justify the grant of Awards outside the periods referred to in
(a) and (b); or (d) the day following the lifting of any applicable dealing restrictions which
prevented the grant of the Award during any period referred to in (a) and (b) above. No
Award may be granted after the tenth anniversary of the Unbound LTIP’s adoption.
Awards may be granted on terms that vesting is conditional upon continued employment and
also upon the achievement of any performance conditions (“Performance Share Awards”).
Awards may also be granted on terms that vesting is conditional upon continued employment
but not conditional on the achievement of any performance conditions (“Restricted Share
Awards”). Awards may also be granted to an Executive Director where that Award is granted
as part of the compensation provided to that Executive Director on joining the Company to
compensate them for the loss of an award from their previous employment (“Buy-out
Awards”).

12.4

Vesting of Awards and exercise of Options
Performance Share Awards will vest subject to the satisfaction of any performance conditions,
whilst Restricted Share Awards will not be subject to satisfaction of performance conditions.
Vesting of all Awards will generally be subject to continued employment.
The Remuneration Committee will set the vesting date or dates for Awards when they are
granted which will normally be no earlier than the third anniversary of grant. Vesting of
Awards will also be conditional upon: (a) participants having complied with all regulatory and
legal requirements applicable to them; (b) participants accepting all relevant terms of the
Award, including, for example, in relation to the holding of Unbound Shares in a nominee
account after vesting; and (c) participants being free from any dealing restrictions.
The Remuneration Committee has the ﬂexibility to amend the vesting outcome of an Award
where it considers it appropriate to do so to reﬂect the wider performance of the Group, the
individual participant and/or outcomes for Unbound Shareholders over the vesting period.
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Once exercisable, Options may be exercised until the tenth anniversary of the date of grant
or such other shorter period determined by the Remuneration Committee when the Option is
granted.
Subject to any arrangements to give effect to a holding period, once a participant’s Award
has vested, and if relevant has been exercised, the relevant number of Unbound Shares (or
a relevant amount of cash in the case of Phantom Awards) will be transferred or issued to
the participant or their nominee not later than 30 days after any date on which the Award
vests. All Unbound Shares will carry the same rights as other shares of the Company (except
for entitlements arising before the date of acquisition by the individual).
12.5

Holding Period
The Remuneration Committee has discretion to impose a post-vesting holding period (the
“Holding Period”) in respect of vested Unbound Shares or unexercised Options and will set
a Holding Period for all Awards made to Executive Directors (other than any buy-out where it
will remain a matter of discretion). The default position is that there will be no Holding Period
for Awards made to employees other than Executive Directors. For Awards made to
Executive Directors (other than any Buy-out Award where it will remain a matter of
discretion), the default position is that the Holding Period shall be set at one year. Where a
Holding Period is to apply, the Remuneration Committee may, at its discretion, set a different
length of Holding Period, or determine that it shall cease to apply to all or some of the
Shares or Options subject to it. During any Holding Period, a participant must retain and may
not transfer, assign, sell, pledge, charge or otherwise dispose of the Shares or Options which
are subject to the Holding Period (other than to satisfy any tax liabilities in connection with
the Award) unless the Remuneration Committee exercises its discretion subject to such terms
and conditions that the Remuneration Committee speciﬁes.
Where a Holding Period applies, the Remuneration Committee may impose such
requirements as it considers necessary or desirable to ensure compliance with the Holding
Period, including requiring a nominee to hold the relevant Unbound Shares for the participant.

12.6

Dividend Equivalents
The Remuneration Committee may in its discretion grant an Award on terms that the
participant will receive on vesting an amount which is equal in value to the aggregate
dividends that would have been paid on the Unbound Shares (or notional shares) in respect
of which the Award vests between the date of grant and the vesting date (“Dividend
Equivalents”). In the case of an Award granted as an Option, the Remuneration Committee
will have the discretion to determine that Dividend Equivalents shall accrue during any
Holding Period for such Options prior to exercise by the participant. Dividend Equivalents will
generally be satisﬁed in Unbound Shares, but the Remuneration Committee has discretion to
satisfy them in cash.

12.7

Leavers
If a participant leaves employment with a member of the Group, their Awards will generally
lapse on the date of cessation.
If a participant dies or leaves employment by reason of injury, disability, ill-health, redundancy,
sale of the business or company in which the participant is employed out of the Group or for
any other reason in the Remuneration Committee’s discretion (“Good Leavers”), Awards shall
continue and will vest (subject to the achievement of any performance conditions) on the
original vesting date or on such other date as the Remuneration Committee determines. The
number of Unbound Shares under an Award will ordinarily be reduced to reﬂect the
proportion of the vesting period or performance period that has elapsed at the date the
participant leaves.
The Remuneration Committee may at its discretion determine that Awards held by Good
Leavers shall not be subject to time pro-rating or be subject to pro-rating to a lesser extent if
it considers it appropriate in the circumstances.
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12.8

Change of Control
Awards may not vest early if there is a change of control of the Company. The number of
Unbound Shares in respect of which an Award will vest will generally be determined by the
Remuneration Committee by reference to the extent to which applicable performance or other
conditions have been met and the number of Unbound Shares under the Awards will
ordinarily be reduced to reﬂect the proportion of the vesting period or performance period
that has elapsed at the date of the change of control. The Remuneration Committee may at
its discretion determine that Awards shall not be subject to time pro-rating or be subject to
pro-rating to a lesser extent if it considers it appropriate in the circumstances. Where the
change of control is as a result of an internal reorganisation the Remuneration Committee
may determine at any time before an Award vests that some or all of the Unbound Shares
under an Award shall or may be exchanged for Unbound Shares in the acquiring company or
on such terms as the Remuneration Committee shall agree with that company.

12.9

Individual Grant Limits
The maximum aggregate value of Awards which a participant may be granted in respect of
any ﬁnancial year (other than Buy-out Awards) shall be no higher than 150 per cent. of
salary. There is no individual limit applicable to Buy-out Awards.
The value of Unbound Shares for the purposes of the above limit shall ordinarily be based
on the market value of Unbound Shares on the dealing day immediately preceding the grant
of an Award or by reference to a short averaging period ending on such dealing day.

12.10 Unbound LTIP Limits
No Award may be granted under the Unbound LTIP to the extent that the result of that grant
would be that the aggregate number of Unbound Shares which could be issued on the
realisation of that Award and any other Award granted at the same time, when added to the
number of Unbound Shares that have been or could be issued on the realisation of any
subsisting Awards granted on or after Admission but otherwise during the preceding 10 years
under the Unbound LTIP and any other employees’ share scheme established by the
Company, would exceed 10 per cent. of the ordinary share capital of the Company for the
time being in issue.
Treasury shares that are or may be transferred on the realisation of Awards will be treated for
this purpose as if they were or may be newly issued shares on such transfer and will count
towards the above limits for as long as institutional shareholder guidance recommends such
treatment.
The Unbound LTIP limits outlined above will begin to be calculated at the point of Admission
in relation to grants made on or after Admission and will not include the Unbound Shares
issued to Hotter Management immediately prior to Admission under the terms of the Hotter
MIP.
12.11 Transactions affecting the value of Awards
If the Remuneration Committee becomes aware that the Company is or is expected to be
affected by a demerger, distribution in specie or any other transaction which, in the opinion of
the Remuneration Committee, would affect the current or future value of any Awards, the
Remuneration Committee may adjust the number of Unbound Shares in respect of which an
Award will vest.
12.12 Malus and Clawback
The Remuneration Committee will have discretion to reduce or cancel any portion of an
unvested Award in certain circumstances. The Remuneration Committee may also apply
“clawback” in certain circumstances to reclaim, or require the repayment of, an Award that
has already vested. The vesting of Awards may be delayed where the Company is in the
process of determining the application of malus.
The circumstances in which these provisions may apply, include, but are not limited
to: (i) material ﬁnancial misstatement; (ii) signiﬁcant reputational damage; (iii) negligence or
gross misconduct by a participant; (iv) fraud effected by or with the knowledge of a
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participant; (v) breach of anti-bribery or anti-corruption laws by a participant; (vi) material
corporate failure; or (vii) where awards were granted or vested based on erroneous or
misleading data.
The Remuneration Committee may exercise its discretion to clawback Awards for up to three
years following vesting of an Award.
The recovery and withholding may be satisﬁed by way of a reduction in the amount of any
future bonus, subsisting award or future share awards and/or a requirement to make a cash
payment.
12.13 Amendments
The Remuneration Committee may amend the rules of the Unbound LTIP at any time,
provided that the provisions governing (i) eligibility requirements; (ii) the limitations on the
number of Unbound Shares subject to the Unbound LTIP; (iii) the maximum entitlement of a
participant under the Unbound LTIP; (iv) the basis for determining a participant’s entitlement
to Unbound Shares under the Unbound LTIP; (v) the terms of the Unbound Shares to be
provided under the Unbound LTIP; and (vi) the adjustment provisions of the Unbound LTIP,
cannot be altered to the advantage of eligible employees or participants without the prior
approval of shareholders in a general meeting (except for minor amendments to beneﬁt the
administration of the Unbound LTIP, to take account of a change in legislation or
developments in the law affecting the Unbound LTIP or to obtain or maintain favourable tax,
exchange control or regulatory treatment for participants in the Unbound LTIP or for any
member of the Group).
Additional schedules to the rules of the Unbound LTIP can be adopted for the purposes of
granting awards to employees or participants who are or may become primarily liable to tax
outside the United Kingdom on their remuneration. These schedules may vary the rules of
the Unbound LTIP to take account of any tax, exchange control, securities laws or other
regulations but the individual and overall limits will apply to these schedules as they apply to
the Unbound LTIP.
12.14 Beneﬁts not pensionable
Awards granted under the Unbound LTIP are not pensionable.
13.

UK Taxation
The following statements set out below are based on current United Kingdom tax law as
applied by the courts in England and Wales and HM Revenue & Customs (“HMRC”)
published practice (which may not be binding on HMRC) as at the date of this document,
both of which are subject to change, possibly with retrospective or retroactive effect. They
are intended as a general and non-exhaustive guide to certain United Kingdom tax
considerations of acquiring, holding or disposing of Unbound Shares. They apply only to
Unbound Shareholders who are resident in (and, in the case of an individual Unbound
Shareholders, domiciled or deemed domiciled) for United Kingdom tax purposes in (and only
in) the United Kingdom. It only addresses the position of Unbound Shareholders who hold
Unbound Shares as an investment (other than under tax exempt arrangements such as
Individual Savings Accounts) and who are the absolute beneﬁcial owners of their Unbound
Shares and any dividends paid on them. This summary assumes that the Finance Bill
ordered to be printed on 2 November 2021 is enacted without amendment.
The tax position of certain categories of Unbound Shareholders who are subject to special
rules, such as persons who acquire (or are deemed to acquire) their Unbound Shares in
connection with their (or another person’s) ofﬁce or employment, traders, brokers, dealers in
securities, insurance companies, banks, ﬁnancial institutions, investment companies, taxexempt organisations, persons connected with the Company or the Group, persons holding
Unbound Shares as part of hedging or conversion transactions, Unbound Shareholders who
are not domiciled or not resident in the UK, collective investment schemes, trusts and those
who hold 5 per cent. or more of the Unbound Shares, is not considered. Nor do the
following statements consider the tax position of any person holding investments in any
HMRC approved arrangements or schemes, including the enterprise investment scheme,
venture capital scheme or business expansion scheme.
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The comments set out below do not constitute legal or tax advice. Unbound Shareholders or
prospective Unbound Shareholders who are in any doubt as to their tax position, or who are
resident or otherwise subject to taxation in a jurisdiction outside the United Kingdom, should
consult their own professional advisers on the potential tax consequences of subscribing for,
purchasing, holding or selling Unbound Shares under the laws of their country and/or state of
citizenship, domicile or residence.
13.1

Taxation of Dividends
Withholding tax
Under current UK tax legislation, no tax is required to be withheld at source from dividend
payments made by the Company.
UK tax resident individual Unbound Shareholders
An individual Unbound Shareholder who is resident for tax purposes in the United Kingdom
will not be liable to United Kingdom income tax on any dividend which they receive from the
Company in respect of Unbound Shares to the extent that (taking account of any other
dividends received in the same tax year) such dividend falls within the ﬁrst £2,000 of
dividend income received by that Unbound Shareholder (the “Dividend Allowance
Amount”). Dividends within the Dividend Allowance Amount will still count as taxable income
when determining how much of the basic rate band or higher rate band has been used.
Subject to the availability of any personal or other allowance and taking account of any other
dividends received by the Unbound Shareholder in the same tax year, such Unbound
Shareholder will currently be subject to United Kingdom income tax on the amount (if any) of
a dividend received from the Company in respect of Unbound Shares in excess of the
Dividend Allowance Amount for the ﬁscal period ended 5 April 2021:
(a)

at the rate of 7.5 per cent., to the extent that such amount falls below the threshold for
the higher rate of income tax;

(b)

at the rate of 32.5 per cent., to the extent that such amount falls above the threshold
for the higher rate of income tax but below the threshold for the additional rate of
income tax; and

(c)

at the rate of 38.1 per cent., to the extent that such amount falls above the threshold
for the additional rate of income tax.

These rates are to increase to 8.75 per cent., 33.75 per cent. and 39.35 per cent.
respectively with effect from 6 April 2022.
For the purposes of determining which of the taxable bands dividend income falls into,
dividend income is treated as the highest part of an Unbound Shareholder’s income. In
addition, dividends within the nil rate band which would (if there was no nil rate amount) have
fallen within the basic or higher rate bands will use up those bands respectively for the
purposes of determining whether the threshold for higher rate or additional rate income tax is
exceeded.
UK discretionary trustees
The annual dividend allowance is not available to UK resident trustees of a discretionary
trust. UK resident trustees of a discretionary trust in receipt of dividends are liable to income
tax at a rate of 38.1 per cent., which mirrors the dividend additional rate. This rate is due to
increase to 39.35 per cent., from 6 April 2022.
UK tax resident corporate Unbound Shareholders
A UK resident corporate Unbound Shareholder will be liable to UK corporation tax unless the
dividend falls within one of the exempt classes set out in Part 9A of the Corporation Tax
Act 2009 (subject to anti-avoidance rules and provided all conditions are met). It is
anticipated that dividends should fall within one of such exempt classes, but shareholders
should seek independent advice to conﬁrm their position (subject to anti-avoidance rules and
provided all conditions are met).
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If the conditions for exemption are not met, or cease to be satisﬁed, or such a corporate
Unbound Shareholder elects for an otherwise exempt dividend to be taxable, then the
corporate Unbound Shareholder will be subject to UK corporation tax on dividends received
from the Company at 19 per cent.
The corporation tax rate is due to increase to 25 per cent. from 1 April 2023. A small proﬁts
rate will also be introduced from 1 April 2023 for some companies with proﬁts of £50,000 or
less so that they continue to pay corporation tax at 19 per cent. on those proﬁts. Companies
with proﬁts between £50,000 and £250,000 will pay corporation tax at the main rate of
25 per cent. reduced by a marginal relief. The £50,000 and £250,000 limits will be shared
between associated companies.
13.2

Taxation of Chargeable Gains
The amount paid for the Unbound Shares will generally constitute the tax base cost of a
Unbound Shareholder’s holding.
A disposal of all or any of the Unbound Shares by UK resident Unbound Shareholders or
Unbound Shareholders who carry on a trade in the UK through a permanent establishment
with which their investment in the Company is connected may, depending on the relevant
shareholder’s circumstances, give rise to a liability to UK taxation on chargeable gains.
UK tax resident individual and corporate Unbound Shareholders
Where a UK tax resident individual Unbound Shareholder disposes of Unbound Shares at a
gain, Capital Gains Tax (“CGT”) will be levied to the extent that the gain exceeds the annual
exemption and after taking account of any other available reliefs, such as capital losses.
For such individuals, CGT will be charged at 10 per cent. where the individual’s taxable
income and gains are within the income tax basic rate band. To the extent that any
chargeable gains, or part of any chargeable gain, aggregated with income arising in a tax
year exceed the income tax basic rate band, CGT will be charged at 20 per cent.
For trustees and personal representatives of deceased persons, CGT on gains in excess of
the current annual exempt amount will be charged at a ﬂat rate of 20 per cent.
Unbound Shareholders who are individuals and who are temporarily non-resident in the UK
may, under anti avoidance legislation, still be liable to UK tax on any capital gain realised
(subject to any available exemption or relief).

13.3

Transactions in securities
The attention of Unbound Shareholders (whether corporates or individuals) within the scope
of UK taxation is drawn to the provisions set out in, respectively, Part 15 of the Corporation
Tax Act 2010 and Chapter 1 of Part 13 of the Income Tax Act 2007, which (in each case)
give powers to HM Revenue and Customs to raise tax assessments so as to cancel “tax
advantages” derived from certain prescribed “transactions in securities”.

13.4

Stamp Duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax (“SDRT”)
An exemption from stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax came into effect on 28 April 2014
in respect of securities admitted to trading on certain recognised growth markets (presently
including AIM) and which are not listed on a Recognised Stock Exchange.
The Company anticipates that this exemption will apply to dealings in the Unbound Shares
such that from Admission, no liability to stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax should arise in
respect of any future transfer on sale of the Unbound Shares.
Absent an exemption from stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax, any dealings in Unbound
Shares will normally be subject to stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax. In such
circumstances, stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax could be payable at the rate of 0.5 per
cent. (rounded up to the next multiple of £5, if necessary) of the amount or value of the
consideration given by the purchaser, subject to de a minimis limit and relevant antiavoidance provisions.
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The above comments are intended as a guide to the general stamp duty and stamp duty
reserve tax position. Certain categories of person are not liable to stamp duty or stamp duty
reserve tax and others may be liable at a higher rate or may, although not primarily liable for
the tax, be required to notify and account for it. Special rules apply to agreements made by
market intermediaries and to certain sale and repurchase and stock borrowing arrangements.
This summary of UK taxation issues can only provide a general overview of these
areas and it is not a description of all the tax considerations that may be relevant to
a decision to invest in the company. The summary of certain UK tax issues is based
on the laws and regulations in force as at the date of this document and may be
subject to any changes in UK laws occurring after such date. Professional advice
should be taken with regard to individual circumstances. Any person who is in any
doubt as to their tax position or where they are resident, or otherwise subject to
taxation, in a jurisdiction other than the UK, should consult their professional adviser.
14.

Material Contracts
The following are the only contracts (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course
of business) which have been entered into by the Company or any Group Company in the
two years immediately preceding the date of this document and which are, or may be,
material.

14.1

The Demerger Agreement
The Demerger Agreement, which became effective on 2 November 2021, was entered into
between the Company and Hostmore on 15 October 2021 to effect the Demerger and to
govern the post-Demerger obligations of the Group and the Hostmore Group.
The Demerger Agreement also included a tax covenant containing mutual cross covenants
between the Group and the Hostmore Group relating to taxation. These covenants cover
liabilities that are notiﬁed to the covenantor within six years and 30 days after (a) the end of
the accounting period in which the Demerger completes; or (b) in the circumstances where
the liability would not have arisen but for the making of a “chargeable payment” within the
meaning of section 1088 CTA 2010, the date on which such “chargeable payment” was
made.
The tax covenant also contains provisions relating to, among other things, the manner in
which the Group and the Hostmore Group will prepare and agree tax computations and
returns, the basis on which certain claims and elections can be made, the conduct of
negotiations and disputes with the tax authorities, the exchange of information relating to their
tax affairs and certain other administrative matters relating to the respective groups.

14.2

Sponsor’s and Introduction Agreement
The Company, Hostmore, Numis Securities Limited and HSBC Bank plc (amongst others)
entered into the Sponsor’s and Introduction Agreement on 15 October 2021. Pursuant to the
terms of the Sponsor’s and Introduction Agreement, the Company gave customary
representations, warranties, undertakings and indemnities to Numis Securities Limited and
HSBC Bank plc.

14.3

AIM Introduction Agreement
The Company, Stifel and the Directors entered into the AIM Introduction Agreement on or
around the date of this document. Pursuant to the terms of the AIM Introduction Agreement:
(a)

the Company has appointed Stifel as its nominated adviser and corporate broker in
connection with the application for Admission and Stifel has accepted such appointment.
Stifel has been granted all powers, authorities and discretions which are necessary for,
or incidental to, such appointment;

(b)

the Company has agreed to deliver certain documents to Stifel relating to Admission
and the Stifel’s responsibilities in connection therewith;

(c)

the Company and the Directors have given customary representations, warranties,
undertakings and indemnities to Stifel;
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14.4

(d)

Stifel has the right to terminate the AIM Introduction Agreement in certain customary
circumstances prior to Admission. These circumstances include (amongst
others): (i) any statement in this document becoming or being discovered to be untrue,
inaccurate or misleading in a manner which is material in the context of the Admission;
and (ii) the breach by the Company or any of the Directors of any of their warranties,
representations, undertakings or obligations contained in the AIM Introduction
Agreement; and

(e)

the Company shall pay Stifel certain fees and charges incurred in connection with
Admission.

Facilities Agreement
On 17 January 2014, Galaxy Bidco Limited, as original borrower, and Galaxy Topco Limited,
as original parent, among others entered into an English law governed facilities agreement
(the “Facilities Agreement”), consisting of term loan facilities (the “Term Facilities”) as well
as a revolving credit facility (the “RCF” and together with the Term Facilities, the “Facilities”),
with Lloyds Bank plc as agent and security agent, and HSBC UK Bank plc and Lloyds
Bank plc as lenders (the “Lenders”). On 17 January 2014, Hotter Group Holdings Limited
(the “Target”) and each of its subsidiaries (including Beaconsﬁeld) acceded to the Facilities
Agreement as additional guarantors. The original purpose of the Term Facilities was to fund
the acquisition of the Target, whilst the RCF was to be applied towards the general corporate
and working capital purposes of the Galaxy Topco Limited and its subsidiaries (but not
towards acquisitions of companies, businesses or undertakings or prepayment of any Term
Facility).
There have been various amendments to the Facilities Agreement since it was signed in
2014. The Facilities Agreement was most recently amended and restated on 10 December
2021 (the “2021 Amendment Date”) pursuant to an amendment and restatement agreement
(the “2021 Amendment Agreement”) in order to facilitate an intra-group reorganisation and
group simpliﬁcation exercise which resulted in the shares in Hotter Limited (“HL”) being
transferred to Unbound Holdco Limited (“Unbound Holdco”), the debt owed to the Lenders
being novated to Beaconsﬁeld, the Facilities being paid down in a principal amount of
£5 million and all guarantors other than HL and Beaconsﬁeld being released from their
guarantee and security obligations under the Facilities Agreement. As a result, Beaconsﬁeld
is now the borrower under the Facilities Agreement, with £12.5 million of principal
outstanding, being £12.1 million in respect of the Term Facilities and £0.4 million in respect
of the RCF.
Each of HL and Beaconsﬁeld has granted ﬁxed and ﬂoating charges over all of its assets in
support of its obligations under the Facilities Agreement. In addition, Unbound Holdco has
granted third-party security over the shares that it holds in HL.
The Facilities Agreement includes a repayment schedule in respect of the Term Facilities
under which repayments of £1 million are to be made on a bi-annual basis, with the ﬁrst of
these repayments to be made on 31 July 2022. All other amounts outstanding under the
Term Facilities and the RCF are to be repaid on 31 December 2024 (the “Termination
Date”).
Interest in respect of the Facilities is payable at a rate per annum equal to the aggregate of
(i) the applicable margin (the “Margin”) plus (ii) a compounded reference rate based on
SONIA (or, if the compounded reference rate is unavailable, and subject to various market
standard fallbacks, a replacement benchmark agreed with certain of the Lenders). As at the
2021 Amendment Date, the Margin is 5.75 per cent. per annum. A margin rachet applies by
reference to a gross leverage test, which could result in the Margin being as low as 4.25 per
cent, per annum. In addition, the Margin increases by 0.5 per cent. per annum every six
months, starting 30 June 2022.
The Facilities Agreement has the following ﬁnancial covenants, which (other than in the case
of the Minimum Liquidity covenant) are being tested on a quarterly basis for the periods set
out below:

103

(a)

Cashﬂow Cover: The ratio of cashﬂow to the total amount required to service debt of
HL and its subsidiaries (together, the “HL Group”) in a relevant period shall not be less
than (i) 1.00:1 for each relevant period ending between the 2021 Amendment Date and
31 March 2024 – the ﬁrst relevant period being 30 June 2023; (ii) 1.30:1 for the
relevant period ending on 30 June 2024; and (iii) 1.40:1 for the relevant period ending
on 30 September 2024.

(b)

Net Interest Cover: The ratio of EBITDA to net interest incurred by the HL Group in a
relevant period shall not be less than:

(c)

(i)

2.75:1 for the period ending 31 March 2022;

(ii)

2.88:1 for the period ending 30 June 2022;

(iii)

4.25:1 for the period ending 30 September 2022;

(iv)

4.50:1 for the period ending 31 December 2022;

(v)

5.00:1 for each period ending between 31 March 2023 and 30 September 2023;
and

(vi)

5.67:1 for the period ending 31 December 2023 and each period ending
thereafter.

Leverage Ratio: The ratio of total net debt of the HL Group to EBITDA shall not exceed:
(i)
4.25:1 for the period ending 31 March 2022;
(ii)

3.70:1 for the period ending 30 June 2022;

(iii)

3.00:1 for the period ending 30 September 2022;

(iv)

2.30:1 for the periods ending 31 December 2022 and 31 March 2023;

(v)

2.00:1 for the periods ending 30 June 2023 and 30 September 2023; and

(vi)

1.93:1 for the period ending 31 December 2023 and each period ending
thereafter.

(d)

Capital Expenditure: The capital expenditure of the HL Group shall not exceed
£3 million for each ﬁnancial year (subject to certain exceptions for carry forward
amounts, new shareholder injections, retained excess cashﬂow or other relevant
proceeds).

(e)

Minimum Liquidity: From the period commencing on the 2021 Amendment Date and
ending on 30 June 2023, the aggregate cash balance held by the HL Group shall not
be less than £0.5 million at any time.

In addition, the Facilities Agreement contains customary covenants (including those related to
disposals, acquisitions, change of business, granting of security, ﬁnancial indebtedness,
preservation of assets, sanctions, anti-corruption, and compliance with laws) subject to
customary exceptions, certain carve-outs, de minimis exemption baskets and material adverse
effect qualiﬁcations. The Facilities Agreement also contains customary events of default
(including for insolvency, insolvency proceedings, cessation of business, audit qualiﬁcation
and litigation), and mandatory prepayment events (including in respect of receipt of certain
insurance proceeds to be received by the HL Group).
The Facilities Agreement contains a change of control provision pursuant to which the
Lenders may cancel their commitments and require repayment of all outstanding amounts if
either (i) the Company ceases to directly or indirectly control HL, (ii) Unbound Holdco ceases
to own directly the entire issued share capital of HL, or (iii) HL ceases to own directly the
entire issued share capital of Beaconsﬁeld. The Admission of the Unbound Shares onto AIM
will not constitute a change of control under the Facilities Agreement.
14.5

Settlement of the Hotter MIP
In late 2018, when Ian Watson was being recruited to become the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer of
the Hotter Business, the commercial terms of a management incentive plan were agreed.
Those terms provided the management team of the Hotter Business with a share of the
value creation of the Hotter Business above the value of the business at that time. The value
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attributable to management under those arrangements has been deducted from the value of
the Hotter Business in valuations since that time in arriving at published values attributable to
Unbound Shareholders.
In anticipation of the crystallisation of value through the proposed Delisting and Admission, a
mechanism to deliver the value committed whilst retaining the continuing commitment of
Hotter Management was implemented in the last quarter of 2021. As such, Hotter
Management entered into the Hotter MIP, pursuant to which 10,000 A ordinary shares of
£0.00001 each in MIPCO (the “Hotter MIP Shares”) were issued to Hotter Management.
As part of the preparation for the Delisting and Admission, Unbound undertook an internal
group reorganisation to streamline its post-Admission corporate structure to one which is
appropriate for a trading group (the “Reorganisation”). Certain actions undertaken as part of
the Reorganisation triggered the crystallisation of the Hotter MIP, further to which Hotter
Management became entitled to exercise a put option requiring Unbound to acquire the
Hotter MIP Shares for cash, or another form of consideration as agreed between Unbound
and the Hotter Management, by reference to a pre-agreed valuation formula as set out in
MIPCO’s articles of association.
In order to ensure the continued alignment of Hotter Management’s interests with those of
Unbound Shareholders, Unbound and Hotter Management entered into an agreement on
9 December 2021 (hereafter referred to as the “Hotter MIP Side Letter”) pursuant to which
both parties agreed, conditional on both the completion of certain elements of the
Reorganisation and Unbound Shareholder approval (as more particularly described below),
that any payment by Unbound for the Hotter MIP Shares would be satisﬁed by the issue of
new Unbound Shares to Hotter Management on or before Admission.
For the purposes of establishing the number and value of Unbound Shares to be issued to
Hotter Management under the Hotter MIP Side Letter, the Board considered Electra’s current
market capitalisation and the implied look-through valuation of the Hotter Business as
Electra’s sole remaining corporate investment as well as the internal valuation of the Hotter
Business. As such, Unbound and Hotter Management agreed an equity value of £32.6 million
for the Hotter Business in order to establish the value of the payment under the Hotter MIP
in accordance with the pre-existing valuation formula under MIPCO’s articles of association.
On that basis, the terms of the Hotter MIP Side Letter provide that Hotter Management would
be issued 3,284,799 new Unbound Shares in aggregate, equal to 7.77 per cent. of the
enlarged issued share capital of Unbound.
A member of the Hotter Management, namely the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer, Ian Watson, was
(and continues to be) a statutory director of companies within the Hotter Group. As such,
when the Hotter MIP Side Letter was entered into, Ian Watson was considered a “related
party” of Unbound for the purposes of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Hotter MIP Side
Letter, it was agreed that Ian Watson would be issued 2,086,833 new Unbound Shares
(equal to 4.94 per cent. of the enlarged issued share capital of Unbound) representing a
value of £1,356,441 based on the closing price of Unbound Shares of 65 pence per share
on 8 December 2021. As such, the issue of new Unbound Shares under the Hotter MIP Side
Letter to Ian Watson (“Ian Watson MIP Settlement”) was considered a related party
transaction under the Listing Rules and, on account of its value, the Listing Rules required
that the Ian Watson MIP Settlement be conditional on receiving Unbound Shareholder
approval. That Unbound Shareholder approval was given at a general meeting of the
Company that was held on 30 December 2021 and 3,284,799 new Unbound Shares were
issued to Hotter Management accordingly on 13 January 2022.
14.6

Lock-up Agreement
The Lock-up Agreement is summarised in paragraph 19 of Part 1 (Information on the Group)
of this document.

15.
15.1

Related party transactions
Save as disclosed in Note 30 (Related Party Transactions) to the Beaconsﬁeld’s historical
ﬁnancial information in Part 3 of this document and the notes to the Company’s unaudited
ﬁnancial statements which are incorporated by reference in Part 4 (Information Incorporated
by Reference) of this document, the following related party transactions (which are
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transactions which, as a single transaction or in their entirety, are or may be material to the
Company) have been entered into by the Company or any other member of the Group during
the period covered by the historical ﬁnancial information in Part 3 (Accountants’ Report and
Historical Financial Information of Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited) and the date of this
document:
(a)

on 16 August 2021, the Company entered into a series of sale and purchase
agreements with the previous management of the Hotter business to acquire certain
loan notes of Galaxy Topco Limited and 1672 A ordinary shares of £0.10 each in
Galaxy Topco Limited;

(b)

on 8 September 2021, Hostmore plc issued 50,000 ordinary shares of £1.00 each to
the Company, for cash consideration of £50,000;

(c)

on 5 October 2021, Hostmore Group Limited issued 109,330,607 ordinary shares of
£0.20 each to the Company in consideration for the transfer to it, by Mondays (Topco)
Limited (at the direction of Electra), of the entirety of its shareholding in Wednesdays;

(d)

on 5 October 2021, Hostmore plc issued 7,339,375 ordinary shares of £0.20 each to
the Company for a subscription price of £13,092,800, in aggregate. Hostmore plc
subsequently subscribed for 5,937,960 ordinary shares of £0.20 each in Hostmore
Group Limited for a subscription price of £10,592,800, in aggregate;

(e)

on 5 October 2021, the Company transferred the entirety of its shareholding in
Hostmore Group Limited comprising of 109,330,612 ordinary shares of £0.20 each to
Hostmore plc, in consideration for which Hostmore plc issued 109,330,607 ordinary
shares of £0.20 each to the Company;

(f)

on 15 October 2021, the Company and Hostmore entered into the Demerger
Agreement pursuant to which the Company and Hostmore conditionally agreed, on the
terms of the agreement and subject to receipt of the requisite shareholder approvals,
that the Company would make a distribution in specie of all of the issued share capital
in Hostmore held by it to Qualifying Electra Shareholders (as deﬁned in the Demerger
Agreement), immediately prior to the admission of Hostmore’s ordinary shares to the
Main Market. Please refer to paragraph 14.1 (Demerger Agreement) of this Part 5
(Additional Information) for further information on the Demerger Agreement;

(g)

on 8 December 2021, the Company entered into a management services agreement
with Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited and Comfort Concept Limited;

(h)

on 8 December 2021, Unbound Holdco entered into a management services agreement
with Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited and Comfort Concept Limited;

(i)

on 9 December 2021, the Company and certain of the Directors and Senior Managers
(among others) entered into the Hotter MIP Side Letter pursuant to which (and following
certain intermediate steps) the Company agreed, subject to receipt of the requisite
shareholder approvals, to issue 3,284,799 new Unbound Shares, in aggregate, equal to
7.77 per cent. of the enlarged share capital of the Company to certain of the Directors
and Senior Managers immediately prior to Admission. Please refer to paragraph 14.5
(Settlement of the Hotter MIP) of this Part 5 (Additional Information) for further
information;

(j)

on 10 December 2021, Galaxy Bidco Limited issued £17,100,000 of unsecured loan
notes to Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited in consideration for Galaxy Bidco Limited
novating its outstanding external bank debt to Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited under the
Amended and Restated Facilities Agreement;

(k)

on 10 December 2021, Unbound Holdco and Beaconsﬁeld Group Holdings Limited
entered into a share purchase agreement under which Beaconsﬁeld Group Holdings
Limited sold its entire beneﬁcial interest in 10,000 ordinary shares of £0.10 each in
Hotter Limited to Unbound Holdco for a purchase price of £44,840,123 (the “Share
Purchase Agreement”);
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(l)

on 10 December 2021, in connection with the Share Purchase Agreement, Unbound
Holdco issued £44,840,123 of unsecured loan notes to Beaconsﬁeld Group Holdings
Limited;

(m) on 10 December 2021, the Company subscribed for 5,000,000 ordinary shares of £1.00
each in Unbound Holdco for an aggregate subscription price of £5,000,000;
(n)

on 10 December 2021, Unbound Holdco subscribed for 50,000,000 ordinary shares of
£0.10 each in Hotter Limited for an aggregate subscription price of £5,000,000;

(o)

on 10 December 2021, Hotter Limited subscribed for 5,000,000 ordinary shares of
£1.00 each in Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited for an aggregate subscription price of
£5,000,000;

(p)

on 13 January 2022, the Company subscribed for 373,943,580 A ordinary shares of
£0.10 each in Galaxy Topco Limited for an aggregate subscription price of £37,394,358;

(q)

on 13 January 2022, Galaxy Topco Limited subscribed for 36,388,634 ordinary shares
of £1 each in Galaxy Midco Limited for an aggregate subscription price of £36,388,634;

(r)

on 13 January 2022, Galaxy Topco Limited paid £983,360 as full and ﬁnal repayment of
amounts due to the Company under certain loan notes issued by Galaxy Topco Limited;

(s)

on 13 January 2022, Galaxy Topco Limited paid £22,364 as full and ﬁnal repayment of
amounts due to the Company under certain loan notes issued by Galaxy Topco Limited;

(t)

on 13 January 2022, Galaxy Midco Limited paid £36,388,634 as full and ﬁnal
repayment of amounts due to the Company under certain loan notes issued by Galaxy
Midco Limited; and

(u)

on 13 January 2022, certain of the Directors and Senior Managers who held A ordinary
shares in Hotter MIPCO Limited transferred these shares to the Company in
consideration for the allotment and issue of shares in the Company under the terms of
the Hotter MIP Side Letter as described in paragraph 14.5 of this Part 5 (Additional
Information).

15.2

Save as set out above, no related party transactions were entered into by members of the
Group during the period covered by the historical ﬁnancial information in Part 3 (Accountants’
Report and Historical Financial Information of Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited) of this
document and the date of this document.

16.

Working capital statement
The Directors are of the opinion that, having made due and careful enquiry, the working
capital available to the Company and the Group will be sufﬁcient for its present requirements,
that is, for at least the period of 12 months from the date of Admission.

17.
17.1

Litigation and arbitration
Save as disclosed below, no member of the Group is involved nor has been involved in any
governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings in the 12 months preceding the date of this
document which may have or have had in the recent past a signiﬁcant effect on the
Company’s and/or the Group’s ﬁnancial position or proﬁtability and, so far as the Company is
aware, there are no such proceedings pending or threatened against any member of the
Group.

17.2

Business Interruption Insurance Claim
On 15 February 2019, Galaxy Topco Limited (the former holding company for the Hotter
Group) and its subsidiaries, including Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited, entered into a business
interruption insurance policy (the “Policy”) with Royal & Sun Alliance Insurance PLC (“RSA”).
During the COVID-19 pandemic in September 2020, Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited sought to
make a claim under the Notiﬁable Disease clause in the Policy in respect of losses due to
government-imposed lockdowns in the United Kingdom. In December 2020, Beaconsﬁeld
Footwear Limited received a settlement of £2.5 million from RSA in recognition of the validity
of the claim, the amount being the limit of liability under the speciﬁc clause in the Policy.
Further to this, Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited has instructed external counsel to investigate
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the validity of the limit of liability associated with the Notiﬁable Disease clause in the Policy,
on the basis that government-imposed lockdowns were a sequence of separate events, and
not a single occurrence. Discussions on this matter are ongoing and the exact scope of the
claim is still to be established.
18.
18.1

No Signiﬁcant Change
Save as disclosed in this document, there has been no signiﬁcant change in the ﬁnancial
position or ﬁnancial performance of the Company since 30 September 2021 (being the end
of the last ﬁnancial period for which unaudited interim ﬁnancial information of the Company
has been published).

18.2

Save as disclosed in this document, there has been no signiﬁcant change in the ﬁnancial
position or ﬁnancial performance of Beaconsﬁeld since 1 August 2021 (being the end of the
last period covered by the Beaconsﬁeld historical ﬁnancial information in Section B of Part 3
(Historical Financial Information of Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited) of this document).

19.

Third party information
The information in this document which has been sourced from third parties has been
accurately reproduced and so far as the Company is able to ascertain from information
published by that third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced
information inaccurate or misleading.

20.
20.1

General
The total costs and expenses relating to Admission (including the application fees, printer’s
fees, advisers’ fees, professional fees and expenses, the cost of printing and typesetting of
documents) to be borne by the Company are estimated to amount to approximately
£2.05 million (excluding VAT).

20.2

The following persons have received fees totalling £10,000 or more from the Company within
the 12 months immediately preceding the date of this document, or have entered into a
contract to receive £10,000 or more from the Company on or after Admission:

20.3

*

Hypnotion Limited;

*

One Advisory;

*

KPMG LLP;

*

BDO LLP;

*

Alvarez & Marsal;

*

Interpath Advisory; and

*

Vico Partners.

Save as disclosed in paragraph 20.2 above, no person (excluding professional advisers
otherwise disclosed in this document and trade suppliers) has received, directly or indirectly
from the Group within the 12 months preceding the date of this document or entered into
contractual arrangements (not otherwise disclosed in this document) to receive, directly or
indirectly, from the Group on or after Admission any of the following:
(a)

fees totalling £10,000 or more; or

(b)

securities of the Company where these have a value of £10,000 or more calculated by
reference to the expected price of the Unbound Shares on Admission; or

(c)

any other beneﬁt with the value of £10,000 or more at the date of Admission.

20.4

The current auditors of the Company, Deloitte LLP of 1 New Street Square, London, EC4A,
have audited the Annual Report and Financial Statements of the Company for the ﬁnancial
years ended 30 September 2018, 30 September 2019 and 30 September 2020.

20.5

The statutory accounts for the Company for the ﬁnancial period ended 30 January 2018, the
period ended 30 September 2019 and the ﬁnancial period ended 30 September 2020 have
been delivered to the Registrar of Companies in England and Wales. Auditors reports in
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respect of each of the statutory accounts have been made under section 495 of the Act and
each such report was an unqualiﬁed report and did not contain any statement under section
498(2) or (3) of the Act.
20.6

The statutory accounts for Beaconsﬁeld for the 52 week ended 27 January 2019, the
53 week ended 2 February 2020 and the 52 weeks ended 31 January 2021 have been
delivered to the Registrar of Companies in England and Wales. Auditors reports in respect of
each of the statutory accounts have been made under section 495 of the Act and each such
report was an unqualiﬁed report and did not contain any statement under section 498(2) or
(3) of the Act.

20.7

Ernst & Young LLP of 2 St Peters Square, Manchester, M2 3EY, audited the statutory
accounts of Beaconsﬁeld for the 52 weeks ended 27 January 2019. Ernst & Young LLP is a
member ﬁrm of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

20.8

RSM UK Audit LLP of 9th Floor, 3 Hardman Street, Manchester, M3 3EB, audited the
statutory accounts of Beaconsﬁeld for the 53 weeks ended 2 February 2020 and the 52
weeks ended 30 January 2021. RSM UK Audit LLP is a member ﬁrm of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in Scotland.

20.9

RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the
inclusion in this document of its report set out in Section A of Part 3 (Historical Financial
Information of Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited) of this document in the form and context in
which it appears and has authorised the contents of that report for the purposes of Schedule
Two of the AIM Rules for Companies.

20.10 Stifel has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in this document of
reference to its names in the form and context in which it appears.
20.11 There are no principal investments in progress or principal future investments on which the
Company’s management bodies have already made ﬁrm commitments.
21.

Change in accounting reference date
On 21 January 2022, the Company extended its accounting reference date from
30 September to 30 January.

22.

Documents available for inspection
A copy of this document will be available on the Company’s website at
https://unboundgroupplc.com/.

Dated 27 January 2022
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DEFINITIONS
The following deﬁnitions apply throughout this document, unless the context requires otherwise:
“2021 Amendment Agreement”

the amendment and restatement agreement to the Facilities
Agreement as set out in paragraph 14.4 of Part 5 (Additional
Information);

“2021 Amendment Date”

the date on which the Facilities Agreement was most recently
amended, being 10 December 2021 as set out in paragraph 14.4
of Part 5 (Additional Information);

“Act”

the Companies Act 2006, as amended;

“Admission”

admission of the Unbound Shares to trading on AIM becoming
effective in accordance with the AIM Rules for Companies;

“AIM”

AIM, a market operated by the London Stock Exchange;

“AIM Rules”

the AIM Rules for Companies and the AIM Rules for Nominated
Advisers;

“AIM Rules for Companies”

the rules which set out the obligations and responsibilities in
relation to companies whose shares are admitted to AIM as
published by the London Stock Exchange from time to time;

“AIM Rules for Nominated
Advisers”

the rules for nominated advisers to companies whose shares are
admitted to AIM as published by the London Stock Exchange from
time to time;

“Articles”

the articles of association of the Company adopted by special
resolution of the Company on 30 December 2021 to take effect on
Admission;

“ASA”

the Advertising Standards Authority;

“ATL”

“above the line” marketing strategy as detailed
paragraph 7(d) of Part 1 (Information on the Group);

“Audit and Risk Committee”

the audit and risk committee established by the Board to carry out
the functions described for that committee in paragraph 18 of
Part 1 (Information on the Group);

“Awards”

the grant of the awards over shares by the Unbound LTIP;

“BCAP Code”

the UK Code of Broadcast Advertising;

“Beaconsﬁeld”

Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited, a private limited company
incorporated in England and Wales, with registered number
00641365 whose registered ofﬁce is at 2 Peel Road,
Skelmersdale, Lancashire, WN8 9PT;

“Board”

board of directors of the Company;

“Buy-out Awards”

Awards granted under the Unbound LTIP to an Executive Director
where that Award is granted as part of the compensation provided
to that Executive Director on joining Unbound to compensate them
for the loss of an award from their previous employment;

“CAP Code”

the UK Code of Non-broadcast Advertising and Direct &
Promotional Marketing;

“CGT”

Capital Gain Tax;

“Chair”

The chair of the Board;

“City Code”

the UK City Code on Takeovers and Mergers;

“CODM”

Chief Operating Decision Maker;

“Committee”

a committee of the Board;
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“Company” or “Unbound”

Unbound Group plc, a public limited company incorporated in
England and Wales, with registered number 00303062 whose
registered ofﬁce is at 17 Old Park Lane, London, United
Kingdom, W1K 1QT (previously named Electra Private
Equity PLC);

“Conditional Award”

a contingent right to receive Unbound Shares under the Unbound
LTIP;

“COVID-19”

the Corona Virus Disease 2019 as designated by the World Health
Organization;

“CREST”

the computerised settlement system (as deﬁned in the CREST
Regulations) operated by Euroclear which facilitates the transfer
of title to shares in uncertiﬁcated form;

“CREST Regulations”

the Uncertiﬁed Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001/3755) as
amended from time to time, and any applicable rules made under
those regulations;

“CVA”

a company voluntary arrangement;

“Delisting”

the cancellation of the listing of the Unbound Shares on the
premium listing segment of the Ofﬁcial List and from trading on the
Main Market;

“Directors”

the Proposed Directors and the Non-Executive Directors details of
whom are set out in Part 1 (Information on the Group) of this
document;

“Disclosure and Transparency
Rules”

the disclosure guidance and transparency rules made by the FCA
under Part 6 of the FSMA;

“Dividend Equivalents”

an Award under the Unbound LTIP on terms that the participant
will receive on vesting an amount which is equal in value to the
aggregate dividends that would have been paid on the Unbound
Shares (or notional shares) in respect of which the Award vests
between the date of grant and the vesting date;

“Electra”

Electra Private Equity PLC, the previous name of the Company;

“EU Prospectus Regulation”

Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 14 June 2017 on the prospectus to be published when
securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a
regulated market, and repealing Directive 2003/71/EC;

“Euroclear”

Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (a company incorporated under
the laws of England and Wales with registered number 2878738),
the operator of CREST;

“Executive Directors”

the executive directors of Unbound from the date of Admission
being the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer, Ian Watson, and the Chief
Financial Ofﬁcer, Daniel Lampard;

“Facilities”

the Term Facilities and RCF;

“Facilities Agreement”

the facilities agreement comprising of the Facilities entered into
between Galaxy Bidco Limited, as original borrower, and Galaxy
Topco Limited, as original parent, among others, dated 17 January
2014 as amended from time to time as set out in paragraph 14.4 of
Part 5 (Additional Information);

“FCA”

the Financial Conduct Authority;

“FSMA”

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended);
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“GDPR”

the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection
Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/679) as it forms part of the law
of England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland by virtue of
section 3 of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 and as
amended by Schedule 1 to the Data Protection, Privacy and
Electronic Communications (Amendments etc) (EU Exit)
Regulations 2019 (SI 2019/419);

“GPSR”

General Product Safety Regulations 2005;

“Group”

the Company together with its subsidiaries and subsidiary
undertakings from time to time;

“Government”

Her Majesty’s Government of the United Kingdom;

“Good Leavers”

a participant who dies or leaves employment by reason of injury,
disability, ill-health, redundancy, sale of the business or company
in which the participant is employed out of the Group or for any
other reason in the remuneration committee’s discretion;

“Group Company”

the Company and each of its Subsidiaries;

“HL”

Hotter Limited, a private limited company incorporated in England
and Wales, with registered number 06073997 whose registered
ofﬁce is at 2 Peel Road, Skelmersdale, Lancashire, WN8 9PT;

“HL Group”

HL together with its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings from
time to time;

“HMRC”

Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs;

“Holding Period”

a post-vesting holding period in respect of vested shares or
unexercised Options which the Remuneration Committee has
discretion to impose under the Unbound LTIP;

“Hostmore”

Hostmore plc, a company registered in England and Wales with
registered number 13334853 whose registered ofﬁce is at
Highdown
House,
Yeoman
Way,
Worthing,
West
Sussex BN99 3HH;

“Hotter”

Hotter Shoes

“Hotter Business”

the business of the Hotter Group;

“Hotter Financial Information”

the historical ﬁnancial information of Beaconsﬁeld Footwear
Limited for the 52 weeks ended 27 January 2019, 53 weeks
ended 2 February 2020, 52 weeks ended 31 January 2021, 26
weeks ended 2 August 2020 and 26 weeks ended 2 August 2021,
as set out in Part 3 (Accountants Report and Financial Information
on Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited) of this document;

“Hotter Group”

Beaconsﬁeld Footwear Limited and its subsidiaries and subsidiary
undertakings from time to time;

“Hotter Management”

those members of the Hotter Group’s management team who
were participants in the Hotter MIP;

“Hotter MIP”

the management incentive plan entered into between Hotter
MIPCO Limited and Hotter Management on 30 March 2021;

“Hotter MIP Shares”

10,000 A ordinary shares of £0.00001 each in Hotter MIPCO
Limited;

“Hotter MIP Side Letter”

the conditional agreement entered into between MIPCO, Unbound
and Hotter Management on 9 December 2021 setting out the
terms of the settlement of the Hotter MIP;
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“Ian Watson MIP Settlement”

the settlement of Ian Watson’s entitlement under the Hotter MIP
Side Letter by issuing new Unbound Shares as described in
section 14.5 of Part 5 (Additional Information);

“IFRS”

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the UK;

“ISIN”

International Security Identiﬁcation Number;

“Latest Practicable Date”

the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this
document, being 26 January 2022;

“Lenders”

HSBC UK Bank plc and Lloyds Bank plc as the lenders under the
Facilities Agreement;

“Listing Rules”

the listing rules made by the FCA pursuant to Part 6 of the FSMA;

“Lock-up Agreement”

the conditional agreement dated 9 December 2021, between the
Company and Ian Watson and relating to the ability of Ian Watson
to dispose of Unbound Shares following Admission, further details
of which are set out in paragraph 14.6 of Part 5 (Additional
Information) of this document;

“London Stock Exchange”

London Stock Exchange plc;

“LWG”

Leather Working Group;

“Main Market”

the main market for listed securities of the London Stock
Exchange;

“Nomad” or “Nominated
Adviser” or “Stifel”

Stifel Nicolaus Europe Limited;

“Nomination Committee”

the nomination committee established by the Board to carry out
the functions described for that committee in paragraph 18 of
Part 1 (Information on the Group);

“Non-Executive Directors”

the non-executive directors of the Company details of whom are
set out in paragraph 6 of Part 1 (Information on the Group);

“Ofﬁcial List”

the ofﬁcial list of the FCA;

“Option”

an option to acquire Unbound Shares at no or nominal cost under
the Unbound LTIP;

“Panel”

the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers;

“PECR”

Privacy and Electronic
Regulations 2003;

“Performance Share Awards”

Awards granted under the Unbound LTIP on terms that vesting is
conditional upon the continued employment and also upon the
achievement of any performance conditions;

“Phantom Award”

a right to receive a cash payment calculated by reference to the
market value of a notional share under the Unbound LTIP

“Proposed Directors”

Ian Watson and Daniel Lampard;

“Prospectus Regulation Rules”

the Prospectus Regulation Rules of the FCA made pursuant to
section 73A of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as
amended;

“Prospectus Regulation”

the Prospectus Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 and amendments
thereto;

“QCA”

Quoted Companies Alliance;

“QCA Code”

the corporate governance code for small and mid-size quoted
companies published by the QCA;

“RCF”

the revolving credit facility constituted by the Facilities Agreement;
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Communications

(EC

Directive)

“Register”

the register of members as required by section 113 of the 2006
Act;

“Registrar” or “Equiniti”

Equiniti Limited;

“Regulations”

the Uncertiﬁcated Securities Regulations 2001;

“Relevant System”

a computer-based system and procedures, permitted by the
Regulations, which enable title to units of a security to be
evidenced and transferred without a written instrument, and which
facilitate supplementary and incidental matters and includes,
without limitation, the relevant system of which Euroclear is the
Operator;

“Remuneration Committee”

the remuneration committee established by the Board to carry out
the functions described for that committee in paragraph 17 of
Part 1 (Information on the Group);

“Reorganisation”

reorganisation of the Group to streamline its post-Admission
corporate structure to one which is appropriate for a trading group;

“Restricted Share Awards”

awards granted under the Unbound LTIP on terms that vesting is
conditional upon continued employment but not conditional on the
achievement of any performance conditions;

“ROU”

right-of-use;

“SDRT”

Stamp Duty Reserve Tax;

“Share Purchase Agreement”

share purchase agreement dated 10 December 2021 between
Unbound Holdco and Beaconsﬁeld Group Holdings Limited with
respect to the entire issued share capital of Hotter Limited to
Unbound Holdco;

“Statutes”

the Act, the Regulations and each act and statutory instrument for
the time being in force concerning companies affecting the
Company;

“Stifel” or “Nomad” or
“Nominated Adviser”

Stifel Nicolaus Europe Limited;

“Target”

Hotter Group Holdings Limited;

“Term Facilities”

the term loan facilities constituted by the Facilities Agreement;

“Termination Date”

31 December 2024, being the repayment date of the Term
Facilities and the RCF under the Facilities Agreement;

“UK Corporate Governance
Code”

the UK Corporate Governance Code issued by the Financial
Reporting Council, as amended from time to time;

“UK MAR”

the Market Abuse Regulation (Regulation (EU) 596/2014) and its
delegated and implementing regulations as it forms part of the
retained European Union law by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018;

“Unbound” or “Company”

Unbound Group plc, a public limited company incorporated in
England and Wales, with registered number 00303062 whose
registered ofﬁce is at 17 Old Park Lane, London, United Kingdom,
W1K 1QT (previously named Electra Private Equity PLC);

“Unbound Circular”

the circular published by Unbound in relation to Admission;

“Unbound Holdco”

Unbound Holdco Limited, a private limited company incorporated
in England and Wales, with registered number 13424097 whose
registered ofﬁce is at 21 Holborn Viaduct, London, United
Kingdom, EC1A 2DY (previously named Unbound Group Limited);
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“Unbound LTIP”

the proposed Unbound Group plc 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan
details of which are set out in paragraph 12 of Part 5 (Additional
Information);

“Unbound Shareholders”

a holder of Unbound Shares from time to time;

“Unbound Shares”

the ordinary shares of 25 pence each in the capital of the
Company;

“United Kingdom” or “UK”

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

“UK Prospectus Regulation”

the UK version of the EU Prospectus Regulation (2017/1129)
which is part of UK law by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (as amended and supplemented from
time to time (including, but not limited to, by the UK Prospectus
Amendment Regulations 2019 and The Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000 (Prospectus) Regulations 2019));

“United States” or “US”

the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any
state of the United States of America and the District of Columbia;

“US Securities Act”

the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended;

“VAT”

applicable value added tax;

“$” or “US$”

US Dollars, the lawful currency of the United States; and

“£”, “pounds sterling”, “pence”,
or “p”

UK pounds sterling, the lawful currency of the United Kingdom.
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APPENDIX
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR BEACONSFIELD FOOTWEAR LIMITED
FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 27 JANUARY 2019 AND
53 WEEKS ENDED 2 FEBRUARY 2020
[Appended documents follow from the next page]
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Beaconsfield Footwear Limited

Company Registration Number: 641365

Strategic report
The directors present their strategic report and the financial statements for the 52 weeks ended 27 January
2019.

Principal activities and review of the business
The Company's primary undertaking is the manufacture and sale of footwear. The Company sells the
majority of its product through online and traditional direct marketing to consumers in the UK and US. It
also sells product through a focussed UK retail estate.
During the period to 27 January 2019 the Group was significantly impacted by a combination ofunseasonal
weather during the key seasonal transition periods in spring and autumn and by the discounting that is
prevalent in the UK high street.
These factors contributed to the company making an operating loss of£1.6m (2018 operating profit £5.0m)
in the period.
These factors reinforce the need to implement the Company's strategy of:
•
•
•
•

Reducing the seasonality ofour footwear collections and reinforcing our key brand differentiators
ofcomfort and fit;
Increasing the digitisation of the Company in our distribution channels and in operations;
Optimising the performance of our UK retail estate as a r ightsized contributor to digital strategy;
and
Transitioning our US business from one focussed on customer acquisition to one generating a
reliable profit stream.

The Company has continued to invest in people and technology to accelerate the delivery of the strategy
and has been supported by its ultimate controlling party, Electra Private Equity PLC.
As a result ofthese actions, the performance of the Company and pace of change has improved
significantly post year end. Delivery of this strategy will result in a resilient, digitally focussed
international business. Whilst market conditions remain challenging the Board and that of Electra Private
Equity PLC are encouraged by progress and the pace ofchange towards delivery.
At the period end the company had shareholders' funds of£9,240,000 (52 weeks ended 28 January 2018 £41,771,000) including distributable reserves of £9,198,000 (52 weeks ended 28 January 2018 £41,729,000).
Key performance indicators

The directors monitor the following key performance indicators for the company on a monthly basis and at
the period end they were as follows:
52 weeks
ended27
January
2019

52weeks
ended28
January
2018

93,037
(1,600)
1,320
3,550
10,209
9,240

100,777
5,032
8,133
9,499
11,443
41,771

£000

Turnover
Operating (loss)/profit
EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA
Cash
Net assets

£000

EBITDA of£1,320,000 (52 weeks ended 28 January 2018 - £8,133,000) is calculated as EBIT of
(£32,853,000) (52 weeks ended 28 January 2018 - £5,061,000) adjusted to add back depreciation of
£2,903,000 (52 weeks ended 28 January 2018 - £3,072,000) and impairment ofamounts owed to group
undertakings of £31,270,000 (52 weeks ended 28 January 2018 - £nil).
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Beaconsfield Footwear Limited

Company Registration Number: 641365

Strategic report (continued)
Adjusted EBITDA of £3,550,000 (52 weeks ended 28 January 2018 - £9,499,000) is calculated as
EBITDA adjusted to add back exceptional costs for management reporting of £2,230,000 (52 weeks ended
28 January 2018 - £1,366,000). These relate to non-trading expenses which are one-off in nature, and are
therefore excluded from underlying trading performance for the purposes of management reporting. These
include business and consultancy expense related to restructuring, and management charges incurred.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The directors have identified the principal risks and uncertainties as being:
UK and US Consumer and Retail Trading environment

The Company sells the majority of its product through online and traditional direct marketing to
consumers in the UK and US. It also sells product through a UK retail estate. The Company is therefore
. exposed to market conditions and fluctuations in these markets. The Directors have taken and continue to
take actions to focus and manage the Company's activities to increase resilience and flexibility to cope
with such fluctuations and longer-term structural changes.
Financing risk

The prevalent conditions in the markets in which the Company operates also impact on financing risk
through the appetite of banks to provide facilities to businesses in our markets and the appetite of credit
insurers to provide coverage to suppliers. The Board and that of Electra Private Equity PLC continue to
monitor these risks and act accordingly.
Foreign exchange risk

The Company buys goods in currencies other than sterling. As a result, the value of the Company's non
sterling purchases and financial liabilities can be affected by movements in exchange rates.
Foreign exchange risk is mitigated through natural hedging as a result of trading in the USA and by
agreeing a sterling exchange rate with a number of foreign suppliers a season in advance.
Liquidity risk

The Company manages liquidity risk by closely monitoring and forecasting cash generation from
operations and ensuring that cash outflows do not exceed cash inflows to the point where a cash deficit is
realised. The Company also manages liquidity risk via loans provided by other group members. As a
result, the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.
Credit risk

The Company's credit risk is solely related to sales to independent retailers, before undertaking business
with these customers the Company performs a full credit rating and a credit control department constantly
monitors the position of the sales ledger. The directors have assessed the recoverability of the year end
trade debtors and have made provision where deemed necessary, the balance is deemed to be fully
recoverable.
Industry risks

The directors have assessed the main risk facing the Company, as the continued intense competition of the
footwear market in the main trading geographies. The directors mitigate this risk by continuing to develop
the footwear collection, with new and improved designs, and by maintaining the Hotter brand and product
unique selling points of: Comfort, quality, fit and great customer service.
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Strategic report (continued)·
Brexit
At the time of signing the financial statements, the planned date of the UK's exit from the EU is by 31 st
January 2020. Risks associated with Brexit include, but are not limited to, foreign currency fluctuations,
import and export tariffs, disruptions to supply chains, and changes in laws and regulations. The Company
has carried out a thorough assessment to quantify and mitigate the impact of these risks, and the directors
are confident that the Company is well positioned to manage any future risks that arise from Brexit.

I A Watson
Chief Executive Officer
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Beaconsfield Footwear Limited

Company Registration Number: 641365

Directors' report
The directors present their Directors' report and financial statements for the 52 weeks ended 27January
2019.
As permitted by Section 414 of the Companies Act 2006, information can be found in the strategic report
and form part of this report by cross reference.

Dividends
The directors do not recommend a final dividend (2018 - £nil).

Directors
The directors who served the company during the period, and subsequently, were as follows:
RC Perkins (resigned 2 October 2019)
I A Watson (appointed 7 May 2019)
A J Buckley (appointed 22 August 2018 and resigned 20 May 2019)
SJ Houlgrave (resigned 12 April 2018)
S E Prowse (resigned 8 March 2019)

Performance in the reporting period and support of ultimate controlling party
As indicated in the Strategic Report the performance of the Company in the reporting period was influenced
by the combination of unseasonal weather during the key seasonal transition periods and by heavy
discounting prevalent in the UK retail marketplace. This resulted in a disappointing result for the period.
During the period the Board and Electra Private Equity PLC, the ultimate controlling party, took action to
accelerate the transformation of the Company in delivery of its strategy to result in a resilient, digitally
focussed, international business.
This resulted in Electra Private Equity PLC buying out a minority shareholder to allow acceleration of
strategic implementation, key management changes and significant additional investment from Electra
Private Equity PLC post period end. The active support of the Electra Private Equity PLC continues with
recent commitment to invest further in 2020 to ensure delivery of the Company's digitisation strategy.

Events after the reporting period
Management
On 151 March 2019 Ian Watson joined the Company as Chief Executive Officer. Ian is an experienced
CEO in the footwear industry and has experience in turnarounds and of developing digitally focussed
international consumer businesses.
On 151 August 2019 Adam Griggs joined the Company as Chief Financial Officer. Adam is an experienced
CFO having extensive experience in Private Equity owned businesses and the delivery of performance
improvement in public and private businesses.
On 12 September 2019 Clare Pearl joined as Chief Product and Merchandising Officer. Clare has
extensive experience in product leadership in relevant well-known apparel brands.

Future developments
The directors have and are continuing to take action to address the factors that led to the poor performance
of the business in the year to January 2019 and to accelerate its transformation to a resilient, digitally
focussed international business supported by appropriate multichannel sales capability. Funding and
management are now in place to support the transformation and future profitability of the business and the
Board and that of Electra Private Equity PLC, the ultimate controlling party, are committed to ensuring
delivery.
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Directors' report (continued)
Going concern
Beaconsfield Footwear Limited is the main trading company of the Galaxy Topco Group. The Oimpany's
business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, its financial pC>sition
and its exposures to principal risks and uncertainties are described in the Strategic Report on pages 2 to 4.
The Company's plans, forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonable changes in trading
performance, show that the Company will be able to operate within the level of the Galaxy Topco Group's
current banking facilities in achieving its trading and transformational objectives.
The directors are cognisant of the challenging trading conditions impacting the markets in which the
Company operates. These conditions could impact on both the trading performance of the Company and on
the appetite for financial institutions to support the Company in operation should its performance deteriorate
or through refinancing of the Group's debt.
The Galaxy Topco Group's main banking facilities (2019: £20.1 m, 2018: £31.9m) are due for re!Jewal in
July 2021. In the normal course this facility will be renegotiated in the first half of 2020.
The Directors recognise that should performance of the Company deteriorate there are plausible trading
sensitivities that, if unmitigated, whilst not resulting in the Company running out of cash, could result in a
breach of the Group's banking covenants. The Company has forecasting processes in place to ensure that
any risk of such a breach would be known well in advance and has dealt successfully with such forecast
situations in the past through a combination of trading actions and of the support of its banks !Ind of its
ultimate controlling party. Whilst recognising the risk, the directors are confident that should such a situation
arise in the future an appropriate solution would be found. The Directors do however recognise that under
ISA570 this scenario constitutes a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the Group's (and
therefore this Company's) ability to continue as a going concern.
Given the improvement in trading performance post period end, the pace of strategic implementation and
the ongoing stated support of Electra Private Equity PLC, and the prior support of its banks, the Directors
have a confident expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
annual report and financial statements. The financial statements do not therefore contain the adjustments
that would result if the company was unable to continue as a going concern.

Disabled employees
The Company gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the
requirements of the job can be adequately fulfilled by a handicapped or disabled person. Where existing
employees become disabled, it is policy wherever practicable to provide continuing employment under
normal terms and conditions and to provide training and career development and promotion to disabled
employees wherever appropriate.

Employee involvement
During the period, the policy of providing employees with information about the Company has been
continued through internal media methods in which employees have also been encouraged to present their
suggestions and views on the Company's performance. Regular meetings are held between local
management and employees to allow a free flow of information and ideas.

Charitable donations
During the year, the Group made charitable donations of £38,000 (2018: £nil) as part of an association
with Marie Curie.

Political donations
No political donations were made in the year (2018: £nil).
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Directors' report (continued)
Disclosure of information to the auditors
So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no relevant
audit infonnation, being infonnation needed by the auditor in connection with preparing its report, of
which the auditor is unaware. Having made enquiries of fellow directors and I.he Company's auditor, each
director has taken all the steps that he/she is obliged to take as a director in order to made himself/herself
aware of any relevant audit infonnation and to establish that the auditor is aware of that infonnation.

Auditors
In accordance with s.485 of the Companies Act 2006, a resolution is to be proposed at the Annual General
Meeting for reappointment of Ernst & Young LLP as auditor of the Company.
By order of the Board

/II/�

l A Watson
Chief Executive Officer

7
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Statement of directors' responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report and Directors Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law).
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company
for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•

make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

•

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Independent auditors' report
to the members of Beaconsfield Footwear Limited

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements ofBeaconsfield Footwear Limited for the year ended 2'71"
January 2019 which comprise the Income statement, the Statement of comprehensive income, the
Statement ofchanges in equity, the Statement of financial position, and the related notes 1 to 7.7., including
a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS I02 'The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic oflreland' (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice).
In our opinion, the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view ofthe company's affairs as at 27th January 2019 and of it's loss for the
period then ended;

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements ofthe Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report below. We are independent of
the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit ofthe financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern
We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which indicates that should performance of the
Group deteriorate there are plausible trading sensitivities that, if unmitigated, whilst not resulting in the
Group running out ofcash, could result in a breach of its banking covenants. As stated in Note I, these
events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that a material uncertainty
exist that may cast significant doubt on the Group and Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Independent auditors' report (continued)
to the members of Beaconsfield Footwear Limited

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other infnnn11tion and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of the other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•

the information given in the strategic report and the directors' report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

•

the strategic report and directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or directors'
report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•
•
•
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit
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Independent auditors' report (continued)
to the members of Beaconsfield Footwear Limited

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the Statement of directors' responsibilities set out on page 8, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statemenls that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Jn preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council's website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor's report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.
,,,,-

tJ �Y t 'v\�J\SA_

l L\J

Victoria Venning (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
Manchester
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Income statement
for the 52 weeks ended 27 January 2019

Notes
2

Turnover

Cost of sales
Gross Profit

Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Operating (Loss}/Profit

Exceptional items: impainnent of amounts owed by group
undertakings
Profit on disposal of fixed assets
Interest receivable and similar income
Interest payable and similar charges
(Loss}/Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

Tax on (loss)/profit on ordinary activities
(Loss}/Profit for the financial period

3
IO

s
6

52weeks
ended 27
January
2019
£000

52 weeks
ended 28
January
2018
£000

93,037
(36!100)
56,937
(4,191)
{542346)
(1,600)

100,777
(362490)
64,287
(4,502)
(542753 )
5,032

(31,270)
17
(18)
(32,871)
340
(32,531)

29
(17 )
5,044
{348)
4 696

All amounts relate to continuing activities.
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Statement of comprehensive income

for the 52 weeks ended 27 January 2019

52weeks
ended 27
January
2019

52weeks
ended 28
January
2018

(32,531)

4,696

(32,531)

4,696

£000

£000

(Loss)/Profit for the financial period
Total other comprehensive (loss)lincome
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the period

Statement of changes in equity
for the 52 weeks ended 27 January 2019
Called up
share capital

Profit and
loss account

Total
equity

42

37,033

37,075

At 28 January 2018

42

At 27 January 2019

42

4 696
41,729
(32,531 )
9,198

4 696
41,771
(32,531)
9.240

£000

At 29 January 2017
Profit for the period
Loss for the period

£000

£000
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Statement of financial position
at 27 January 2019

Notes

27 January 28January
2018
2019
£000
£000

Fixed assets

Tangible assets
Investments

7
8

Current assets

Stocks
Debtors: amounts due in more than one year
Debtors: amounts due in less than one year
Cash at bank and in hand

9
10
10

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

11

Net current (liabilities)/assets
Total assets less current liabilities

11,571

7,445

11,571

7,445

12,309

15,314
27,737
4,441
11 443
58,935

4,828
102209
27,346
(124}
11,447

{242559}
34,376
41,821

{272470}

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

12

(32)

(50)

Provisionsfor liabilities

14

{2,175)
9 240

41 771

42
9 198
9,240

42
41,729
41,771

Net assets
Capital and reserves

Called up share capital
Profit and loss account

16

Shareholders' funds

These financial statements were. approved
.
. for issue by the Board of Directors and were signed on its
behalfby:

I A Watson
Chief Executive Officer
3o ���A..
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Notes to the financial statements
for the period ended 27 January 2019

1.

Accounting policies
Statement of compliance

Beaconsfield Footwear Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in England. The Registered
Office is 2 Peel Road, West Pimbo, Skelmersdale, Lancashire, WN8 9PT.
The Company's financial statements have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102 as it applies to the
financial statements of the Group for the period ended 27 January 20 I 9.
Basis of preparation and change in accounting policy

The financial statements of Beaconsfield Footwear Limited were approved for issue by the Board of
Directors on 30 October 2019. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable
accounting standards. The financial statements are prepared in sterling which is the functional currency of
the company and rounded to the nearest £'000.
The company's parent undertaking, Galaxy Topco Limited includes the company in its consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements of Galaxy Topco Limited are available to the
public and may be obtained from 2 Peel Road, West Pirnbo, Skelmersdale, Lancashire, WNS 9PT. ln these
financial statements, the company is considered to be a qualifying entity (for the purposes of this FRS) and
has applied the exemptions available under FRS 102 in respect of the following disclosures:
Cash Flow Statement and related notes; and
Key Management Personnel compensation.
Group financial statements

The company has taken the exemptions under FRS I 02 not to prepare group financial statements as it is
included within the financial statements of a parent undertaking, Galaxy Topco Limited.
These financial statements present information about the company as an individual undertaking and not
about its group.
Going concern

Beaconsfield Footwear Limited is the main trading company of the Galaxy Topco Group. The Company's
business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, its financial position
and its exposures to principal risks and uncertainties are described in the Strategic Report on pages 2 to 4.
The Company's plans, forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonable changes in trading
performance, show that the Company will be able to operate within the level of the Galaxy Topco Group's
current banking facilities in achieving its trading and transformational objectives.
The directors are cognisant of the challenging trading conditions impacting the markets in which the
Company operates. These conditions could impact on both the trading performance of the Company and on
the appetite for financial institutions to support the Company in operation should its performance deteriorate
or through refinancing of the Group's debt.
The Galaxy Topco Group's main banking facilities (2019: £20.lm, 2018: £31.9m) are due for renewal in
July 2021. In the normal course this facility will be renegotiated in the first half of 2020.
The Directors recognise that should performance of the Company deteriorate there are plausible trading
sensitivities that, if unmitigated, whilst not resulting in the Company running out of cash, could result in a
breach of the Group's banking covenants. The Company has forecasting processes in place to ensure that
any risk of such a breach would be known well in advance and has dealt successfully with such forecast
situations in the past through a combination of trading actions and of the support of its banks and of its
ultimate controlling party. Whilst recognising the risk, the directors are confident that should such a situation
arise in the future an appropriate solution would be found. The Directors do however recognise that under
1SA570 this scenario constitutes a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the Group's (and
therefore this Company's) ability to continue as a going concern.
Given the improvement in trading performance post period end, the pace of strategic implementation and
the ongoing stated support of Electra Private Equity PLC, and the prior support of its banks, the Directors
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Notes to the financial statements
for the period ended 27 January 2019

1.

Accounting policies (continued)
Going Concern (continued)

have a confident expectation that the Company has adequate re!:lources to continue in operational t:!Xistence
for the fureseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
annual report and financial statements. The financial statements do not therefore contain the adjustments
that would result if the company was unable to continue as a going concern.
Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the year-end date and the
amounts reported for revenues and expenses during the year. However, the nature of estimation means that
actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. The following judgements (apart from those involving
estimates) have had the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether an asset may be impaired. Where there are
indicators of impainnent of individual assets, the Company performs impairment tests based on fair value
less costs to sell or a value in use calculation. The fair value less costs to sell calculation is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm's length transaction on similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is
based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years
and do not include restructuring activities that the Company is not yet committed to or significant future
investments that will enhance the asset's performance of the cash generating unit being tested. The
recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as well
as the expected future cash flows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.
Taxation

The Company establishes provisions based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits
by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions are
based on various factors, such as experience with previous tax audits and differing interpretations of tax
regulations by'the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority.
Management estimation is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with an assessment of the effect of
future tax planning strategies. Further details are contained in note 6.
Provisions

The Company establishes provisions relating to dilapidations on the exit of its retail stores. This requires
the Company to determine an estimated value of the likely cost of dilapidations for the entirety of its retail
estate. The effect of the time value of money is not material and therefore the provisions are not
discounted.
Significant Accounting Policies
Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Such cost includes costs directly attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended.
Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets, at rates calculated to write off the cost, less estimated
residual value, of each asset on a systematic basis over its expected useful life as follows:
Leasehold land and buildings - over the shorter of the lease term and 20 years
Plant and machinery, and fixtures and fittings - 10 to 33.3% straight-line
Motor vehicles - 25% straight line
16
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Notes to the financial statements
for the period ended 27 January 2019

1.

Accounting policies (continued)
Significant Accounting Policies (continuer#)
Tangible fixed assets (continued)

The carrying values oftangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that the Company obtains the right to consideration in exchange for its
performance. Revenue is measured at the fair value ofthe consideration received, excluding discounts,
rebates, VAT and other sales taxes or duty. The following criteria must also be met before revenue is
recognised:
Sale ofgoods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods have passed to the buyer, usually on dispatch of the goods, the amount ofrevenue can be measured
reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity and
the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
Investments

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all costs incurred in bringing
each product to its present location and condition, as follows:
Raw materials, consumables and goods for resale - purchase cost on a first-in, first-out basis
Work in progress and finished goods - cost of direct materials and labour plus attributable overheads
based on a normal level of activity
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred to
completion and disposal.
Research and development

Research and development expenditure is written off as incurred, except that development expenditure
incurred on an individual project is capitalised as an intangible asset when the company can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability ofresources to complete the asset and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during development.
Provisions for liabilities

A provision is recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions for the expected costs ofmaintenance under guarantees are charged against profits when a legal
or constructive obligation arises. The effect of the time value ofmoney is not material and therefore the
provisions are not discounted.
Taxation

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end
date.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences which are differences between taxable
profits and total comprehensive income that arise from the inclusion ofincome and expenses in tax
17
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1.

Accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

assessments in periods different from those in which they are recognised in the financial statements,
except that:
•
•

•

provision is made for deferred tax that would arise on remittance of the retained earnings of
overseas subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures only to the extent that, at the year-end date,
dividends have been accrued as receivable;
where there are differences between amounts that can be deducted for tax for assets (other than
goodwill) and liabilities compared with the amounts that are recognised for those assets and
liabilities in a business combination a deferred tax liability/(asset) shall be recognised. The
amount attributed to goodwill is adjusted by the amount of the deferred tax recognised; and
unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the
directors consider that it probable that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax
liabilities or other future taxable profits.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods
in which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
year-end date.
Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the entity's functional currency by applying the
spot exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the year-end date. All differences are
taken to the income statement.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and in hand and
short term deposits with an original maturity date of three months or less. For the purpose of the
consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
Short-term debtors and creditors

Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate and receivable or payable within one year are recorded at
transaction price. Any losses arising from impairment are recognised in the income statement in other
operating expenses.
Leasing and hire purchase commitments

Assets held under finance leases, which are leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset have passed to the Company, and hire purchase contracts are capitalised in the
statement of financial position and are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the asset's useful
lives. A corresponding liability is recognised for the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the
present value of the minimum lease payments in the statement of financial position. Lease payments are
apportioned between the reduction of the lease liability and finance charges in the income statement so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged in the income statement on a straight line basis over
the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised over the lease term on a straight line basis.
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All interest-bearing loans and borrowings which are basic financial instruments are initially recognised at
the present value of cash payable to the bank (including interest). After initial recognition they are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less impairment. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in finance revenue in the income statement.
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for the period ended 27 January 2019

1.

Accounting policies (continued)
Pensions
The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme.
Classification of shares as debt or equity
An equity instrument is a contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all its liabilities. Accordingly, a financial instrument is treated as equity if:
(i) there is no contractual obligation to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange financial assets
or liabilities on tenns that may be unfavourable; and
(ii) the instrument is a non-derivative that contains no contractual obligations to deliver a variable number
of shares or is a derivative that will be settled only by the Company exchanging a fixed amount of cash or
other assets for a fixed number of the Company's own equity instruments.
When shares are issued, any component that creates a financial liability of the company is presented as a
liability in the statement of financial position; measured initially at fair value net of transaction costs and
thereafter at amortised cost until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The corresponding dividends
relating to the liability component are charged as interest expense in the income statement. The initial fair
value of the liability component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent liability without a
conversion feature.
The remainder of the proceeds on issue is allocated to the equity component and included in shareholders'
equity, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the equity component is not re-measured in
subsequent years.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the shares based on the
allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the instruments are first recognised.
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2.

Turnover
Turnover represents the amounts derived from the provision ofgoods which fall within the Company's
ordinary activities, stated net ofvalue added tax.
The Company operates in one principal area ofactivity, that ofthe sale of footwear and accessories.
The Company operates within two geographical markets, the United Kingdom and the Rest ofthe world.
Turnover represents amounts invoiced to third parties and is attributable to one continuing activity: the
sale offootwear and accessories.
An analysis ofturnover by geographical market is given below:

United Kingdom
Rest of World

52weeks
ended27
January
2019
£000

52weeks
ended28
January
2018
£000

78,381

82,689
18,088

14,656
93 037

100 777

52weeks
ended27
January
2019
£000

52weeks
ended28
January
2018
£000

87,427
5,610
93,037

95,940
4,837
100 777

An analysis ofturnover by channel is given below:

Direct to consumer
Wholesale
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Notes to the financial statements
for the period ended 27 January 2019

3.

Operating (loss)/profit
This is stated after charging:

Depreciation:

- of owned tangible fixed assets
- of tangible fixed assets held under hire purchase

Total depreciation charge

Operating lease rentals
- land and buildings
- plant and machinery
Auditors' remuneration:
Audit of the company's financial statements
Total audit
Fees payable to the company's auditor and its associates for other services
- tax
- other
Total non-audit services

138

52weeks
ended27
January
2019
£000

52weeks
ended28
January
2018
£000

2,836
67
2,903

3,016

56
3,072

7,380

7,489

74
74

55
55

18

113
10
123

6
24
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Notes to the financial statements
for the period ended 27 January 2019

4. Staff costs
a)

Staff costs

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

52weeks
ended27
January
2019
£000

52weeks
ended28
January
2018
£000

19,002
1,302
462
202766

19,873
1,412
350
211635

The average monthly number offull-time equivalent employees, including Directors during the period was
made up as follows:

Production and management
Sales and distribution

No.

No.

280
595
875

311
652
963

The company contributed into a number ofpersonal and group defined contribution schemes for the
benefit ofemployees. The total contributions paid in the period amounted to £462,000 (52 weeks ended 28
January 2018 -£350,000). At 27 January 2019, there were unpaid contributions of £38,000 (52 weeks
ended 28 January 2018 -£27,000).
b)

Directors' remuneration

Aggregate remuneration in respect of qualifying services
Value of company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes

52weeks
ended27
January
2019
£000

52weeks
ended28
January
2018
£000

481
29

800
48

Included in the above are amounts relating to payments in lieu of notice of£nil (2018: £101,500).
Remuneration ofthe highest paid director:
Period ended Period ended
27 January 28January
2019
2018
£000
£000
Aggregate remuneration
Value ofcompany pension contributions to defined contribution schemes

212
20

273
8

Included in the above are amounts relating to payments in lieu ofnotice of£nil (2018: £101,500).
During the period 2 (2018 -2) directors accrued benefits under personal pension schemes.
22
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5.

Interest payable and similar charges

Hire purchase and finance lease charges
Other interest payable

6.

52weeks
ended27
January
2019
£000

52weeks
ended28
January
2018
£000

4

4

14
18

13
17

52weeks
ended27
January
2019
£000

52weeks
ended28
January
2018
£000

Tax
(a)

Tax on (loss)/profit on ordinary activities

The tax (credit)/charge is made up as follows:

Current tax:

UK corporation tax at 19% (2018 - 19.16%)
Tax overprovided in previous periods
Total current tax

562
(5)
557

Deferred tax:

Origin�tion and reversal of timing differences
Adjustment in respect of previous periods
Effect of changes in tax rates
Deferred tax (note 6(d))

(379)
(I)
40
(340)

56
(259)
(6)
(209)

Tax on (loss)/profit on ordinary activities (note 6(b))

p40}

348
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6.

Tax (continued)
(b)

Factors affecting the total tax (credit)/charge

The tax assessed for the period differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19 % (2018 19.16%). The differences are reconciled below:

(Loss)/Profit on ordinary activities before tax

(Loss)/Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation
tax in the UK of 19% (2018 - 19.16%)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Transfer pricing adjustments
Income not taxable
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous period
Changes in tax laws and rates
Group tax relief
Impairment of amounts owed by group undertakings
Total tax expense (note 6(a))
(c)

52 weeks
ended27
January
2019
£000

52 weeks
ended28
January
20/8
£000

(32,871)

5,044

52weeks
ended27
January
2019
£000

52weeks
ended28
January
2018
£000

(6,245)
69
176

966
112
176

(I)
40
(320)
5,941
(340)

(264)
(6)
(636)
348

Factors that may affect future tax charges

At Summer Budget 2015, the government announced legislation setting the Corporation Tax main rate at
19% for the years starting the I April 2017, 2018 and 2019 and at 18% for the year starting I Apri I 2020.
At Budget 2016, the government announced a further reduction to the Corporation Tax main rate for the
year starting I April 2020, setting the rate at 17%.
As at 27 January 2019, the reductions in the rate of corporation tax to 19% and 17% had been
substantively enacted. Deferred tax as at 27 January 2019 has been calculated at 17% (2018: 17%), being
the enacted rate at which the deferred tax is expected to reverse.
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6.

Tax (continued)
(d)

Deferred tax

The deferred tax included in the statement of financial position as follows:
52weeks
52weeks
ended 28
ended 27
January 2019 January 2018

£000

I 103

Included in debtors (note IO)

£000
763

The balance of the deferred taxation account consists of the tax effect of timing differences in respect of:
Decelerated capital allowances
Other timing differences

1,043
60
I 103

605
158
763

£000
763

At 28 January 2018
Adjustment in respect of prior years
Deferred tax charge to income statement for the period
At 27 January 2019

142
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7. Tangible fixed assets

Fixtures and
fittings
£000

Motor
vehicles
£000

Plant and
machinery
£000

Total
£000

Cost or valuation:
At 28 January 2018
Additions
Disposals
At 27 January 2019

23,481
5,892
{458)
28,915

264
59
(53)
270

8,924
1,086
(367)
9 643

32,669
7,037
(878)
38,828

Depreciation:
At 28 January 2018
Charge for the period
Disposals
At 28 January 2019

17,419
2,254
{458)
19,215

109
67
(51)
125

7,696
582
(361)
7 917

25,224
2,903
{870}
27,257

9,700
6,062

145
155

1,726
1,228

11,571
7 445

Canying amount
At 27 January 2019
At 28 January 2018

Included in the amounts for motor vehicles above are the following amounts relating to leased assets and
assets acquired under hire purchase contracts:
Total
£000
Cost or valuation:
At 28 January 2018
Additions
Disposals
At 27 January 2019

264
59
(53}
270

Depreciation:
At 28 January 2018
Charge for the period
Disposals
At 27 January 2019

109
67
(50
125

Carrying amount
At 27 January 2019
At 28 January 2018

145
155
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8.

Investments

Subsidiary
undP.rtnkings
£000

Company
At 27 January 2019 and 28 January 2018
Principal fixed asset investments:

Name

Comfort Concept Limited

Class of share
Ordinary

Proportion
held
100%

Country of
incorporation

UK

Nature of
business
Donnant

The company's voting rights in respect of the investments are held in the same proportion as the
company's share of the ordinary share capital of each company.

9.

Stocks

27January
2019
£000

28January
2018
£000

1,648

2,959
59
12,296
15 314

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

112
10,549
12,309

The difference between purchase price or production cost of stocks and their replacement cost is not
material.
Finished goods includes a provision for obsolete stock of £211,000 (2018 - £60,000).
Stocks recognised as an expense in the period were £36,100,000 (2018: £36,490,000).

10. Debtors

Trade debtors
Amounts owed by group undertakings
Other debtors
Prepayments
Corporation tax
Deferred tax (note 6(d))

27 January
2019
£000

28January
2018
£000

1,317

1,076
27,737
384
2,218

266
2,002
140
1 103
4,828

763
32,178

Amounts owed by group undertakings includes an impairment of £31,270,000 (2018 - £nil) recognised in
the period, this represents a full write down of the asset to its recoverable amount.
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11. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Obligations under hire purchase contracts (note 13)
Trade creditors
Amounts owed to group undertakings
Corporation tax
Other taxes and social security costs
Other creditors
Accruals

27 January
2019
£000

28 January

58
6,388
14,278

50
6,625
10,278
101
2,177
1,366
32962
24!559

2,710
368
3 668
272470

2018
£000

Whilst the directors have received confirmation from the directors of the relevant group company the
intercompany creditor will not be called for repayment within 1 year, there are no formal repayment terms
and as such, it has been classified as due within one year.

12. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Obligations under hire purchase contracts

27 January
2019
£000

28 January

32
32

50
50

2018
£000

28
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13. Obligations under leases and hire purchase contracts
The company uses finance leases and hire purchase contracts to acquirt:: motor vehicles. These leases have
terms of renewal but no purchase options and escalation clauses. Renewals are at the option of the lessee.
Future minimum lease payments due under finance leases and hire purchase contracts:
27January

28January

58
35
93
(3}
90

54
54
108
(8}
100

2019
£000

Amounts payable:
Within one year
In two to five years
Less: finance charges allocated to future periods

2018
£000

Hire purchase contracts are secured on the assets concerned.
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases, exclusively relating to Property,
are as follows:
27January

28January

6,528
13,362
1,295
21,185

6,996
14,066
2!200
23!262

2019
£000

Within one year
In one to five years
Over five years

2018
£000

Expiry date is taken to be the earlier of the lease expiry date and the date of break clause (if applicable)
contained within the lease.
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14. Provisions for liabilities
Provision for
dilapidations
on leases

Total

2,175
2 175

2,175
2,175

£000

At 28 January 2018
Arising during the year
At 27 January 2019

£000

A provision is recognised for the obligation under lease for dilapidations arising on the exiting ofretail
stores.
In 2018 there was a dilapidations provision for £300,000 held within accruals. This has not been
reclassified to provisions in the 2018 statement of financial position on the grounds of materiality.

15. Financial instruments
27 January

28January

1,317

1,076
27,737

90
6,388
14,278

100
6,625
10,278

2019
£000

Financial assets that are debt instruments
measured at amortised cost
Trade debtors
Amounts owed by group undertakings

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Obligations under hire purchase contracts (Note13)
Trade creditors
Amounts owed to group undertakings

16. Share capital

27 January

Authorised, allotted, called up andfally paid
Ordinary shares of £1 each

2018
£000

28January

No.

2019
£000

No.

20/8
£000

42,000

42

42,000

42

17. Capital commitments
Amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements amounted to £nil (2018 -£nil).
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18. Other arrangements
The Company enters into operating lease arrangements for the hire of buildings as these arrangements are
a cost efficient way of obtaining the short-term benefits of these assets. The Company lease rental expense
for the year is disclosed in Note 3 and the total future company commitments under these arrangements
are disclosed in Note 13. There are no other material arrangements that are not disclosed within the
financial statements of the company.
The senior bank debt totalling £20, l 00,000, together with the Revolving Credit Facility of £2,500,000,
held within Galaxy Bidco Limited, is secured over all the assets of the Galaxy Topco Limited Group of
companies. The loan notes, held within Galaxy Topco Limited and Galaxy Midco Limited, of
£159,721,000 are subordinated to the bank debt.

19. Contingent liabilities
There are no contingent liabilities as at the year-end date.
20. Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption conferred under FRS I 02 in respect of disclosure of
transactions with other wholly owned members of the Galaxy Topco Limited Group.
The ultimate parent undertaking is Galaxy Topco Limited. 97% of the issued share capital of Galaxy
Topco Limited is held by Electra Private Equity pie, the controlling party.
During the period, the company paid Electra Private Equity pie £150,000 (28 January 2018: £150,000) for
monitoring and advisory services. £nil (28 January 2018: £12,500) was owed to Electra Private Equity pie
at 27 January 2019.
21. Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party
At 27 January 2019, the company was a subsidiary of Hotter Limited.
The entire issued share capital of the company is indirectly owned by Galaxy Topco Limited; a company
incorporated in Great Britain and registered in England and Wales.
The ultimate parent undertaking is Galaxy Topco Limited; a company incorporated in Great Britain and
registered in England and Wales. 97% of the issued share capital of the company is held by Electra Private
Equity pie, the controlling party.
The smallest and largest group in which the results of the company are consolidated is Galaxy Topco
Limited. The group financial statements of Galaxy Topco Limited can be obtained from Companies
House, Crown Way, Cardiff, CFl4 3UZ.

22. Events after the reporting period
No material events have been deemed to have occurred after the reporting period.
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Strategic report
The directors present their strategic report and the financial statements for the 53 weeks ended 2 February
2020.

Principal activities and review of the business
The company's primary undertaking is the manufacture and sale of footwear. The Company sells the
majority of its product through online and traditional direct marketing to consumers in the UK and US. It
also sells product through a focussed UK retail estate.
Following the appointment oflan Watson as Chief Executive in March 2019, the leadership team was further
strengthened with the appointment of Adam Griggs as Chief Financial Officer in August 2019. Since this
time the Company has implemented its new strategic plan comprising four pillars as shown below. This
strategy is being executed aggressively with results starting to be seen in the 53 week period ended 2nd
February 2020.
Alignment of brand and product:
• differentiated product focussing on uncompromising comfort and fit within a structured range that
meets our customers' needs; and
• unique technology solutions reinforcing our excellence in comfort and fit.
Optimal route to the consumer:
• focus on own direct to consumer channels supported by technology and strategic fitting centres to
deliver an optimised customer experience; and
• partnership with third parties where appropriate.
Drive to best cost:
•
•

optimised and resilient supply chain; and
build / buy flexibility to ensure product range is unconstrained.

People, process and systems
•
•

customer facing and key internal processes optimised; and
investment in key skills delivering customer and commercial benefit.

In the period ended 2 February 2020, revenues were 8% lower than the prior year and reflects the
Company's strategy of focusing on profitable sales. Most of the reduction came from retail and the US
Direct business, where revenues fell £3.2m compared with the period ended 27 January 2019, whilst
EBITDA improved by £l.7m. As a result of this strategy gross profit improved 1.3 percentage points
compared with the period ended 27 January 2019.
Key performance indicators

The directors monitor the following key performance indicators for the company on a monthly basis and at
the period end they were as follows:
53 weeks Restated 52
ended 2 weeks ended
February 27 January
2019
2020
Turnover
Operating profit/(loss)
EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA
Cash
Net assets

£000

£000

85,528
76
(3,338)
3,894
8,590
299

93,037
(1,787)
1,320
3,550
10,209
8,118
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EBITDA of (£3,338,000) (52 weeks ended 27 January 2019-£1,320,000) is calculated as EBIT of
(£7,601,000) (Restated 52 weeks ended 27 January 2019-(£33,040,000)) adjusted to add back
depreciation of £2,780,000 (Restated 52 weeks ended 27 January 2019 - £3,090,000) and impairment of
amounts owed to group undertakings of £1,483,000 (52 weeks ended 27 January 2019-£31,270,000).
Adjusted EBITDA of £3,894,000 (52 weeks ended 27 January 2019 - £3,550,000) is calculated as
EBITDA adjusted to add back exceptional costs for management reporting of £7,232,000 (52 weeks ended
27 January 2019-£2,230,000). These relate to non-trading expenses which are one-off in nature, and are
therefore excluded from underlying trading performance for the purposes of management reporting. These
include business and consultancy expense related to restructuring, management charges incurred and the
write-off of fixed assets. These assets relate to the implementation of the Microsoft AX Enterprise
Resource Planning (ERP) system in relation to which Microsoft is intending to withdraw support from
2021. The assets had a cost value of £7,195,000 and a carrying value of £6, I 04,000. The business has
subsequently invested in a more modem platform, Microsoft Dynamics 365 which will replace Microsoft
AX.
As noted above, the directors are satisfied with the strategic progress made during the year. This includes
progress with actions that will improve working capital, inventory tum and cash management.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The directors have identified the principal risks and uncertainties as being:
UK and US Consumer and Retail Trading environment

The Company sells the majority of its product through online and traditional direct marketing to
consumers in the UK and US. It also sells product through a UK retail estate. The Company is therefore
exposed to market conditions and fluctuations in these markets. The Directors have taken and continue to
take actions to focus and manage the Company's activities to increase resilience and flexibility to cope
with such fluctuations and longer-term structural changes.
Financing risk

The prevalent conditions in the markets in which the Company operates also impact on financing risk
through the appetite of banks to provide facilities to businesses in our markets and the appetite of credit
insurers to provide coverage to suppliers. The Board and that of Electra Private Equity PLC continue to
monitor these risks and act accordingly.
Foreign exchange risk

The Company buys goods in currencies other than sterling. As a result, the value of the Company's non
sterling purchases and financial liabilities can be affected by movements in exchange rates.
Foreign exchange risk is mitigated through natural hedging as a result of trading in the USA and by
agreeing a sterling exchange rate with a number of foreign suppliers a season in advance.
Liquidity risk

The Company manages liquidity risk by closely monitoring and forecasting cash generation from
operations and ensuring that cash outflows do not exceed cash inflows to the point where a cash deficit is
realised. The Company also manages liquidity risk via loans provided by other group members. As a
result, the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.
Credit risk

The Company's credit risk is solely related to sales to independent retailers, before undertaking business
with these customers the Company performs a full credit rating and a credit control department constantly
monitors the position of the sales ledger. The directors have assessed the recoverability of the year end
trade debtors and have made provision where deemed necessary, the balance is deemed to be fully
recoverable.
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Industry risks

The directors have assessed the main risk facing the Company, as the continued intense competition of the
footwear market in the main trading geographies. The directors mitigate this risk by continuing to develop
the footwear collection, with new and improved designs, and by maintaining the Hotter brand and product
unique selling points of: Comfort, quality, fit and great customer service.
Brexit

The directors have conducted a thorough review of the risks associated with Brexit and are confident that
it will not have a material impact on the ability of the Company to continue to trade, nor on financial
performance. Notwithstanding this, there remains a risk that consumer confidence and demand may be
reduced as a result of any broader impact on the UK economy as a whole.
In particular, the Company has amended inbound logistics arrangements to avoid potential congestion at
European and UK seaports. Further, a detailed review of potential changes in import duty has concluded
that any resulting increases will not be material to the Company's financial performance, with the majority
of raw materials sourced from countries outside the EU with whom rates of duty are unlikely to change.
The Company has a small business exporting product direct to customers in the EU. At the time of signing
the financial statements, arrangements were being put in place to enable the Company to continue to
operate this business. Whilst there is a significant likelihood of some disruption to these operations during
the early part of 2021, the likely financial impact is again immaterial due to the small scale of this business
activity.
Coronavirus

Since the balance sheet date, the global coronavirus pandemic has had a significant and material impact on
the business. Further details are provided in the Director's report on pages 5 to 9.
Whilst residual risk relating to Coronavirus remains, the actions taken by the Directors since the balance
sheet date have reduced this risk significantly. 1n particular
•
•

•
•

•

The business's exposure to retail has been reduced from a portfolio of 82 stores at the end of
January 2020 to a portfolio of 17 high performing stores and six garden centre concessions.
The size of the company's workforce has reduced from 1,038 employees immediately prior to the
first lockdown in March 2020 to 469, including a reduction in factory, distribution centre and
head office workers, as well as the reduction in the retail estate, right-sizing the business for the
future growth.
The reduction in exposure to retail and in overheads has in total removed £16 million from the
company's fixed cost base.
The company has put in place strict Coronavirus health and safety measures, including remote
working wherever possible, and social distancing and the wearing of appropriate personal
protective equipment ("PPE") where it is necessary for colleagues to physically attend work. The
company keeps these health and safety measures under constant review through a Coronavirus
Committee, which is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer and meets weekly.
The Company's supply chain has proven to be robust during the pandemic. During the summer
of 2020, purchases were put on hold as the Company had enough stock on hand to meet
consumer demand. In August 2020, the supply chain was successfully reactivated and since this
time has continued to perform strongly.

By order of the Board

/76�

AB Griggs

Director
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Directors' report
The directors present their Directors' report and financial statements for the 53 weeks ended 2 February
2020.

.

As permitted by Section 414 of the Companies Act 2006, information can be found in the strategic report
and form part of this report by cross reference.

Dividends
The directors do not recommend a final dividend (2019 - £nil).

Directors
The directors who served the company during the period, and subsequently, were as follows:
RC Perkins (resigned 2 October 2019)
I A Watson (appointed 7 May 2019)
A JBuckley (resigned 20 May 2019)
S E Prowse (resigned 8 March 2019)
AB Griggs (appointed 14 November 2019)

SECTION 172 COMPANIES ACT REPORT

TheBoard of Directors confirms that during the year under review, it has acted to promote the long-term
success of the Company for the benefit of shareholders, whilst having due regard to the matters set out in
section 172(1) (a) to (f) of the Companies Act 2006, being:
The likely consequences of any decision in the long term.
The interests of the Company's employees.
The need to foster the Company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others.
The impact of the Company's operations on the community and the environment.
The desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct.
The need to act fairly as between members of the Company.
Each of the Directors is mindful of their duties under section 172 (s 172) to run the Company for the
benefit of its shareholders, and in doing so, to take into account the long-term impact of any decisions on
stakeholder relationships and the impact of its activities on its reputation for high standards of business
conduct.
Whilst theBoard of Directors regularly meets on a formal basis, it is their normal working practice to also
discuss key issues and decisions on a more informal basis as and when the need arises. This is key to
ensuring that the Company's shareholder's views are fully considered.

Our Customers
Delivering our business strategy requires strong mutually beneficial relationships with customers. The
Board receives regular reporting on customer outcomes and customer related strategic initiatives
throughout the year. TheBoard closely monitors customer metrics and engages with the Management
team to understand the issues if our performance does not meet our customers' expectations. The board
continues to monitor and review changes to our infrastructure which will allow us to simplify and support
service delivery to our customers.
Our Suppliers
The Directors maintain oversight of the management of our most important suppliers and regularly review
their performance. Our established supplier standards set out ways of working and the high standards we
expect of our suppliers.
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During the Covid-19 pandemic, the Company has sought to balance the needs of all stakeholders including
employees, suppliers, customers, bankers, shareholders and tax authorities. The Directors' top priority
throughout has been to ensure the Company's financial stability and liquidity. In doing so, the directors
have maintained close contact with the Company's stakeholders and in particular with suppliers and
bankers.
As noted elsewhere in this report, a CV A was completed after the balance sheet date. In both deciding on
this course of action, and in designing the terms of the CVA, the directors considered the short-term
impact (in particular the need to ensure the business remained solvent) and the longer-term impact. Whilst
some landlords were financially affected and many employees had their employment with the Company
terminated, this was necessary to ensure the ongoing viability of the Company, thereby preserving jobs for
the remaining employees. As part of the CV A, other creditors were not affected, and whilst payments to
some suppliers were delayed, none was compromised.
Whilst securing the short-term future of the business, this action has also resulted in a more sustainable
business structure for the future. Retail has experienced increasingly difficult trading conditions over
recent years, with more and more business moving to online channels. The Company already had a strong
direct to consumer offering through catalogues and online channels and the directors and shareholder
believe that a strategic focus on these channels will maximise shareholder value to the greatest extent.
Throughout the Covid-19 pandemic, the directors have been particularly mindful of the welfare of the
Company's employees. Every effort to provide a safe working environment have been made, regardless
of cost. The management team responsible meets weekly and is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer.

Results and performance in the reporting period
53 weeks Restated 52
ended 2 weeks ended
February 27 January
2019
2020
£000
£000
Turnover
Operating profit/(loss)
EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA
Cash
Net assets

85,528
76
(3,338)
3,894
8,590
299

93,037
(1,787)
1,320
3,550
10,209
8,118

During the period ended 2 February 2020, the business generated revenues of£85.Sm, operating profit of
£76k (which compares with a loss of£ I .Sm in the prior period), and adjusted EBITDA of£3.9m, an
improvement of I 0% on the prior period. Margin improved by 1.3 percentage points.
The directors are satisfied with the trading performance of the business during the period and in particular
with the performance in the USA business, which improved from a break-even position in the year ended
January 2019 to generating EBITDA of£ l .9million in the 53 weeks ended 2 February 2020.
Since the balance sheet date, the implementation of the Company's strategy has accelerated, and further
information is provided below.
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Events after the reporting period
Coronavirus
Since the balance sheet date, the global coronavirus pandemic has had a significant and material impact on
the business.
Whilst residual risk relating to Coronavirus remains, the actions taken by the Directors since the balance
sheet date have reduced this risk significantly. In particular
•
•

•
•

The business's exposure to retail has been reduced from a portfolio of 82 stores at the end of
January 2020 to a portfolio of 17 high performing stores and six garden centre concessions.
The size of the company's workforce has reduced from 1,038 employees immediately prior to the
first lockdown in March 2020 to 469, including a reduction in factory, distribution centre and
head office workers, as well as the reduction in the retail estate, right-sizing the business for the
future growth.
The reduction in exposure to retail and in overheads has in total removed £ 16 million from the
company's fixed cost base.
The company has put in place strict Coronavirus health and safety measures, including remote
working wherever possible, and social distancing and the wearing of appropriate personal
protective equipment ("PPE") where it is necessary for colleagues to physically attend work. The
company keeps these health and safety measures under constant review through a Coronavirus
Committee, which is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer and meets weekly.

The Group's supply chain has proven to be robust during the pandemic. During the summer of 2020,
purchases were put on hold as the Group had enough stock on hand to meet consumer demand. In August
2020, the supply chain was successfully reactivated and since this time has continued to perform strongly.
Company Voluntary Arrangement ("CVA")
As a direct result of the Coronavirus pandemic and the consequent downturn in sales which primarily
affected the retail business, the Directors undertook a Company Voluntary Arrangement through which
the Company's sought to reach agreement with landlords for the early exit from 51 retail leases.
This CVA passed with a vote of 99.5% in favour on 29 July 2020 and the period during which this
outcome could be challenged ended on 25 August 2020. Landlords received a dividend of 27.8 pence in
the pound. Other suppliers received payment in full.
The CVA was funded through loan notes in Galaxy Midco Limited of £2.0m subscribed by Electra Private
Equity PLC with the remaining costs funded from operating cash flows.
Whilst the directors deeply regret the impact of this process on the employees who lost their jobs as a
result, the CVA has put the Company in a much stronger position for the future, with 77% of revenues
now coming from online, mail order and contact centre sales. The Company's fixed cost base has reduced
by approximately £16million annually.
Business interruption insurance claim
The Company carries insurance with Royal Sun Alliance ("RSA") for business interruption. Following
the legal case between the Financial Conduct Authority and various insurance underwriters, the
Company's insurer has confirmed that the policy in place does provide cover for the business interruption
losses caused by the pandemic. On 27 November 2020, the Company submitted an initial estimate of
these losses to RSA. Work to finalise the insurance claim and agree the quantum of the payment due from
RSA was continuing on the date that the financial statements were signed, with the fust £2.5million
having been received from the insurers during December 2020.
Financing
Since the year end, the Galaxy Topco Group completed a refinancing process. Debt repayments due under
the existing bank facilities agreement were rescheduled. £ l million of bank debt will be repaid each half year
(in January and June) until June 2022, with the final balance due for repayment in January 2023.
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Future developments
On 13 November 2020, the Galaxy Topco Group's parent undertaking, Electra Private Equity PLC
confirmed that, consistent with the delivery of the Electra Private Equity PLC's realisation strategy, Stifel
Nicolaus Europe Limited had been engaged to conduct early preparation for the realisation ofits investment
in the Group. The timing of the launch ofany sales process will be determined over the coming months as
trading patterns normalise in the Group's new business model focussed on direct to consumer channels.
Going concern
Beaconsfield Footwear Limited is the main trading company of the Galaxy Topco Group. For the
purposes ofassessing the appropriateness ofpreparing the Company's accounts on a going concern basis,
the Directors have considered Galaxy Topco Group's current cash position, available banking facilities,
and the base financial forecasts through to January 2023, including the ability to adhere to bank covenants.
The Directors believe that following the execution of the Company Voluntary Arrangement, and the
completion of the refinancing of bank debt (including the resetting of covenants), excluding the potential
impact of Coronavirus (considered below), the Group has adequate resources to continue to trade for the
foreseeable future and that the accounts should be prepared on a going concern basis.
Under the banking facilities, the following covenant tests apply:
•

Cash flow cover must not fall below prescribed limits, tested quarterly with effect from September
2021;

•

Net interest cover must not fall below prescribed limits, tested quarterly with effect from
September 2021;
The Leverage Ratio must not be above certain prescribed limits, tested quarterly with effect from
September 2021;
EBITDA must not fall below certain prescribed levels, with the first test to be applied on 31
March 2021 based on the preceding six months oftrading and the last test to be applied on 30
June 2021 based on the preceding nine months of trading

•
•

The Group's forecasts show sufficient headroom against these covenant tests and as at 31 January 2021,
the company has cash and cash equivalents of£4.Smillion which the Directors consider to be sufficient to
maintain liquidity during forthcoming seasonal cash low points.
The Group has £18 I .6m of shareholder loan notes as at 2 February 2020 with a redemption date of
December 2022, 97.3% of these loan notes are held by the ultimate parent company, Electra Private
Equity pie who have provided assurance that they have no intention ofrequiring repayment except in the
event of; the sale ofpart or all ofthe Group or its trading business, the initiation ofprior debt
acceleration/insolvency action by a third party, or any Group reorganisation that does not impact on the
solvency ofthe Group companies.
The directors of all companies within the Group have confirmed that mutual support regarding requests for
payment will be provided in respect of existing intercompany indebtedness and any indebtedness that may
arise between the group companies in the 12 month period following the signature ofthe financial
statements, such that each entity can continue to operate as a going concern.
As noted above, the Coronavirus pandemic has had a significant impact on the financial performance of
the Company, with the most severe effects being seen in the retail estate where shops were forced to close
during three periods in England, Scotland and Wales (from 23 March 2020 until 4 July 2020, from 5
November 2020 until 2 December 2020 and from 5 January 2021 ongoing on the date that the financial
statements were signed). The Company reacted quickly to this situation, temporarily closing the factory in
Skelmersdale and undertaking a CVA to reduce the Company's exposure to the fixed costs associated with
a large retail estate.
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Throughout the pandemic the Company's distribution centre has continued to function, serving customers
making purchases through direct channels. January 2021 trading was very strong with the Company
exceeding its forecast by 26% despite the closure of retail. The Company has also negotiated improved
payment terms with suppliers.
Following recent government announcements regarding the roll out of Coronavirus vaccines, the Directors
are optimistic about demand for the Company's spring / summer products. At the date of signing these
financial statements the third national lockdown was ongoing. The directors continue to review the
performance of the Company as the position changes. The latest forecast includes the impact of this latest
lockdown and the directors continue to remain confident that there is sufficient headroom for the
Company.
Therefore, the Directors believe that the Company is well placed to manage its business risks and, after
making enquiries including a review of forecasts and scenarios, taking account of the impact of the
pandemic on trading during 2020, reasonably possible changes in trading performances in the next 12
months and considering the available liquidity, and the resetting of Galaxy Topco Group's bank
covenants, have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the next 12 months following the date of approval of these financial statements.
Therefore, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial
statements.

Disabled employees
The Company gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the
requirements of the job can be adequately fulfilled by a handicapped or disabled person. Where existing
employees become disabled, it is policy wherever practicable to provide continuing employment under
normal terms and conditions and to provide training and career development and promotion to disabled
employees wherever appropriate.
Employee involvement
During the period, the policy of providing employees with information about the Company has been
continued through internal media methods in which employees have also been encouraged to present their
suggestions and views on the Company's performance. Regular meetings are held between local
management and employees to allow a free flow of information and ideas.
Charitable donations
During the year, the Company made charitable donations of £49,000 (2019: £38,000) as part of an
association with Marie Curie.
Political donations
No political donations were made in the year (2019: £nil).
Disclosure of information to the auditors
So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no relevant
audit information, being information needed by the auditor in connection with preparing its report, of
which the auditor is unaware. Having made enquiries of fellow directors and the Company's auditor, each
director has taken all the steps that he/she is obliged to take as a director in order to made himself/herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.
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Auditors
In accordance with s.485 of the Companies Act 2006, a resolution is to be proposed at the Annual General
Meeting for reappointment of RSM UK Audit LLP as auditor of the Company.
By order of theBoard

AB Griggs
Director

10

159

Beaconsfield Footwear Limited

Company Registration Number: 641365

Statement of directors' responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report and Directors Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law).
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company
for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•

make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

•

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Independent auditors' report
to the members of Beaconsfield Footwear Limited
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Beaconsfield Footwear Limited for the period ended 2 February
2020 which comprise the Income Statement, Statement of Comprehensive loss, Statement of Changes in
Equity, Statement of Financial Position, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland" (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice).
In our opinion, the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 2 February 2020 and of the loss
for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice;
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us
to report to you, where:
•
•

the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or
the directors have not disclosed in the fmancial statements any identified material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt about the company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements
are authorised for issue.

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent auditors' report (continued)
to the members of Beaconsfield Footwear Limited

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•
•

the information given in the strategic report and the directors' report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
the strategic report and the directors' report·has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course
of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors' report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•
•
•
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement set out on page 11, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council's website at: http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities This description
forms part of our auditor's report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.
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Independent auditors' report (continued)
to the members of Beaconsfield Footwear Limited

Alastair Nuttall (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of RSM UK Audit LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
9th Floor, 3rd Hardman Street
Manchester
M3 3EB

24 February 2021
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Income statement
for the 53 weeks ended 2 February 2020

Notes
2

Turnover

Cost of sales
Gross Profit

Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Operating Profitl(Loss)

Impairment of amounts owed by group undertakings
Profit/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets
Interest receivable and similar income
Interest payable and similar charges

3
10

5

Profitl(Loss) on ordinary activities before taxation

6

Tax on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities
(Loss) for the financial period

53 weeks Restated 52
ended 2 weeks ended
February 27 January
2019
2020
£000
£000
85,528
(32,068)
53,460
(3,201)
(50,183)
76
(1,483)
(6,194)

93,037
(36,100)
56,937
(4,191)
(54,533}
(1,787 )
(3 1,270)
17

(18)
(7,619)
141
(7,478)

(18)
(33,058)
340
(32,718)

All amounts relate to continuing activities.
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Statement of comprehensive income

for the 53 weeks ended 2 February 2020

53 weeks
ended 2
February

Restated 52
weeks
ended 27
January

(7,478)

(32,718)

(7,478)

(32,718 )

2019
£000

2020
£000

(Loss)/Profit for the financial period
Total other comprehensive (loss)lincome
Total comprehensive (loss)lincome for the period

Statement of changes in equity
for the 53 weeks ended 2 February 2020

Called up
share capital

Profit and
loss account

Total
equity

42

40,794

40,836

(32,718)

(32,718)
8,118
(7,478)
640

£000

As restated/or the period ended 27
January 2019
At 28 January 2018
Profit for the period
At 27 January 2019

42

At 2 February 2020

42

Loss for the period

£000

8,076
(7,478)
598

£000
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Statement of financial position
at 2 February 2020

Notes

Restated
2 February 27 January
2019
2020
£000
£000

Fixed assets

7
8

Tangible assets
Investments

7,556

10,449

7,556

10,449

Current assets

Stocks
Debtors: amounts due in less than one year
Cash at bank and in hand

9
10

11,023
5,018
8 590
24,631

12,309
4,828
102209
27,346

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

11

{29,449}

{27,470}
{124}

{42817}
2,739

Net current (liabilities)/assets
Total assets less current liabilities

10,325

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

12

(7)

(32 )

Provisions for liabilities'

14

{2,091}
640

{2,175}

Net assets
Capital and reserves

16

Called up share capital
Profit and loss account

42
598

640

Shareholders' funds

8,118

42
8 076
8 118

These financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors and were signed on its
behalf by:

/.".'.>�
AB Griggs

Director
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Notes to the financial statements
for the period ended 2 February 2020

1.

Accounting policies
Statement of compliance

Beaconsfield Footwear Limited is a private limited liability company limited by shares incorporated in
England. The Registered Office is 2 Peel Road, West Pimbo, Skelmersdale, Lancashire, WN8 9PT.
The Company's financial statements have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102 as it applies to the
financial statements of the Group for the period ended 2 February 2020.
Basis of preparation and change in accounting policy

The financial statements of Beaconsfield Footwear Limited were approved for issue by the Board of
Directors on 24 February 2021. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable
accounting standards. The financial statements are prepared in sterling which is the functional currency of
the company and rounded to the nearest £'000.
The company's parent undertaking, Galaxy Topco Limited includes the company in its consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements of Galaxy Topco Limited are available to the
public and may be obtained from 2 Peel Road, West Pimbo, Skelmersdale, Lancashire, WN8 9PT. In these
financial statements, the company is considered to be a qualifying entity (for the purposes of this FRS) and
has applied the exemptions available under FRS 102 in respect of the following disclosures:
Cash Flow Statement and related notes; and
Key Management Personnel compensation.
The financial statements for the period ended 2 February 2020 have been prepared on a 53 week basis
whereas the previous period was prepared on a 52 week basis. The inclusion of the additional week was
done in order to realign the date the financial statements were prepared to, such that it remained close to
the Company's accounting reference date.
Group financial statements

The company has taken the exemptions under FRS I 02 not to prepare group financial statements as it is
included within the financial statements of a parent undertaking, Galaxy Topco Limited.
These financial statements present information about the company as an individual undertaking and not
about its group.
Going concern

Beaconsfield Footwear Limited is the main trading company of the Galaxy Topco Group. For the.
purposes of assessing the appropriateness of preparing the Company's accounts on a going concern basis,
the Directors have considered Galaxy Topco Group's current cash position, available banking facilities,
and the base financial forecasts through to January 2023, including the ability to adhere to bank covenants.
The Directors believe that following the execution of the Company Voluntary Arrangement, and the
completion of the refinancing of bank debt (including the resetting of covenants), excluding the potential
impact of Coronavirus (considered below), the Group has adequate resources to continue to trade for the
foreseeable future and that the accounts should be prepared on a going concern basis.
Under the banking facilities, the following covenant tests apply:
•

Cash flow cover must not fall below prescribed limits, tested quarterly with effect from September
2021;

•

Net interest cover must not fall below prescribed limits, tested quarterly with effect from
September 2021;
The Leverage Ratio must not be above certain prescribed limits, tested quarterly with effect from
September 2021;
EBITDA must not fall below certain prescribed levels, with the first test to be applied on 31
March 2021 based on the preceding six months of trading and the last test to be applied on 30
June 2021 based on the preceding nine months of trading

•
•
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Notes to the financial statements
for the period ended 2 February 2020

1.

Accounting policies (continued)
The Group's forecasts show sufficient headroom against these covenant tests and as at 31 January 2021,
the company has cash and cash equivalents of £4.5million which the Directors consider to be sufficient to
maintain liquidity during forthcoming seasonal cash low points.
The Group has £181.6m of shareholder loan notes as at 2 February 2020 with a redemption date of
December 2022, 97.3% of these loan notes are held by the ultimate parent company, Electra Private
Equity pie who have provided assurance that they have no intention of requiring repayment except in the
event of; the sale of part or all of the Group or its trading business, the initiation of prior debt
acceleration/insolvency action by a third party, or any Group reorganisation that does not impact on the
solvency of the Group companies.
The directors of all companies within the Group have confirmed that mutual support regarding requests for
payment will be provided in respect of existing intercompany indebtedness and any indebtedness that may
arise between the group companies in the 12 month period following the signature of the financial
statements, such that each entity can continue to operate as a going concern.
As noted above, the Coronavirus pandemic has had a significant impact on the financial performance of
the Company, with the most severe effects being seen in the retail estate where shops were forced to close
during three periods in England, Scotland and Wales (from 23 March 2020 until 4 July 2020, from 5
November 2020 until 2 December 2020 and from 5 January 2021 ongoing on the date that the financial
statements were signed). The Company reacted quickly to this situation, temporarily closing the factory in
Skelmersdale and undertaking a CVA to reduce the Company's exposure to the fixed costs associated with
a large retail estate.
Throughout the pandemic the Company's distribution centre has continued to function, serving customers
making purchases through direct channels. January 2021 trading was very strong with the Company
exceeding its forecast by 26% despite the closure of retail. The Company has also negotiated improved
payment terms with suppliers.
Following recent government announcements regarding the roll out of Coronavirus vaccines, the DirectQrs
are optimistic about demand for the Company's spring / summer products. At the date of signing these
financial statements the third national lockdown was ongoing. The directors continue to review the
performance of the Company as the position changes. The latest forecast includes the impact of this latest·
lockdown and the directors continue to remain confident that there is sufficient headroom for the
Company.
Therefore, the Directors believe that the Company is well placed to manage its business risks and, after
making enquiries including a review of forecasts and scenarios, taking account of the impact of the
pandemic on trading during 2020, reasonably possible changes in trading performances in the next 12
months and considering the available liquidity, and the resetting of Galaxy Topco Group's bank
covenants, have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the next 12 months following the date of approval of these financial statements.
Therefore, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial
statements.
Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the year-end date and the
amounts reported for revenues and expenses during the year. However, the nature of estimation means that
actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. The following judgements (apart from those involving
estimates) have had the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.

19

168

Beaconsfield Footwear Limited

Company Registration Number: 641365

Notes to the financial statements
for the period ended 2 February 2020

1. · Accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether an asset may be impaired. Where there are
indicators of impairment of individual assets, the Company performs impairment tests based on fair value
less costs to sell or a value in use calculation. The fair value less costs to sell calculation is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm's length transaction on similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is
based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years
and do not include restructuring activities that the Company is not yet committed to or significant future
investments that will enhance the asset's performance of the cash generating unit being tested. The
recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as well
as the expected future cash flows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.
Taxation

The Company establishes provisions based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits
by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions are
based on various factors, such as experience with previous tax audits and differing interpretations of tax
regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority.
Management estimation is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with an assessment of the effect of
future tax planning strategies. Further details are contained in note 6.
Provisions

The Company establishes provisions relating to dilapidations on the exit of its retail stores. This requires
the Company to determine an estimated value of the likely cost of dilapidations for the entirety of its retail
estate. The effect of the time value of money is not material and therefore the provisions are not
discounted.
Significant Accounting Policies
Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Such cost includes costs directly attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended.
Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets, at rates calculated to write off the cost, less estimated
residual value, of each asset on a systematic basis over its expected useful life as follows:
Leasehold land and buildings - over the shorter of the lease term and 20 years
Plant and machinery, and fixtures and fittings - 10 to 33.3% straight-line
Motor vehicles - 25% straight line
The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that the Company obtains the right to consideration in exchange for its
performance. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts,
rebates, VAT and other sales taxes or duty. The following criteria must also be met before revenue is
recognised:
Sale ofgoods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods have passed to the buyer, usually on dispatch of the goods, the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity and
the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
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for the period ended 2 February 2020

1.

Accounting policies (continued)
Investments

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all costs incurred in bringing
each product to its present location and condition, as follows:
Raw materials, consumables and goods for resale - purchase cost on a first-in, first-out basis
Work in progress and finished goods - cost of direct materials and labour plus attributable overheads
based on a normal level of activity
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred to
completion and disposal.
Research and development

Research and development expenditure is written off as incurred, except that development expenditure
incurred on an individual project is capitalised as an intangible asset when the company can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the asset and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during development.
Provisions for liabilities

A provision is recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions for the expected costs of maintenance under guarantees are charged against profits when a legal
or constructive obligation arises. The effect of the time value of money is not material and therefore the
provisions are not discounted.
Taxation

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end
date.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences which are differences between taxable
profits and total comprehensive income that arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax
assessments in periods different from those in which they are recognised in the financial statements,
except that:
•
•

•

provision is made for deferred tax that would arise on remittance of the retained earnings of
overseas subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures only to the extent that, at the year-end date,
dividends have been accrued as receivable;
where there are differences between amounts that can be deducted for tax for assets (other than
goodwill) and liabilities compared with the amounts that are recognised for those assets and
liabilities in a business combination a deferred tax liability/(asset) shall be recognised. The
amount attributed to goodwill is adjusted by the amount of the deferred tax recognised; and
unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the
directors consider that it probable that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax
liabilities or other future taxable profits.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods
in which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
year-end date.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the period ended 2 February 2020
1.

Accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the entity's functional currency by applying the
spot exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the year-end date. All differences are
taken to the income statement.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and in hand and
short term deposits with an original maturity date of three months or less. For the purpose of the
consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
Short-term debtors and creditors

Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate and receivable or payable within one year are recorded at
transaction price. Any losses arising from impairment are recognised in the income statement in other
operating expenses.
Leasing and hire purchase commitments

Assets held under finance leases, which are leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset have passed to the Company, and hire purchase contracts are capitalised in the
statement of financial position and are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the asset's useful
lives. A corresponding liability is recognised for the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the
present value of the minimum lease payments in the statement of financial position. Lease payments are
apportioned between the reduction of the lease liability and finance charges in the income statement so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged in the income statement on a straight line basis over
the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised over the lease term on a straight line basis.
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All interest-bearing loans and borrowings which are basic financial instruments are initially recognised at
the present value of cash payable to the bank (including interest). After initial recognition they are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less impairment. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in finance revenue in the income statement.
Pensions

The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme.
Classification of shares as debt or equity

An equity instrument is a contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all its liabilities. Accordingly, a financial instrument is treated as equity if:
(i) there is no contractual obligation to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange financial assets
or liabilities on terms that may be unfavourable; and
(ii) the instrument is a non-derivative that contains no contractual obligations to deliver a variable number
of shares or is a derivative that will be settled only by the Company exchanging a fixed amount of cash or
other assets for a fixed number of the Company's own equity instruments.
When shares are issued, any component that creates a financial liability of the company is presented as a
liability in the statement of financial position; measured initially at fair value net of transaction costs and
thereafter at amortised cost until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The corresponding dividends
relating to the liability component are charged as interest expense in the income statement. The initial fair
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1.

Accounting policies (continued)
value of the liability component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent liability without a
conversion feature.
The remainder of the proceeds on issue is allocated to the equity component and included in shareholders'
equity, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the equity component is not re-measured in
subsequent years.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the shares based on the
allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the instruments are first recognised.
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2.

Turnover
Turnover represents the amounts derived from the provision of goods which fall within the Company's
ordinary activities, stated net of value added tax.
The Company operates in one principal area of activity, that of the sale of footwear and accessories.
The Company operates within two geographical markets, the United Kingdom and the Rest of the world.
Turnover represents amounts invoiced to third parties and is attributable to one continuing activity: the
sale of footwear and accessories.
An analysis of turnover by geographical market is given below:

United Kingdom
Rest of World

53 weeks
ended 2
February
2020
£000

52 weeks
ended 27
January
2019
£000

74,322
11,206
85,528

78,381
14,656
93,037

53 weeks
ended 2
February
2020
£000

52 weeks
ended 27
January
2019
£000

79,934
5,594
85,528

87,427
5,610
93 037

An analysis of turnover by channel is given below:

Direct to consumer
Wholesale

24
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3.

Operating (loss)/profit
This is stated after charging:
53 weeks
ended 2
February
2020
£000

Restated
52 weeks
ended 27
January
2019
£000

2,726
54
2,780

3,023
67
3,090

6,684

7,380

Auditors' remuneration:
Audit of the company's financial statements
Total audit

86
86

74
74

Fees payable to the company's auditor and its associates for other services
- tax
- other
Total non-audit services

16
6
22

18
6
24

Depreciation:
- of owned tangible fixed assets
- of tangible fixed assets held under hire purchase
Total depreciation charge
Operating lease rentals
- land and buildings
- plant and machinery
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4.

Staff costs
a) Staff costs

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

53 weeks
ended2
February
2020
£000

52 weeks
ended27
January
2019
£000

17,798
1,231
644
19,673

19,002
1,302
462
20,766

The average monthly number ofemployees, including directors, during the period was made up as follows
(previously the financial statements for the period ended 27 January 2019 reported full time equivalent
employees rather than headcount):

Production and management
Sales and distribution

No.

No.

302
836
1 138

280
595
875

The company contributed into a number ofpersonal and group defined contribution schemes for the
benefit ofemployees. The total contributions paid in the period amounted to £644,000 (52 weeks ended 27
January 2019- £462,000). At 2 February 2020, there were unpaid contributions of£58,000 (52 weeks
ended 27 January 2019 - £38,000).
b) Directors' remuneration

Aggregate remuneration in respect ofqualifying services
Value ofcompany pension contributions to defined contribution schemes

53 weeks
ended2
February
2020
£000

52 weeks
ended27
January
2019
£000

926
49

481

29

Included in the above are amounts relating to payments in lieu ofnotice of£102,000 (2019: £nil) and for
the loss ofoffice £59,900 (2019: £nil).
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4.

Staff costs (continued)
Remuneration of the highest paid director:
Period ended Period ended
27 January
2 February
2019
2020
£000
£000
Aggregate remuneration
Value of company pension contributions to defined contribution schemes

297
23

212
20

Included in the above are amounts relating to payments in lieu of notice of £nil (2019: £nil).
During the period 4 (2019: 2) directors accrued benefits under personal pension schemes.

5.

Interest payable and similar charges

Hire purchase and finance lease charges
Other interest payable

53 weeks
ended 2
Februa,y
2020
£000

52 weeks
ended 27
January
2019
£000

6
12
18

14
18

4

27

176

Company Registration Number: 641365

Beaconsfield Footwear Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the period ended 2 February 2020

6.

Tax
(a)

Tax on (loss)/profit on ordinary activities

The tax (credit)/charge is made up as follows:
53 weeks
ended 2
February
2020
£000

52 weeks
ended 27
January
2019
£000

(878)
737

Current tax:

UK corporation tax at 19% (20 I9 - 19. 00%)
Tax overprovided in previous periods
Total current tax
Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of timing differences
Adjustment in respect of previous periods
Effect of changes in tax rates
Deferred tax (note 6(d))

(141)

(379)
(1)
40
(340)

Tax on (loss)/profit on ordinary activities (note 6(b))

(141)

(340)
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6.

Tax (continued)
(b)
Factors affecting the total tax (credit)/charge
The tax assessed for the period differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19 % (2019 19.00%). The differences are reconciled below:

(Loss)/Profit on ordinary activities before tax

(Loss)/Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation
tax in the UK of 19% (2019- 19.00%)
Fixed asset differences
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Transfer pricing adjustments
Income not taxable
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous period
Adjust closing deferred tax to average rate of 19%
Adjust opening deferred tax to average rate of 19%
Changes in tax laws and rates
Group tax relief
Impairment of amounts owed by group undertakings
Total tax expense (note 6(a))
(c)

53 weeks
ended 2
February
2020
£000

52 weeks
ended 27
January
2019
£000

(7,619)

(32,871)

53 weeks
ended 2
February
2020
£000

52 weeks
ended 27
January
2019
£000

( 1,447)
8
287
261

(6,245)

737
146
(43)

(1)

(90)
(141)

69
176

40
(320)
5,941
(340)

Factors that may affect future tax charges

At Budget 2020, the government announced that the Corporation Tax main rate for the years starting 1
April 2020 and 2021 would remain at 19%.
Deferred tax as at 2 February 2020 has been calculated at 19% (20 I 9: 19% ), being the enacted rate at
which the deferred tax is expected to reverse.
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6.

Tax (continued)
(d)
Deferred tax
The deferred tax included in the statement of financial position as follows:
53 weeks
52 weeks
ended 2
February
ended 27
2020 January 2019
£000
£000
1,244

Included in debtors (note 10)

1,103

The balance of the deferred taxation account consists of the tax effect of timing differences in respect of:
Decelerated capital allowances
Other timing differences

1,143
101
1,244

1,043
60
1,103
£000

At 27 January 2019

Deferred tax charge to income statement for the period
At 2 February 2020

1,103
141
1,244
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7. Tangible fixed assets

Fixtures and
fittings

Motor
vehicles

Plant and
machinery

Cost or valuation:
At 27 January 2019 Restated
Additions
Disposals
At 2 February 2020

28,907
5,283
{7,385}
26,805

270
{39}
231

9,643
823
{935}
9 531

38,820
6,106
{8,359}
36 567

Depreciation:
At 27 January 2019 Restated
Charge for the period
Disposals
At 2 February 2020

20,329
2,138
{1,257}
21 210

125
54
{20}
159

7,917
588
{863}
7 642

28,371
2,780
{2,140}
29 011

Carrying amount
At 2 February 2020
At 27 January 2019 Restated

5,595
8,578

72
145

1,889
1,726

7,556
10,449

£000

£000

£000

Total

£000

Included in the amounts for motor vehicles above are the following amounts relating to leased assets and
assets acquired under hire purchase contracts:
Total

£000

Cost or valuation:
At 27 January 2019
Additions
Disposals
At 2 February 2020

{39}
231

Depreciation:
At 27 January 2019
Charge for the period
Disposals
At 2 February 2020

125
54
{20}
159

Carrying amount
At 2 February 2020
At 27 January 2019

72
145

270

31
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8.

Investments

Subsidiary
undertakings
£000

Company
At 2 Febru ary 2020 and 27 January 2019
Principal fixed asset investments:

Name

Comfort Concept Limited

Class ofshare
Ordinary

Proportion
held
100%

Country of
incorporation
UK

Nature of
business
Dormant

The registered office address of the investment is 2 Peel Road, West Pimbo, Skelmersdale, Lancashire,
WN8 9PT.
The company's voting rights in respect of the investments are held in the same proportion as the
company's share of the ordinary share capital of each company.

9.

Stocks

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

2 February
2020
£000

27 January
2019
£000

1,330
131
9,562
11,023

1,648
112
10,549
12,309

The difference between purchase price or production cost of stocks and their replacement cost is not
material.
Finished goods includes a provision for obsolete stock of£151,000 (20 I 9 - £211,000).
Stocks recognised as an expense in the period were £32,068,000 (2019: £36,100,000).
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10. Debtors

Trade debtors
Amounts owed by group undertakings
Other debtors
Prepayments
Corporation tax
Deferred tax (note 6(d))

2 February
2020
£000

27 January

1,398

1,317

7
2,164
205
l 244
5,018

266
2,002
140
l 103
4,828

2019
£000

Amounts owed by group undertakings includes an impairment of £32,753,000 (2019 - £31,270,000), this
represents a write down of the asset to its recoverable amount.

11. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Obligations under hire purchase contracts (note 13)
Trade creditors
Amounts owed to group undertakings
Corporation tax
Other taxes and social security costs
Other creditors
Accruals

2 February
2020
£000

27 January

24
5,785
17,778

58
6,388
14,278

935
493
4 434
29,449

2,710
368
3 668
27,470

2019
£000

Whilst the directors have received confirmation from the directors of the relevant group company the
intercompany creditor will not be called for repayment within 1 year, there are no formal repayment terms
and as such, it has been classified as due within one year.

12. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Obligations under hire purchase contracts

2 February
2020
£000

27 January
2019
£000

7
7

32
32
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13. Obligations under leases and hire purchase contracts
The company uses finance leases and hire purchase contracts to acquire motor vehicles. These leases have
terms ofrenewal but no purchase options and escalation clauses. Renewals are at the option ofthe lessee.
Future minimum lease payments due under finance leases and hire purchase contracts:

Amounts payable:
Within one year
In two to five years
Less: finance charges allocated to future periods

2 February
2020
£000

27 January
2019
£000

24
8
32

58
35
93
(3}
90

{I}
31

Hire purchase contracts are secured on the assets concerned.
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases, exclusively relating to Property,
are as follows:

Within one year
In one to five years
Over five years

2 February
2020
£000

27 January
2019
£000

5,965
10,159
516
16,640

6,528
13,362
1 295
21 185

Expiry date is taken to be the earlier of the lease expiry date and the date ofbreak clause (ifapplicable)
contained within the lease. The average length of lease remaining at the 2 February 2020 was 3.3 years.
The payments relating to operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period that they occur.

34

183

Beaconsfield Footwear Limited

Company Registration Number: 641365

Notes to the financial statements
for the period ended 2 February 2020

14. Provisions for liabilities
Provision for
dilapidations
on leases
£000
At 27 January 2019
Utilised during the year
Arising during the year
At 2 February 2020

Total
£000

2,175
(84)

2,175

2,091

2,091

(84)

A provision is recognised for the obligation under lease for dilapidations arising on the exiting of retail
stores.

15. Financial instruments
2 February
2020
£

Financial assets that are debt instruments
measured at amortised cost
Trade debtors
Amounts owed by group undertakings

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Obligations under hire purchase contracts (Note 13)
Trade creditors
Amounts owed to group undertakings

16. Share capital
Authorised, allotted, called up andfully paid
Ordinary shares of£ l each

27 January
2019

000

£000

1,398

l,317

31
5,785
17,778

90
6,388
14,278

No.

2 February
2020
£000

No.

27 January
2019
£000

42,000

42

42,000

42
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17. Reserves

Profit and loss account

2 February
2020
£000

27 January
2019
£000

598
598

8 076
8,076

The profit and loss reserve comprises cumulative profits and losses, net of distributions to owners.
18. Other arrangements
The Company enters into operating lease arrangements for the hire of buildings as these arrangements are
a cost efficient way of obtaining the short-term benefits of these assets. The Company lease rental expense
for the year is disclosed in Note 3 and the total future company commitments under these arrangements
are disclosed in Note 13. There are no other material arrangements that are not disclosed within the
financial statements of the company.
The senior bank debt totalling £20,100,000, together with the Revolving Credit Facility of £2,500,000,
held within Galaxy Bidco Limited, is secured over all the assets of the Galaxy Topco Limited Group of
companies. The loan notes, held within Galaxy Topco Limited and Galaxy Midco Limited, of
£180,800,000 are subordinated to the bank debt.

19. Contingent liabilities
There are no contingent liabilities as at the year-end date.

20. Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption conferred under FRS102 in respect of disclosure of
transactions with other wholly owned members of the Galaxy Topco Limited Group.
During the period, the company paid Electra Private Equity pie £150,000 (27 January 2019: £150,000) for
monitoring and advisory services and were paid by Electra Private Equity pie £19,000 (27 January 2019:
£nil) for Hotter Shoes gift cards. £26,000 (27 January 2019: £nil) was owed to Electra Private Equity pie
at 2 February 2020.

21. Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party
At 2 February 2020, the company was a subsidiary of Hotter Limited.
The entire issued share capital of the company is indirectly owned by Galaxy Topco Limited; a company
incorporated in Great Britain and registered in England and Wales.
The ultimate parent undertaking is Galaxy Topco Limited; a company incorporated in Great Britain and
registered in England and Wales. 99.999% of the issued share capital of the company is held by Electra
Private Equity pie, the controlling party.
The smallest and largest group in which the results of the company are consolidated is Galaxy Topco
Limited. The group financial statements of Galaxy Topco Limited can be obtained from Companies
House, Crown Way, Cardiff, CF14 3UZ.
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22. Events after the reporting period
Coronavirus
Since the balance sheet date, the global coronavirus pandemic has had a significant and material impact on
the business.
Whilst residual risk relating to Coronavirus remains, the actions taken by the Directors since the balance
sheet date have reduced this risk significantly. In particular
• The business's exposure to retail has been reduced from a portfolio of 82 stores at the end of
January 2020 to a portfolio of l 7 high performing stores and six garden centre concessions.
• The size of the company's workforce has reduced from l ,038 employees immediately prior to the
first lockdown in March 2020 to 469, including a reduction in factory, distribution centre and
head office workers, as well as the reduction in the retail estate, right-sizing the business for the
future growth.
• The reduction in exposure to retail and in overheads has in total removed £ l 6 million from the
company's fixed cost base.
• The company has put in place strict Coronavirus health and safety measures, including remote
working wherever possible, and social distancing and the wearing of appropriate personal
protective equipment ("PPE") where it is necessary for colleagues to physically attend work. The
company keeps these health and safety measures under constant review through a Coronavirus
Committee, which is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer and meets weekly.
The Group's supply chain has proven to be robust during the pandemic. During the summer of 2020,
purchases were put on hold as the Group had enough stock on hand to meet consumer demand. In August
2020, the supply chain was successfully reactivated and since this time has continued to perform strongly.
Company Voluntary Arrangement ("CVA")
As a direct result of the Coronavirus pandemic and the consequent downturn in sales which primarily
affected the retail business, the Directors undertook a Company Voluntary Arrangement through which
the Company sought to reach agreement with landlords for the early exit from 5 l retail leases.
This CVA passed with a vote of 99.5% in favour on 29 July 2020 and the period during which this
outcome could be challenged ended on 25 August 2020. Landlords received a dividend of 27.8 pence in
the pound. Other suppliers received payment in full.
The CVA was funded through loan notes in Galaxy Midco Limited of £2.0m subscribed by Electra Private
Equity PLC with the remaining costs funded from operating cash flows.
Whilst the directors deeply regret the impact of this process on the employees who lost their jobs as a
result, the CVA has put the Galaxy Topco Group in a much stronger position for the future, with 77% of
revenues now coming from online, mail order and contact centre sales. The Company's fixed cost base has
reduced by approximately £16million annually.
Business interruption insurance claim
The Company carries insurance with Royal Sun Alliance ("RSA") for business interruption. Following
the legal case between the Financial Conduct Authority and various insurance underwriters, the
Company's insurer has confirmed that the policy in place does provide cover for the business interruption
losses caused by the pandemic. On 27 November 2020, the Galaxy Topco Group submitted an initial
estimate of these losses to RSA. Work to finalise the insurance claim and agree the quantum of the
payment due from RSA was continuing on the date that the financial statements were signed, with the first
£2.5million having been received from the insurers during December 2020.
Financing
Since the year end, the Galaxy Topco Group completed a refinancing process. Debt repayments due under
the existing bank facilities agreement were rescheduled. £I million of bank debt will be repaid each half
year (in January and June) until June 2022, with the final balance due for repayment in January 2023.
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23. Prior period adjustment
In the prior year financial statements, a tangible fixed asset for dilapidation costs relating to store leases
had not been depreciated in line with the remaining length of the leases. Therefore, £187,407 of
depreciation costs were missing from the Company income statement and a further £934,970 of
depreciation costs were missing from the opening position of the profit and loss account on the Company
statement of changes in equity. Subsequently the net book value of tangible fixed assets in the Company
statement of financial position was overstated by £1,122,377.
As such, a prior year adjustment has been made to restate the comparative amounts presented in these
financial statements.
Changes to the Company statement of financial position

Fixed assets
Tangible Assets
Capital and reserves
Profit and loss account

At 27 Janua,y 2019
As
previously
reported Adjustment

As restated

£000

£000

£000

11,571

(1,122)

10,449

9,198

(1,122)

8,076

Period ended 27 January
2019

Changes to the Company income statement

As
previously
reported Adjustment

Administrative expenses
Operating profit/(loss)
Loss for the financial period

Changes to the Company statement of changes in equity

£000

(54,346)

(187)

(5 4,533)

(1,600)

(187)

(1,787)

(32,531)

(187)

(32,718)

£000

Period ended 27 January
2019
As
previously
reported

Adjustment

As restated

41,729

(935)

40,794

£000

At 28 January 2018
Profit and loss account

As restated

£000

£000

£000

38
187

Black&Callow — c118820

